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Save Baby Cyrus - Folow
QS Public

Today, our sweet Baby Cyrus tums 3 years oid! This past year of his life has been absolutety
inaedible and beauliful, and | feel so honored to be with him to witness every moment. From his
1st birthday to his 2nd birthday, | had a lot of prayer requests—a lot of difficult things that we
needed the Lord to walk us through to help heal Cyrus. By the grace and mercy of God, all of those
prayers have been answered. How God is so gracious to us, | realty don't know. A OWe have some
major health updates, but his health joumey has been long and wild enough that a whole book
could be written about it. Since we don't have that kind of time, I'll give you a synopsis! As most of
you know, after we got him home from CPS care, he was in significantly worse condition than when
they took him, and we moved to Florida with some sefious work cut out for us. We found some of
the most amazing holistic doctors and practitioners that worked with him, and we saw immense
progress over the first year. The first holistic practitioner and pediatrician helped us to treat the C.
Diff infection he had from the hospital and having that cleared made a huge difference in his
vomiting episodes. We set out on a gut healing journey and saw steady progress. Then, we started
seeing a chiropractor for adjustments a few times a week, and within less than a month, he went
aver 2 weeks without a vomiting episode, which was huge for him! We felt like he got his life back,
and we could see his development inrease anonenhaIly He kept getting better and better and
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““learned ap this joumey. Lots af tears and sieepless nights can

with.Cyris” helth issues, bift o matter haw difficul{ Tt was, W 2
hith.in our.anns and:care for him on our tems as parents, | upqnld also | btﬁ that the 3 major
things that made the biggest improvement in his healing are all things that the hospital and CPS
wouid never provide—bolistic gut healing care, chiropractic work, and parasite cleansing. If you
leave loving parents to care for their chikdren, they will go to the ends of the earth to find healing.
We are grateful to have had the opportunity to do that! From his 2nd birthday until his 3rd birthday
today, prayers have looked a little different. | really don’t have much to ask for partly because after
losing the most precious thing | had, | realized that nothing else in my world mattered, and ance we
had our sweet Cyrus back, my desires have never been the same. Through all of this, the Lord
taught me contentment and my only ask has been that it stays just like this. With my faith and my
family, there is really nothing else 1 could ask for. As difficult as some of the things we went through
have been, now that we are on the other side of i, it really makes each and every moment and
experience so much more rich and vibrant, and we experience them with much more gratitude than
we ever would have before. | consider that a gift, and for that reason, | thank God for the difficuit
times. Cyrus, my sweet first bom..By looking at you, | think | understand the kind of love that our
Heavenly Father has for all of us, and for the first time in my life, | think | understand how God sees
me, His child. Thank you for showing your dad and | a love that words can’t express but overflows
our hearts with joy. | prey you grow up to be a strong man of God, who is honest, hard working,
honorable, humble, and kind. | can't wait 10 see what God has in store for you this next year! | love
you so much! Happy birthday, Cyrus James! See less
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

THE STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST.
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual;
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiff(s),
..VS...

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendant(s).

Case No. CV01-22-6789

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND
ORDER FOR PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR
PLAINTIFFS

In Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs sought injunctive relief in additional

to any damages awarded by the jury. The Defendants were allowed to participate in the jury trial

on damages including jury selection, opening statements, cross-examination and closing

arguments, but all Defendants failed to appear. After seven days of trial on the issue of damages,

the jury awarded the Plaintiffs certain monetary relief on their claims. The equitable relief in the

form of injunctive relief was not before the jury as injunctive relief is for the Court to decide.
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Having reviewed the docket, the admitted facts in the Fourth Amended Complaint due to
the Defendants’ default in this lawsuit, and being informed by both the evidence presented in the
trial on monetary damages as well as the jury’s verdicts on the Special Verdict Form, the Court

issues its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the request for permanent injunctive relief.

Findings of Fact

These findings of fact are primarily based on the live testimony and exhibits presented at
the jury trial on damages. The exhibits are extensive and set forth the specific “statements” of the
Defendants through videos, internet postings, publications, etc. The statements speak for
themselves as to who made or published the statement. The statements and publications are too
numerous to repeat in this case, but each exhibit was testified to in Court and only the admitted
exhibits were relied on by the Court.

The testimony on the underlying events as well as care of the C.A. (the “Infant”) were
relevant at trial to provide background and context regarding the conduct of the Defendants. These
findings of fact are supported by the substantial and competent evidence provided by credible
witnesses and exhibits admitted during the trial. The Court will generally refer to the nature of
statements and the contents of the statements without citing all the exhibits to support each finding
of fact. All exhibits admitted are part of the Court record in this matter.

1. The Plaintiffs brought this action in response to the Defendants’ statements and

publications made against the named Plaintiffs, the trespass that occurred on

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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St. Luke’s’ hospitals in Meridian and Boise. The events that started the interactions
between Plaintiffs and Defendants centered on the medical care of the Infant.

Nurse Practitioner Nadia Kravchuk, the Infant’s primary care provider (PCP) saw the
ten month old Infant on or about March 1, 2022. The Infant was severely dehydrated
and the parents said the baby was vomiting. The Infant had lost approximately 4 pounds
since its six-month wellness visit. NP Kravchuk’s office was unable to provide the
necessary care and IV to rehydrate the Infant in her office. The parents were directed
to the St. Luke’s Boise Hospital emergency room where the Infant could be rehydrated.
The Emergency Room (ER) doctor on duty at St. Luke’s determined not only was the
Infant severely dehydrated, but the Infant was suffering from severe malnutrition. The
ER doctor consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalist on duty, Dr. Erickson, who agreed
the Infant should be admitted. Dr. Erickson agreed with the ER doctor’s diagnosis of
severe malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Erickson testified the condition of the Infant
was dire and without proper medical intervention, the Infant was at risk organ failure
and possible death. This was NOT a healthy baby when it arrived at the hospital on
March 1, 2022. The parents reported to Dr. Erickson that the Infant was doing well
until about 7 months of age and then reoccurring vomiting started and such vomiting
would continue for several days. See, Exhibit 1, page 12.

Dr. Erickson is Board-Certified in both General Pediatrics and Pediatrics Hospital
Medicine. She a highly trained pediatric doctor. Dr. Erickson consulted with the parents

regarding the condition of the Infant. The parents agreed to the care plan to rehydrate

! The Court will prefer to Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd. and St. Luke’s Regional
Medical Center Ltd. Collectively as “St. Luke’s.”
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and increase caloric intake for the Infant recommended by Dr. Erickson. At no time did
Dr. Erickson threaten the parents to call child support enforcement if the parents did
not agree to the treatment plan.

The parents did not want the Infant vaccinated. No medical provider vaccinated the
Infant and that preference of the parents was respected. There was testimony by Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman, the parents’ decision not to vaccinate the Infant did not in
any way impact the care plan for the Infant or the respect shown the parents.

Prior treatment medical records for the Infant’s medical care since birth were not
provided by the parents and could not be obtained by Dr. Erickson beyond NP
Kravchuk’s limited records. This led to some additional tests being run to rule out other
potential causes for the Infant’s condition. Dr. Erickson noted the Infant was failing to
thrive.

With proper medical intervention and treatment, including IVs to rehydrate, bottle
feedings as well as additional feedings through a nasogastric feeding tube (NG tube),
the Infant’s medical condition improved.

Dr. Erickson arranged for St. Luke’s staff and social worker to assist parents apply for
and receive Medicaid so there would be no out-of-pocket cost to the family for the
Infant’s care. The family had no medical bills that were not paid by Medicaid for the
Infant’s care.

Dr. Erickson also arranged for a home health nurse to come to the Infant’s home to
check on the progress of the child and to help with any further needs for the child and
family members caring for the child. Dr. Erickson explained, and the parents seemed

to understand, that continuing the additional caloric intake was critical as the feeding

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 4

815



10.

11.

12.

13.

plan being used prior to the hospitalization was insufficient to allow the Infant to grow
and thrive. Regular weight check-ins were also critical for determining if the Infant was
or was not continuing with gaining weight as he had done in the hospital. The parents
were trained on how do complete additional feedings via the NG tube. The parents were
also advised to continue breast-feeding the Infant in addition to the other necessary
feedings.

On March 4, 2022, the Infant’s medical condition had improved to where the Infant
could be cared for at home and the Infant was released to the parents with discharge
instructions and verbal commitments by the parents they would comply with the
instructions and call if they had questions or needed any further assistance.

The parents did not follow the discharge instructions for care for the Infant. Nor would
the parents allow the home health nurse to come to their home to check on the Infant
on March 5, 2022 or March 6, 2022.

Finally, on March 7, 2022, the parents took the Infant to NP Dkystra (who was not a
St. Luke’s medical provider but who St. Luke’s had connected the family with as he
would be able to assist with the NG tube and NP Kravchuk indicated she was not able
to provide that level of care for the Infant). At this appointment, the Infant’s weight had
dropped since it was released from the hospital. NP Dkystra advised the parents how
to increase caloric intake and set another appointment for March 11, 2022 to check the
Infant’s weight.

On March 11, 2022, the parents missed bringing the Infant to the scheduled

appointment.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

On March 11, 2022, NP Aaron Dkystra (not any doctor, NP or staff member of St.
Luke’s) called Department of Health and Welfare Child Protection Services (CPS)
regarding his concern about the Infant and requesting a check on the child to make sure
the weight of the Infant was not continuing to drop and thus endangering the Infant’s
life. NP Dkystra had a statutory duty to report his concerns regarding medical neglect
by the Infant’s parents.

A Department of Health and Welfare (DHW) Safety Assessor was assigned to the case.
She also made contact with NP Jungman and law enforcement who regularly assist
with investigation and welfare checks on children.

Going into a weekend, the need to have the Infant’s status checked became a greater
concern for the Infant’s well-being. The DHW Safety Assessor came to Ms. Jungman’s
office to discuss the referral regarding the Infant. NP Jungman reviewed limited
medical records. The DHW Safety Assessor could not reach the Infant’s parents. NP
Jungman said she would stay at work to see the Infant if parents would bring the Infant
in.

NP Jungman has been a nurse or nurse practitioner for over 24 years. She is highly
skilled based on her studies and work experience. She specializes her practice in
providing clinical care and evaluation of children. She has also been trained in and has
extensive experience in CPS process.

On March 12, 2022, the parents called and indicated they would take the child to St.
Luke’s Children at Risk Evaluation Services (commonly referred to by its acronym
CARES unit) for a weigh-in and wellness check at 4:00 p.m. The parents never arrived

for the appointment.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Detective Fuller of the Meridian Police Department consulted with Nurse Practitioner
Jungman at CARES about what to look for when they were able to put eyes on the
Infant to determine if the Infant was or was not doing well. Detective Fuller is
experienced at CPS investigations and is trained in the legal standard necessary to
remove a child from his or her parents’ care.

Law enforcement attempted contact with the parents to check on the Infant at the home
address provided. Defendant Rodriguez answered the door and would not let law
enforcement check on the child.

Later that evening, law enforcement was able to track parents down in a vehicle and
initiated a traffic stop to investigate the CPS referral and check on the Infant’s welfare.
Defendants had communicated with their followers and had a large number of persons
arrive at the gas station where the traffic stop occurred.

With the Infant being held by its mother, Detective Fuller did a welfare check on the
child. The NG tube was no longer in place. The Infant presented with symptoms and
observations indicating it was not doing well and was in imminent danger. The Infant
and his mother were taken to the ambulance.

In the ambulance, the Infant was removed from the mother due to Detective Fuller’s
determination the Infant was in imminent danger. Detective Fuller completed the
paperwork to take the Infant into the custody of DHW and to get the Infant transported
to the nearest ER.

The Emergency Medical Technicians at the scene determined the Infant was “medically

stable to transport.” “Medically stable to transport™ status is not the same as a patient
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26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

being medically stable and healthy and in no need of further medical care. It is simply
a determination it is safe to transport the patient in the ambulance to the hospital.

The Infant was transported to the closest hospital, St. Luke’s Meridian hospital, by
ambulance.

At the ER, Dr. Rachel Thomas examined the Infant. She is a Board-Certified
Emergency Room doctor who also has extensive medical experience and training
involving children, including treatment of malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Thomas
also determined the Infant was in imminent danger/harm and needed a higher level of
care that could be provided at the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital at the main St. Luke’s
hospital in Boise.

Even after a bottle feeding in the ER in which the Infant gulped down 6 ounces of
formula, Dr. Thomas noted the Infant’s weight was less than the weight when the Infant
Jeft the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital on March 4, 2022. Dr. Thomas diagnosed the
Infant with severe malnutrition and dehydration that could lead to death if not
immediately addressed.

Dr. Thomas testified that the defamatory statements and postings about her by the
Defendants have led to emotional stress such that she is taking a break from medicine
and leaving the community with her family for an extended period of time. It is her
hope she will able to return and actively continue her medical career.

Defendant Bundy arrived at St. Luke’s Meridian and with others blocked the
ambulance bay from other ambulances being able to come to the hospital. Bundy was
demanding release of the Infant even though he was not a family member or guardian

of the Infant.
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31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

The protesters grew in number. The Meridian Police were called. The access doors to
the ambulance bay were locked. Bundy was eventually trespassed from the private
property of St. Luke’s and was arrested along with another person engaged in the
protests in the ambulance bay.

With active protesting occurring at the ER, Dr. Thomas consulted with hospital security
and the Meridian Police Department and had the Infant safely transported to the
Children’s Hospital after determining the Infant was medically stable to be transported.
Dr. Thomas called Dr. Erickson and asked to have the Infant admitted. Dr. Erickson
agreed to the admission and immediately went to the hospital to assist with the
admission of the Infant to St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital and to begin further treatment.
Even though the Infant was in the custody of the DHW, St. Luke’s medical
professionals informed the parents of the care plan and the parents consented to all
treatment provided by Dr. Erickson as well as by the other Pediatric Hospitalists caring
for the Infant.

Dr. Erickson confirmed the Infant had in fact lost significant weight? since its release
on March 5, 2022. Another NG tube was placed, and feedings and hydration began on
the Infant.

Other Pediatric Hospitalists also provided care for the Infant when Dr. Erickson was

not on duty.

2 It is important to note that while the amounts of weight loss or gain in this case may not
“sound” significant, for the age and size of the Infant in this case and where the Infant was
measured at being on the growth chart (in lower than 0.5% of all infants this age), the weight loss
was significant and could lead to organ failure and death.
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37.

38.

39.

40.

41

NP Jungman also consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalists and participated in the phone
and in-person communications with the parents during the time the Infant was at the
Children’s Hospital. She also stayed involved in the care when the Infant was released
to DHW’s caregiver.

The parents were regularly updated by St. Luke’s employees about the Infant’s status
and were allowed to visit and hold the Infant for approximately two hours at the hospital
on or about March 13, 2022. Other visits and communications also occurred while the
Infant was at the Children’s Hospital.

While the Infant was being treated at the Children’s Hospital, the Defendants Bundy
and Rodriguez, in conjunction with multiple communications sent out by the other
Defendants, organized protestors at St. Luke’s Boise Hospital. The protests involved
hundreds of people including people armed with weapons. Defendant Rodriguez made
statements on March 14, 2022 that the Infant was being abused and mistreated by St.
Luke’s.

On March 12, 2022, the Defendants and followers of the Defendants were instructed
by Bundy, Rodriguez and the websites or communications from People’s Rights
Network (PRN) and Freedom Man Press LLC to disrupt the operations of the St. Luke’s

by jamming the phone lines complaining and demanding the release of the Infant.

. Bundy and Rodriguez would not leave the private property of St. Luke’s when asked.

Boise Police and Idaho State Troopers were brought in to maintain the security of the

hospital.
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42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

Eventually, the threat of risk of harm to patients, patients’ families, employees and a
breach of the hospital became too great and the hospital was forced into lockdown and
to close the hospital to new patients.

Armed protesters and followers of the Defendants attempted to enter the hospital even
after it was locked down.

After it was discovered that the Infant had been removed from the hospital, the
protesters moved their demonstrations to DHW offices.

The Infant was doing better and was discharged from St. Luke’s on March 15, 2022 to
DHW custody. The parents were allowed more and more time with the Infant by DHW
as part of the safety/reunification plan.

Through intensive medical efforts, the Infant began gaining weight and his risk of
imminent harm was eliminated. The Infant required ongoing monitoring to make sure
it was continuing to gain weight and thrive. Additional calories were being given via
the NG tube by the Infant’s caregivers.

DHW stayed in regular communication with CARES and the parents regarding care of
the Infant. NP Jungman along with the Medical Director of CARES evaluated the
Infant 3-4 times and the Infant was gaining weight.

On March 18, 2022, the parents called DHW as the feeding tube had inadvertently
come out while the parents had care of the Infant as part of DHW’s safety/reunification
plan. The parents did not want to go to hospital or have the Infant seen at their home.
The parents requested NP Jungman reinstall the NG tube. DHW arranged a place and

time to meet the parents away from protesters who were at the main DHW office. NP
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49.

50.

51.

Jungman reinstalled the NG tube in the Infant, following applicable standards of care
for such a procedure.

NP Jungman and the CARES Medical Director evaluated the Infant again on March 23,
2022 with the parents present. The follow-up weight check showed the Infant was
continuing to progress. The Infant was more interactive than at previous visits. Home
health and PCP care was discussed again with parents.

Dr. Michael Whelan, a Board-Certified Pediatrician who works at St. Alphonsus,
testified he concurred in the diagnosis and all of the care provided to the Infant. He
confirmed based on the medical records that the Infant was in imminent danger based
on its dehydration and malnutrition and the Infant was failing to thrive. He further
opined that all care provided met the standard of care and there was no medical
malpractice or misdiagnoses by any medical practitioner and specifically not by either
of the named plaintiffs, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman. He opined the NG tube was
necessary and appropriate both times at the hospital. He opined the discharge
instructions from St. Luke’s were appropriate. He opined the re-installation of the NG
tube by NP Jungman was within the standard of care and did not cause any infection
or disease to the Infant as the placement of the tube was into a non-sterilized location
of the body, the stomach. He opined the re-installation of the HG tube did not cause an
infection in the Infant.

Dr. Whelan also opined the parents of the Infant were “medically neglectful” fof not
following through on discharge instructions and with follow up visits for weight checks

to make sure feedings were providing the Infant with sufficient caloric intake. Dr.
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52.

53.

54.

55.

Whelan opined he believed the parents knew the Infant had lost weight after first time
Infant was released from hospital on March 4, 2022.

Dr. Whelan opined that, based on all the outside pressure by Defendants, St. Luke’s,
Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman performed very well and there was no evidence that the
Infant was not improving while in the care of St. Luke’s.

Based on the testimony of Kyle Bringhurst, the Ada County Deputy Prosecutor who
handled the Infant’s case and has 8-9 years of experience involving CPS cases, the CPS
proceedings and requisite findings for placement into DHW custody occurred as
required by statute. A shelter hearing was held on March 15, 2022 and a mandatory
adjudicative hearing was set. A Notice of Dismissal by the State was filed on or about
May 4, 2022, so the adjudicatory hearing set for May was vacated. The Infant was
returned to the custody of the parents with a safety plan.

David Jeppesen, Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, also testified the
CPS process is defined by statute and was followed in this case. The courts, not the
DHW, decide if a child is allowed to return to his or her parents. The goal is to reunite
children with their parents and this goal in Idaho is achieved in about 65% of the CPS
cases (which is much higher than the national average).

Director Jeppesen also testified the DHW does not get “extra money” for placing a
child in the care of DHW per the CPS statute. The legislature sets the budget for the
DHW and there is no increase in monies to the DHW for children taken into temporary
custody under the CPS. Director Jeppesen also testified that allegations of child
trafficking or kidnapping are untrue. While there are some adoptions of children whose

parents are not fit to raise them, this is in accordance with Idaho’s statutes and court
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56.

57.

58.

approval is required for all such adoptions. Finally, such adoptions do not happen
frequently and there is no preference for persons of a particular sexual orientation as
alleged by Defendants.

Immediately after the CPS referral was made and the Infant was removed from the
parents, the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, through their own statements, video
postings, communications with their followers and their internet postings on the
websites of the other Defendants: Peoples Rights Network (PRN), Freedom Man Press,
LLC and Ammon Bundy for Governor -- which Bundy and/or Rodriguez controlled--
began doxxing® and intimidating the Plaintiffs, other medical providers as well as
anyone involved in the CPS matter (including but not limited to law enforcement, the
prosecuting attorney, the judge handling the confidential CPS court proceedings, and
the Safety Assessor for DHW). .

Defendants’ statements were intended to damage the reputations of the Plaintiffs;
invade the privacy of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman; to shut down St. Luke’s
Hospital; and to threaten harm to those involved in the CPS case involving the Infant.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez are actively involved in and are spokepersons for
PRN. Defendant Rodriguez controls and authors many of the statements posted on
Defendant Freedom Man Press, LLC’s website, which published Bundy and
Rodriguez’s defamatory statements on the internet and on other extremist media
outlets. Bundy and Rodriguez hold themselves out to be anti-government activists

motivated by certain religious beliefs. Bundy encourages militia-style training for his

3 Doxxing includes publicly identifying or publishing private information about a person as a
form of punishment or revenge.
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60.

61.

followers. He urges his followers to take action outside the law to protect their rights.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man Press, LLC are willing to
encourage others to join them in using violence to reach their objectives and to harass
public employees such as law enforcement, DHW employees, CPS prosecutors, and
judges.

Bundy and Rodriguez used the tactic of “public shaming” through false and defamatory
narratives to intimidate and defame the Plaintiffs. This included but was not limited to
accusing the Plaintiffs to be involved in kidnapping, child trafficking, child abduction,
abusing children, and stealing children for money and pedophilia. This intimidation
also included releasing private information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman which put these Plaintiffs and their families at risk of harm as testified to at
trial.

PRN was a supporter of Ammon Bundy for Governor, and the events in this case were
the topic of Bundy at political gatherings, and defamatory statements about Plaintiffs
were made by Bundy at his political events and made for the indirect purpose of raising
campaign contributions.

Spencer Forby, an expert on extremist organizations as well as a highly trained law
enforcement officer and instructor on de-escalating situations, crowd control and
SWAT techniques, opined that Defendants Bundy, Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man
Press, LLC, used their defamatory statements and disinformation rhetoric to trigger
their followers to a call for action based on false premises, which then led to Defendants
Bundy and Rodriguez creating conspiracy theories of heinous criminal allegations by

Plaintiffs without any factual basis. In order to maximize the involvement of the
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63.

64.

Defendants’ followers, there was a strategic coordination of the false and defamatory
messages being repeated over websites controlled by Defendants and shared with other
extremist media outlets.

Defendants’ followers then quickly joined the protest at the hospital and the efforts
outside Idaho to disrupt the business of St. Luke’s by flooding the phone lines. The
false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez were then used by followers
and the Defendants to harass and intimidate the Plaintiffs via verbal, in-person and
online threats.

Bundy directed his followers to be ready to “fight it out on the street.” Bundy and
Rodriguez created a false and defamatory conspiracy theory against the Plaintiffs and
repeated it over and over again in an effort to have St. Luke’s put out of business and
the medical providers to lose their jobs. The Plaintiffs testified they believed the
statements presented real threats of violence to them personally as well as their
families. Plaintiffs testified as to the specific steps they took as a result of the
intimidation and defamatory statements to protect themselves and their family
members. Plaintiffs also testified to having to daily track the social media of all the
Defendants to weigh and prepare for threatened harm.

According to Jessica Flynn, an expert on reputational harm, and Beth Toal, St. Luke’s
Vice President for Communications, Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s tactics are deliberate
and intentional. Their marketing techniques and use of social media have the effect of
disseminating knowingly defamatory information and disinformation to radicalize their
followers and at the same time get media coverage of their actions and raise monies for

their organizations based on their defamatory statements. The Defendants wanted their

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 16

827



65.

66.

67.

68.

messages to go viral as well as deep and wide, and to have lasting effects. The
Defendants wanted their social media attack and protests to prevent St. Luke’s from
providing services to others. The Defendants also created a clear connection in their
social media for contributions to support their conduct. The media recognition gained
by the Defendants through their disinformation and defamatory statements is intended
to raise their individual profiles as well as their organizations’ profiles.

The extremist and marketing experts testified the Defendants also used the Infant being
taken into CPS custody to increase their own visibility on the internet and in the
community as well as to raise money for themselves through the organizations they
controlled. This conduct continues to the present and it is not expected to stop asitisa
source of fundraising for Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s organizations.

Defendants Bundy and Rodriquez organized and promoted the protests at St. Luke’s.
These protests involved armed individuals, which is consistent with Bundy’s
involvement in prior protests and his statements/trainings of his followers about the use
of force. The experts testified that the militia training promoted and offered by PRN
creates a threat and possible risk of physical harm.

On the advice of law enforcement, who indicated they could not restrain the number of
protesters (estimated to be 400 persons), St. Luke’s was forced to lock down the entire
downtown campus and to redirect patients to other facilities.

The lockdown also prevented families from entering the hospital to see their loved
ones, prevented third parties from seeking care or attending a scheduled appointment

at the Boise campus, and prevented employees from coming or leaving their shifts.
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70.

71.

72.

73.

St. Luke’s Chief Financial Officer as well as Dennis Reinstien, CPA, testified that
economically St. Luke’s lost significant revenue from cancelled treatment or
appointments. St. Luke’s also incurred additional security costs during the protests and
had to increase the number of individuals involved in security at all of its facilities to
be prepared for future protests organized by the Defendants.
The Defendants knew or reasonably should have known the statements they were
making were false and defamatory. Defendant Rodriguez is the grandfather of the
Infant and the medical records provided to his daughter (mother of the Infant) easily
could have been reviewed by him. Instead, he made false and defamatory statements
regarding the health of the Infant, the actual medical care diagnoses and the care
provided. |
Rodriguez also claimed without any legal statutory support that the actions of the CPS
were unlawful and was involved with a marketing plan for donations for the Infant and
its family, as well as to monetize his and Bundy’s organizations.
No evidence was presented that any of the Defendants have medical training,
knowledge or education to support their false and defamatory statements regarding the
Infant’s health status and the need for medical care.
The intentional, materially false and malicious defamatory statements by the
Defendants include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by CPS.

b. St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

c. The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or St.

Luke’s.
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St. Luke’s, St. Luke’s management, law enforcement, DHW, the courts, and
the medical practitioners are all involved in a conspiracy to engage in
criminal child trafficking, kidnapping children and stealing children to
make money.

The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

DHW makes more money for every child it takes into CPS custody and that
is why the DHW kidnaps and traffics children and only allows certain
people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt children.

St. Luke’s and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently harmed
or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or misdiagnosed
the Infant.

St. Luke’s reported the parents to CPS.

Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with CPS if the parents did not agree
to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the hospital

because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.

. The family was discriminated against because the Infant was unvaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars of medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke’s or any medical provider.

m. The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the Infant.
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75.

76.

n. The Infant was released from the Children’s Hospital and returned to
directly to the family due to the protesters’ or Defendants’, actions.*

These false statements were repeated again and again by Defendants, including using
links to the statements on other websites and video recordings. “Wanted” posters were
made for Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman (as well as others involved who
were doxxed) and posted on the internet as well as distributed at the protests at the St.
Luke’s Boise campus. The Plaintiffs and others involved in the events were repeatedly
threatened by Defendants’ actions of encouraging their followers to take action into
their own hands and disclosing personal information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and
NP Jungman. Phone messages to St. Luke’s from followers across the county repeated
the false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez.
St. Luke’s senior management officers testified it is now more difficult to recruit
doctors and other medical providers to Idaho due to the events surrounding the Infant
and the Defendants’ harassment and defamatory statements towards St. Luke’s and its
employees.
The defamatory statements by the Defendants were completely unfounded, false, made
intentionally, and maliciously harmed the reputations of the Plaintiffs and others who
were doxxed. These false statements invaded the privacy of Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman by portraying them in a false light as persons who harm
children. The defamatory statements and conduct of the Defendants intentionally

inflicted emotional distress on Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman as

* The Infant was returned to its parents by the Court through the dismissal of the CPS case, not
the actions of Defendants.
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78.

79.

well as other parties who were doxxed and threatened. Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman all presented substantial and credible evidence of the actual harm they (and
their families) suffered due to Defendants’ defamatory statements, invasion of privacy
and intentional infliction of emotional distress upon Plaintiffs by attacking their
professional reputations.

Experts Devin Burghart, Spencer Fomby, and Jeésica Flynn all testified that once on
the internet, it is difficult to remove defamatory statements from the internet. In this
case, the Defendants took steps to regularly re-post prior videos and postings and to
create links to the false statements on the website of other media sources, thereby
knowingly increasing the viewers of the published defamatory statements. The original
posts as well as present statements continue on the Internet such as when Bundy or
Rodriguez are quoted with links to other websites about this litigation. See Idaho
Dispatch quotes and postings in the Declaration of Jennifer Jensen in support of the
requested injunctive relief.

The extremist organization experts testified the defamatory statements are re-posted by
the Defendants in order to keep them in the news and to generate new followers and
more donations.

C.P. “Abby” Abbodandolo, Senior Director of Security for St. Luke’s, who has
extensive hospital security and law enforcement experience, testified he was shocked
how quickly the Defendants could mobilize their followers to protest, make signs, and
come armed and ready to take action. He also testified the Defendants and their

followers create an ongoing threat to St. Luke’s operations throughout the state.
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81.

82.

The DHW Safety Assessor left DHW employment and moved out of state due to the
doxxing. Dr. Thomas testified she is leaving and moving from the state for a period of
time in hopes that she can safely return to practice medicine. Employees left St. Luke’s
employment due to the protesting and intimidation. Dr. Erickson has considered
leaving a job she loves due to the ongoing emotional distress and intimidation of the
Defendants. NP Jungman has suffered and continues to suffer from emotional distress,
and the intimidation affects how she interacts with parents of other patients.

The extremist group experts Burghart, Fomby, and Flynn described both Bundy and
Rodriquez as an anti-government activists, conflict disrupters, and disrupter
entrepreneurs. Their business model is to raise money for themselves or the
organizations they control from followers based on false, fraudulent and defamatory
statements. The Defendants have used disinformation (misinformation that is
intentionally spread) to harm Plaintiffs.

Dr. Camille LaCroix, Forensic Psychiatrist, testified as to the continuing emotional
distress to Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman, and that this is not likely to go away and gets
worse every time there is a new or a re-posting of a defamatory statement, an article or
threat against them personally. Dr. Erickson’s husband testified as to the need to
continually monitor social media postings to make sure his wife and family are safe.
According to Dr. LaCroix, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman can be triggered and suffer
more emotional distress by the re-posting of defamatory statements and invasions of
their privacy that cause them to change how they treat others and how they protect their

families.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 22

833



83.

84.

85.

86.

Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman each testified that defamatory statements, harassment
and intimidation as a result of Defendants’ actions affects their life every day
professional and in their personal relationships. Both testified as to the constant fear
they have due to Defendants defamatory attacks in the newspapers, on tv, and on the
internet.
The evidence provided at the jury trial was substantial and competent evidence that
established the claims of defamation, invasion of privacy and intentional infliction of
emotional distress due to the Defendants’ conduct. These claims were satisfied by the
applicable burden of proofs of preponderance and clear and convincing evidence.
As to the defamation claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants communicated information concerning the Plaintiffs to others;
b. The information impugned the honesty, integrity, virtue or reputation of the
Plaintiffs or exposed the Plaintiffs to public hatred, contempt or ridicule;
¢. The information was false;
d. The Defendants knew it was false or reasonably should have known that it was
false; and

e. Plaintiffs suffered injury caused to the defamation.

As to the Invasion of Privacy claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants placed Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman in a false light
in the public eye by publicly disclosing some falsity or fiction conceming Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

b. A disclosure of some falsity or fiction means that a publication or publications by
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88.

89.

90.

Defendants were materially false.
c. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman suffered injury caused by the
false light invasion of their privacy.
As to the Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claims, the Court finds:
a. Defendants engaged in intentional or reckless conduct;
b. That was extreme and outrageous;
c. Causing severe emotional distress to Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman;
and
d. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman were injured and the
emotional distress was proximately caused by Defendants’ conduct.
The Defendants’ defamatory statements including allegations of conspiracy by the
Plaintiffs, law enforcement, the courts and DHW to engage in criminal conduct against
children is not supported by any evidence.
The false and defamatory statements were made as part of a tactical and sustained
marketing campaign to defame and smear the reputations of the Plaintiffs, incite
unlawful conduct by Defendants’ followers, create a fear of future physical harm to
Plaintiffs, and to create an incentive for followers to make donations to Defendants or
organizations they controlled.
The Defendants actions in this case, as well as the fact that they refuse to stop making
defamatory statements, repeat past defamatory statements, presents a continuing threat
of actual irreparable harm to Plaintiffs. The continuing threat has led to St. Luke’s

increasing its security at each of its hospitals. The named Plaintiffs continue to be the

subject of threats by Defendants or their followers. The threats include but are not
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limited to personal, professional or family member harm through Defendants internet
presence and re-posting of prior defamatory statements. A prior Protection Order by
the Court has failed to deter Defendants from making knowingly false and defamatory

statements and repeating such statements.

Conclusions of Law

The Court requested supplemental legal support for Plaintiffs position they are entitled to
equitable relief in the form a permanent injunction. Plaintiffs file a memorandum and supplemental
brief and declaration in support of the request injunctive relief. In the Declaration of Jennifer M.
Jensen, she indicates the Idaho Dispatch (which is not a party to this lawsuit) continues to post
Defendant Rodriguez’s and Bundy’s defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and counsel
involved in this case on the internet even after the jury trial on damages has ended. Defendant
Rodriquez filed an “Answer to Request for Permanent Injunctive Relief.”> The Court has
considered the findings of fact and the entire court record including Rodgriguez’s filings in making

its ruling on injunctive relief.

1. Whether or not to grant permanent injunctive relief is within the discretion of the

trial court.

5 Defendant Rodriguez claims in part there has never been an evidence-based trial as to whether
or not the things he said were true and he believes all his statements were true. The Court notes
the jury trial was evidence-based (with testimony and admitted exhibits), but Defendant
Rodriguez elected not to attend and cross examine witnesses or challenge the admissibility of
evidence. Defendant Rodriguez also claims injunctive relief is a violation of his First
Amendment rights. For the reasons discussed in this Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,
the Court finds injunctive relief is allowed as a matter of law and appropriate in this case.
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In Gem State Roofing, Incorporated v. United Components, Incorporated, 168 Idaho 820,
828, 488 P.3d 488, 496 (2021), the Idaho Supreme Court held “The granting or refusal of an
injunction is a matter resting largely in the trial court’s discretion.” (citing Higginson v.
Westergard, 100 Idaho 687, 689, 604 P.2d 51, 53 (1979). In applying its discretion, this Court
must: (1) correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion; (2) act within the outer boundaries of
its discretion; (3) act consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices
available to it; and (4) reach its decision by the exercise of reason. Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163
Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018). The Supreme Court in Gem State Roofing went on to

discuss the different standards for preliminary versus permanent injunctions:

As an initial observation, UCI's reliance on the standard for a preliminary
injunction is inapposite. Rule 65(e) enumerates five grounds for entry of a
preliminary injunction. A preliminary injunction is a temporary injunction
effective for the pendency of the litigation before the merits of the case are
decided. LR.C.P. 65(e). Preliminary injunctions are designed to protect clearly
established rights from imminent or continuous violation during litigation. See
Gordon v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 166 Idaho 105, 455 P.3d 374, 384 (2019)
(quoting Brady v. City of Homedale, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704, 707
(1997)) (“A district court should grant a preliminary injunction ‘only in extreme
cases where the right is very clear and it appears that irreparable injury will flow
from its refusal.”””). A permanent injunction, on the other hand, is entered at the
resolution of the case, and requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable
injury; in addition, in order to deny a permanent injunction the trial court must be
persuaded that there is “no reasonable expectation that the wrong will be
repeated.” O’'Boskey, 112 Idaho at 1007, 739 P.2d at 306. In other words, a trial
court may appropriately deny a preliminary injunction at the outset of a case when
there are complex issues of fact and law yet to resolve, but correctly grant a
permanent injunction once those issues have been resolved in favor of the
plaintiff.

Gem State Roofing, 168 Idaho 820, 834-35, 488 P.3d 488, 502-03 (2021).

In this case, the Court finds based on the Findings of Fact and the Declaration of Jennifer

Jensen, the Plaintiffs have established by substantial and competent evidence of threatened or
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actual irreparable damage as well as a reasonable expectation that the wrong will be repeated by
the Defendants if permanent injunctive relief is not granted. The jury’s monetary damages, if able
to be collected, are inadequate to protect Plaintiffs from continued and ongoing injuries to their
reputations, privacy, emotional health, ability to practice their chosen professions and reside in the
community without fear, and to allow the community to trust that St. Luke’s hospital system is not
in any way engaged in heinous criminal conduct towards its patients. Balancing the hardships
between Plaintiffs and Defendants’ alleged chilling of their freedom of speech rights, the balance
tips in favor of Plaintiffs. A remedy in equity is warranted as defamatory speech is not protected
free speech. Finally, the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction of the
scope outlined in this decision. The permanent injunctive relief is appropriate to eliminate the
ongoing irreparable threatened and actual harm to all Plaintiffs.

2. Defendants’ defamatory statements are not protected speech under the First

Amendment.

The United States is a republic founded on the doctrine of the rule of law. What that means
is all persons are expected to follow the laws adopted through our representational form of
government. It also means all persons, no matter their status, wealth or beliefs must follow the rule
of law.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting

the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press or the

right of the people to peacefully assemble, and to petition the Government for a

redress of grievances.

However, these rights are not absolute. Every right under the Constitution is subject to limits, and

a person or entity cannot make or publish knowingly false statements that intentionally cause

reputational or other damage to another and then hide behind the First Amendment as a shield. The
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United States Supreme Court has recognized categories of speech that the government can regulate
because of the content of the speech, as long as the government does so evenhandedly. See R.A.V.
v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377 (1992) (categories of speech that are limited: obscenity,
defamation, fraud, incitement, fighting words, true threats, speech integral to criminal conduct,
and child pornography). In R.4.V. the Court stated:

The First Amendment generally prevents government from proscribing speech, see,
e.g., Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 309-311, 60 S.Ct. 900, 905-906, 84
L.Ed. 1213 (1940), or even expressive conduct, see, e.g., Texas v. Johnson, 491
U.S. 397, 406, 109 S.Ct. 2533, 2540, 105 L.Ed.2d 342 (1989), because of
disapproval of the ideas expressed. Content-based regulations are presumptively
invalid. Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd., 502
U.S. 105, 115, 112 S.Ct. 501, 508, 116 L.Ed.2d 476 (1991) id., at 124, 112 S.Ct.,
at 512-513 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment); Consolidated Edison Co. of
N.Y. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N.Y., 447 U.S. 530, 536, 100 S.Ct. 2326, 2332~
2333, 65 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980); Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 95,
92 S.Ct. 2286, 2289-2290, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972). From 1791 to the present,
however, our society, like other free but civilized societies, has permitted
restrictions upon the content of speech in a few limited areas, which are “of such
slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from them
is clearly outweighed by the social interest in order and morality.” Chaplinsky,
supra, 315 U.S., at 572, 62 S.Ct. at 762. We have recognized that “the freedom of
speech” referred to by the First Amendment does not include a freedom to disregard
these traditional limitations. See, e.g., Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 77 S.Ct.
1304, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957) (obscenity); Beauharnais v. lllinois, 343 U.S. 250, 72
S.Ct. 725, 96 L.Ed. 919 (1952) (defamation); Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire, supra
(“ “fighting” words”); see generally Simon & Schuster, supra, 502 U.S., at 124,112
S.Ct.,, at 513-514 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment). Our decisions since
the 1960's have narrowed the scope of the traditional categorical exceptions for
defamation, see New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, 11
L.Ed.2d 686 (1964); Geriz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997, 41
L.Ed.2d 789 (1974); see generally Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1,
13-17, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2702-2705, 111 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990), and for obscenity, see
Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973), but a
limited categorical approach has remained an important part of our First
Amendment jurisprudence.

We have sometimes said that these categories of expression are “not within the area
of constitutionally protected speech,” Roth, supra, 354 U.S., at 483, 77 S.Ct,, at
1308; Beauharnais, supra, 343 U.S., at 266, 72 S.Ct., at 735; Chaplinsky, supra,
315 U.S., at 571-572, 62 S.Ct., at 768-769; or that the “protection of the First
Amendment does not extend” to them, Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of United
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States, Inc., 466 U.S. 485,504, 104 S.Ct. 1949, 1961, 80 L.Ed.2d 502 (1984); Sable
Communications of Cal., Inc. v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 124, 109 S.Ct. 2829, 2835,
106 L.Ed.2d 93 (1989).

RA.V. v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 382-83 (1992).

Stated another way, defamation is a limit on both freedom of speech and freedom of the
press. A person or entity cannot say “I believed what I was saying was true” when the undisputed
facts establish those “truths” were known to be false or should have been known to be false by the
Defendants and they were spoken with the specific intent to threaten or cause harm to the other
person or entity.

The defamatory statements made by Defendants here were not just disagreements with the
manner in which the CPS laws are enforced. Instead, the defamatory statements by Defendants
were made intentionally to get others to believe “as true” that Plaintiffs and anyone else involved
in the CPS investigation and court proceedings or medical treatment of the Infant were committing
heinous acts against the Infant, and that St. Luke’s and the other Plaintiffs were “wicked” and
“evil” persons such that they should be removed from their professions and the hospital shut down
from providing all medical care to anyone in our community. There is no evidence (only baseless
allegations by Defendants) of any such conduct by the Plaintiffs or any other party involved in the
CPS case involving the Infant. In a court of law, the party claiming truth as a defense must present
evidence of truth, and Defendants did not do so.

Here, the Defendants’ statements in every possible form were intentional and with reckless
disregard for the truth, fraudulent, malicious and defamatory. As the jury instructions explained,
defamation is the injury to one's reputation either by written expression, which is libel, or by oral
expression, which is slander. The law is well-established that speech which is defamatory and

causes harm is not protected by the First Amendment. As indicated in the above quote from the
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Supreme Court, defamation in our common law existed prior to the founding of this country and
has been recognized since 1791 by our courts. Further, the mere fact that religious beliefs are cited
as motivation for the Defendants’ actions does prevent the statements from being defamatory or
illegal invasions of another’s right to privacy.® Nor does the cloak of the Defendants’ religious
beliefs that the Plaintiffs were “wicked” allow First Amendment protection to the statements such
that the statements cannot also be defamatory.

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed fraudulent statements
made to encourage or induce illegal immigration for financial gain are not protected speech under
the First Amendment. See United States v. Hansen, 2023 WL 4138994,  U. S. , 143 S.Ct.
1932 (2023). “Speech intended to bring about a particular unlawful act has no social value;
therefore, it is unprotected.” Williams, 553 U.S. at 298, 128 S.Ct. 1830.” Id. at 1947 (2023).
Defendants’ conduct in this case included false, fraudulent and defamatory statements made in
part for their own financial gain and such speech is not protected. People are free to give money
to whatever organizations or persons they want, but they should be informed if the statements to
support such donations of monies are not true.

Finally, simply saying a statement over and over does not make it true. It is well-established
law that a person can tell certain lies and those lies are protected by the First Amendment. See
United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709 (2012) where an individual was being criminally prosecuted
for falsely claiming to have received a military medal of honor pursuant to the Stolen Valor Act
was a content-based restriction on free speech. The difference here is that Defendants’ statements
were not lies about themselves; they were false, intentional and defamatory statements about others

which were intended to hurt Plaintiffs’ reputations or businesses. No reasonable person would

¢ Indeed, the Court cannot to find any religious support for bearing false witness against another.
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think these statements were meant for any other purpose than to harm the reputations and to
threaten the persons being attacked by such statements. Such statements are not protected speech
under the First Amendment.

Listening to and watching the videos of the Defendants and the published written
statements of the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez that claim their belief that “they” had the
individual “right” to take the Infant (who is not even their child) back by violence if necessary is
a profound misstatement and misunderstanding of the rule of law. In reality, it is a cry for “vigilante
justice” which is the act of enforcing the law without legal authority to do so. Vigilante justice
does not involve due process and allows one person to be the lawmaker, the law enforcer, the judge
and jury without any investigation into the truth. Vigilante justice is not a “right” an individual or
group of individuals have in this country.

Laws are passed by duly elected persons through a legislative process involving two
representational governmental bodies and then also approved by the executive officer (the
President of the United States or the Governor of a state). Laws are enforced by law enforcement
officers in the executive branch of government. Challenges to the laws as being facially
unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied are for the judicial branch to decide.

| Vigilante justice is not tolerated under the Constitution because it violates the rights of the
accused. Vigilante justice expounded by the Defendants is meant to control others not by the rule
of law, but by intimidation through threats of violence and the public shaming of others.
Defendants clearly believe they are above the law and can operate outside the boundaries of our
laws if they disagree with how the laws are being applied. That is not how our government works.

A party can appeal a court’s ruling and seek appellate review of a decision. The manner in which
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to challenge any court’s ruling is not through threat and intimidation. It is through the judicial
process.

Moreover, if Defendants want the CPS statutes to be revised or changed, then they can
lobby the legislature. While it is unclear exactly what changes to the law the Defendants seek, they
are free to propose changes by working directly with legislators to sponsors bills. The Idaho
Legislature has a long history of protecting children through the DHW, and nothing in this trial
established the procedure approved by the Legislature was not followed or was misapplied based
on the true health status of the Infant and the failure of the parents to allow the Infant to be seen
for follow-up care. In fact, this case is an example of the CPS system working exactly as intended
by the Legislature to protect the well-being of a child.

In several of the published statements by Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez they
encouraged their followers to “follow the money” to prove how children are being harmed,
trafficked, or kidnapped by CPS. No actual evidence was cited for this proposition by the
Defendants and it was proven to be false at trial. Instead, the evidence in this case shows the only
money being “made” by the events involving the Infant were St. Luke’s and other medical
practitioners receiving Medicaid reimbursement for the medical services provided (which was
testified to be 70% of the actual cost of the care) and money flowing from donations by
Defendants’ followers (based on false defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and others) to
Defendants Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Rodriguez, People’s Rights Network, Freedom
Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC.

If Defendants wanted to present a defense of the “truth” of their statements, they could
have participated in this lawsuit or at least the damages trial. They did not. The Court must take

the undisputed facts presented at trial as true. Moreover, independent expert medical testimony as
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well as common sense esfablishes the facts were not as Defendants maintained. The actual
numerous weights taken of the Infant as well as the results of other medical tests and the pictures
of the Infant did not present a healthy infant. Dr. Wheaton testified there was no misdiagnosis or
malpractice by the medical providers.

The Court finds St. Luke’s did not initiate nor threaten to initiate CPS action. Did St. Luke’s
become involved after the Infant was taken into the custody of DHW? Yes. However, no child was
“kidnapped” by the police or doctors. No child was “trafficked” or abused by DHW, the hospital,
the doctors or the courts. Instead, St. Luke’s through its staff and medical providers provided the
necessary medical care the Infant needed (twice) and took care to receive the parents’ consent for
the care provided even though during the second hospitalization was when the Infant was in the
temporary care and custody of DHW. All of the Infant’s medical care was covered by Medicaid
insurance.

Dr. Whelan testified the need for CPS to get involved was due to the parents’ failure to
attend follow-up appointments. In making this last statement, the Court does not in any way believe
the parents intended to harm the Infant. But the parents did neglect the medically needed follow-
up appointments to make sure the Infant was gaining, not losing, weight. New parents have a plan
for how they want to care for their child and they are allowed great freedom in implementing their
plan, until and unless the child’s welfare is at risk. At that point, the DHW has a duty to step in, to
get the child the care it needs and then to develop a reunification plan so the child can return to its

home and thrive,
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3. Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate in this case.

Permanent injunctive relief requiring the Defendants to stop making defamatory statements
about the Plaintiffs, to remove defamatory and harassing statements or posts from online locations
under the Defendants’ control and prohibiting the Defendants from republishing the statements or
posts is appropriate in this case. The statements, internet posts, online interviews made as part of
a sustained campaign of defamation by Defendants and they continue to threaten or cause actual
jrreparable harm to the Plaintiffs. Based on the testimony of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, NP Jungman,
this conduct not only affects the individual Plaintiffs, but it also affects their families, their co-
workers, their work environments. It also continues to negatively impact the reputation of St.
Luke’s in the community. The Court has no expectation that the defamatory statements will stop
by Defendants without a permanent injunction.

This type of conduct can be enjoined by a court. While the Court could not find any on-
point Idaho authority for the factual circumstances presented in this case, the Court can look to
other jurisdictions for persuasive authority for internet smear campaigns. See, e.g., Balboa Island
Vill. Inn, Inc. v. Lemen, 40 Cal. 4th 1141, 1155-57 (2007) (holding that the court may issue an
injunction prohibiting the defendant from repeating statements judicially determined to be defamatory
and rejecting argument that damages are the only remedy for defamation because otherwise the
plaintiff would be required to bring a succession of lawsuits for damages which could be insufficient
to deter the continuing tortious behavior); Advanced Training Sys. v. Caswell Equip. Co., 352 N.W. 2d
1, 11 (Minn. 1984) (affirming permanent injunctive relief prohibiting republication of material found
libelous at trial); Weitsman v. Levesque, Case No. 19-CV-461 JLS (AHG), 2020 WL 6825687, (S.D.

Cal. Nov. 20, 2020) (applying New York law and collecting New York cases that removal orders are
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necessary when parties refuse to depublish); see also St. James Healthcare v. Cole, 178 P.3d 696,
(Mont. 2008) (affirming in part preliminary injunction against harassing and threatening statements).’

In Weitsman, the court ordered permanent injunctive relief when the defendant engaged in a
“sustained Internet defamation campaign” falsely accusing the plaintift of child trafficking. Weitsman,
2020 WL 6825687. The court entered default against the defendant, and the plaintiff obtained an award
of compensatory and punitive damages. Id. The defendant had continued making the defamatory
statements online, despite the litigation and an arrest warrant. Jd. A permanent injunction was
appropriate due to the intentional, sustained campaign of defamation aimed to injure the plaintiff’s
interests, including business interests. See id. The injunction was tailored to (1) require the removal of
statements held to be defamatory whose postings online were under the defendant’s control; and (2)

prohibit the republication of statements held to be defamatory. See id.

The Defendants’ actions attacking Plaintiffs in this case were relentless for over a year and
with the specific intent to harm the reputations of St. Luke’s and the other named Plaintiffs who
did their job to ensure the Infant received necessary medical care. The Defendants continue to the
present time in making defamatory statements to others about the Plaintiffs. There is every
indication based on the Defendants’ conduct over the prior year that the Defendants will continue
to repeat and re-post the defamatory statements if no injunction is entered. The Court recognizes
the Defendants have the means to influence thousands of followers, as they quickly organized
protestors at the hospitals and across the country to disrupt St. Luke’s business. This ability to
mobilize others and to condone violence makes the threatened irreparable harm even more likely.

As several experts testified at trial, that once on the internet, it is difficult to remove
defamatory statements from the internet, a simple retraction is inadequate relief for the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are entitled by law to have all the Defendants do everything in their power and on all
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sites under their control (directly or indirectly) to remove all the judicially determined defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Moreover, the Defendants are ordered to stop making new or
repeating previously made statements or postings with defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs.
Further defamatory statements or invasion of Plaintiffs’ privacy regarding the events with the
Infant by Defendants could lead to new litigation for defamation. This defamation against the
Plaintiffs is not protected by the First Amendment and it must end.

If the defamatory statements are not taken down, they will be repeated and cause more
irreparable threatened or actual harm to the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs have a right under law to seek
injunctive relief from the Court to force the Defendants to stop making and publishing defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs followed the rule of law and legal process for having such
a remedy ordered by the Court. The Plaintiffs proved the statements were intentional, false and
made by Defendants with the specific intent to cause reputational damage to the Plaintiffs and to
invade the Plaintiffs’ privacy. The Defendants continue to try to raise monies based on the
defamatory statements.

4. Scope of injunctive relief.

The Court, in exercising its discretion, finds a permanent injunction is warranted under the
law against the Defendants in this case. The Court exercises its discretion based on the findings of
fact and conclusions of law to grant the equitable relief requested. “A permanent injunction
requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable injury.” Hood v. Poorman, 171 Idaho 176,
519 P.3d 769, 783 (2022) (citing O'Boskey v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Boise, 112 Idaho
1002, 1007, 739 P.2d 301, 306 (1987)). There is a threatened or actual irreparable injury to
Plaintiffs if defamatory statements about the care of the Infant and the Plaintiffs are not stopped.

The Defendants are aware their statements have been found by a jury and court of law to be
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defamatory, so continuing to say the statements are true may expose Defendants to additional legal

liability.

Defendants will be ordered to take the following actions to remove all defamatory

statements and violations of the privacy of the Plaintiffs. Defendants must:

1.

2.

Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all Plaintiffs.
Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
are participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other
abuse, and/or killing of children.

Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority
to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have
authority to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or
images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents
posted links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the

privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

Failure by the Defendants to follow the Order for Permanent Injunctive Relief may lead to

contempt proceedings, sanctions and other legal ramifications.
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Conclusion

Fortunately for the Infant and our community, the Plaintiffs ignored the actions of the
disrupters led by Bundy and Rodriguez and instead made saving the life of the Infant their priority.
Plaintiffs St. Luke’s and Mr. Roth were not distracted from their mission of providing medical
care when needed to any member of our community regardless of a person’s ability to pay. St.
Luke’s followed established medical treatment procedures and DHW followed Court orders, not
the demands of the Defendants. Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman followed their oaths to help and
not harm their patient. But the disinformation continues by Defendants even after the Infant was
returned to its parents by the court through the CPS proceedings, even after the civil lawsuit was
filed, and even after the jury verdict was returned.

Defendants’ continued disinformation regarding the Plaintiffs does not help our
community. The actions and conduct of the Defendants have made our community less safe.
Medical providers and other employees are leaving their professions because of the damage to
their reputations, the invasion of their privacy, the harassment and threats of intimidation by
Defendants. Defendants’ conduct and the conduct of their followers selfishly prevented third
parties from coming to the St. Luke’s hospitals and clinics for care, prevented the family members
of other patients from seeing their loved ones at the hospital, disrupted the care of other patients,
and threatened the safety of employees due to the sheer noise and intimidation of armed protestors
surrounding the Boise hospital. The First Amendment protects and allows citizens to protest, but
the First Amendment does not allow armed citizens to attempt to enter the private property of St.
Luke’s when it was locked down.

The defamatory statements of Defendants against the Plaintiffs have the indirect effect of

making it more difficult to attract medical professionals to Idaho. The defamatory statements have
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, certify that on 8 / L‘S’/ 2.3 , I caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF to be forwarded with all required charges prepaid, by the method(s)
indicated below, in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure, to the following person(s):

Erik F. Stidham (X) Email
Jennifer M. Jensen

Zachery J. McCraney

Alexandra S. Grande

efstidham@hollandhart.com

jmjensen@hollandhart.com

zjmccraney(@hollandhart.com

aehenderson@hollandhart.com

Attorney for Plaintiff(s)

Diego Rodriguez (X) Email
freedommanpress@protonmail.com

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, (X) Mail

and People’s Rights Network
¢/o Ammon Bundy

4615 Harvest Lane

Emmett ID 83617-3601

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy for Governor (X) Mail
And People’s Rights Network

¢/o Ammon Bundy

P.0O. Box 370

Emmett ID 83617

Pro Se Defendant

Freedom Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC (X) Mail
c¢/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater DR #5077

Orlando, FL 32804

Pro Se Defendant
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EXHIBIT F



Filed: 08/29/2023 09:37:22

Fourth Judicial District, Ada County
Trent Tripple, Clerk of the Court
By: Deputy Clerk - Nelson, Ric

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE

STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST. | Case No. CV01-22-06789
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual; DEFAULT JUDGMENT
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendants.

JUDGMENT IS ENTERED AS FOLLOWS:
L. Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd.; St. Luke’s
Regional Medical Center, Ltd.; Chris Roth, Natasha D. Erickson, M.D.; and Tracy W. Jungman,

N.P. against Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,

Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network.

DEFAULT JUDGMENT - 1
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EXHIBIT G



From: Erik Stidham

Sent: Wednesday, September 13, 2023 6:06 PM

To: 'Freedom Man Press' <freedommanpress@ protonmail.com>
Subject: FW: St. Lukes_Bundy _ Cease and Desist Letter to Rodriguez

Mr. Rodriguez,
See attached.

Regards,

Erik Stidham

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This message is confidential and may be privileged. If you believe that this email has been sent to you in error, please reply to
the sender that you received the message in error; then please delete this email.
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Erik F. Stidham

Partner

Phone 208.383.3934
efstidham@hollandhart.com

September 13, 2023

Diego Rodriguez
1317 Edgewater Drive, #5077
Orlando, FL 32804

Re:  St. Luke’s et al. v. Ammon Bundy et al.
Violations of Permanent Injunction

Dear Mr. Rodriguez:

I write regarding your continued violation of the Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of
Law and Order for Injunctive Relief, which was issued on August 25, 2023 (“August 25 Order”),
and the Court’s Default Judgment Order, which was issued on August 29, 2023 (“August 29
Order”). The Court’s clerk served you with these Orders on August 25 and August 29,
respectfully. The Orders are enclosed.

In its orders, the Court directs you to cease posting and disseminating specific statements,
to remove unlawful content from the internet, and to deactivate unlawful links. See August 25
Order at 36-39; August 29 Order at 3-6.

Those orders state:

Defendants must:

1. Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all
Plaintiffs.
2. Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or are

participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

3. Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority to
do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

4, Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson,
and NP Jungman.

5. Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have authority
to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or images of Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Mailing Address Contact
800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750 P.O. Box 2527 p: 208.342.5000 | f: 208.343.8869
Boise, ID 83702-7714 Boise, ID 83701-2527 www.hollandhart.com

Holland & Hart LLP  Anchorage Aspen Billings Boise Boulder Cheyenne Denver Jackson Hole LasVegas Reno Salt Lake City Santa Fe Washington, D.C.

862



Diego Rodriguez
September 13, 2023
Page 2

6. Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents posted
links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the privacy of the
Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.
August 25 Order at 37.

Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,
Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network are
PERMANENTLY ENJOINED as follows:

a.

Defendants must cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements

against all Plaintiffs. Defamatory statements include:

Vi.

Vii.
Viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiil.

The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by Child Protective
Services.

St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.
The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or
St. Luke's.

St. Luke's, St. Luke's management, law enforcement, Idaho Department
of Health and Welfare, the courts, and medical practitioners are all
involved in a conspiracy to engage in criminal child trafficking,
kidnapping children and stealing children to make money.

The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

Idaho Department of Health and Welfare makes more money for every
child it takes into Child Protective Services custody and that is why the
Idaho Department of Health and Welfare kidnaps and traffics children
and only allows certain people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt
children.

St. Luke's and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently
harmed or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or
misdiagnosed the Infant.

St. Luke's reported the parents to Child Protective Services.

Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with Child Protective Services if
the parents did not agree to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.
St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the
hospital because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.

The family was discriminated against because the Infant was not
vaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars in medical bills they have to pay
based on the care provided by St. Luke's or any medical provider.

The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the
Infant.
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Diego Rodriguez
September 13, 2023
Page 3

xiv.  The Infant was released from the St. Luke's Children's Hospital and
returned directly to the family due to the protesters' or Defendants'
actions.

b. Defendants must cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or are participating in unlawful child kidnapping, child
trafficking, child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children.

C. Defendants must remove from all online locations or websites Defendants
have authority to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or participating in the child kidnapping, child trafficking,
child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @Real ABundy), https://x.com (handle @RealABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaign=GAZAG

d. Defendants must cease disseminating and encouraging others to
disseminate the contact information, personal information, and images of
Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

e. Defendants must remove from all online locations and websites Defendants
have authority to do so the contact information, personal information,
and/or images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @RealABundy), https://x.com (handle @RealABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaign=GAZAG

f. Defendants must deactivate links to defamatory statements or statements
that invade the privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

August 29 Order at 3-6.
The Court warned that your failure to comply “may lead to contempt proceedings,

sanctions and other legal ramifications.” August 29 Order at 37. Yet as of the date of this letter,
you have refused to comply.
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Diego Rodriguez
September 13, 2023
Page 4

Your unlawful conduct continues to cause daily, irreparable harm to my clients. It also
harms our community and makes our communities less safe. See August 25 Order.
Accordingly, my clients hereby demand that you cease and desist from your unlawful conduct,
that you remove the unlawful content from the internet, and that you deactivate the links as
mandated in the Court’s orders.

A non-exhaustive list of examples of your unlawful content that must be removed and/or
deactivated includes:

All webpages that violate the Permanent Injunction order that begin with the
https://freedomman.org/cyrus/
https://www.freedomman.org/video/government-subsidized-child-trafficking/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/my-response-to-the-idaho-statesman-st-lukes-
lawsuit/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-and-erik-stidham-just-gag-
ordered-me/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/facts-about-ammons-contempt-of-court-charge/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-just-intentionally-broke-the-
law-proving-that-she-is-biased/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/idaho-department-of-health-and-welfare-is-the-
bad-quy/
https://www.freedomman.org/cyrus/archive/baby-cyrus-was-kidnapped-one-year-ago/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/diego-rodriguez-issues-challenge-to-st-lukes-and-
erik-stidham/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/st-lukes-is-suing-us-for-exposing-them/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/open-letter-meridian-police-ada-county-sheriff/
https://stlukesexposed.com/ (all links and webpages from this website that violate the
Permanent Injunction Order including, but not limited to, the following webpages
and/or links embedded in the webpages: https://stlukesexposed.com/truth-about-st-
lukes/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/evidence-that-cps-agents-meridian-police-and-st-
lukes-were-lying/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/diego-answer-4th-amended-
complaint/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-violates-the-
constitution-again/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-judicial-
misconduct/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/erik-stidham-criminal-complaints/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/summary-video/)
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/ (all links and webpages from this
website that violate the Permanent Injunction Order including, but not limited to, the
following webpages and/or links embedded in the webpages:
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid034caCEKGT6LgyPudmF6ru
rqzu6jCBojcjmEa5UeY4Waki2thyMilytYr72wu7t8Wol;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidORHvVM8TZjJt4rpng6jESxnJ
RUnAxMhfeYHncx1VeQ3PMCWVJhAje8yvZpqT59Xcoll;
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https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0c26BXVnvBwT3B8JWxVB
UkaALb1KYWwWXTx07kPN4ErkZiW8pb3goxL2pogrMXPDGVdI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0g3ULabflJ7WwrcinRsn42Xh
RTABRzEaHGpQWKWBGzQ3eRkgdCGZUoM8Wxq9599ZdCl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Q6u5j9919dG3P4s2shQBa
SIMN5XHoYL6vcyPBVi6BgWso8FUM7HRFHGG9iQXsWKil;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0fdzWiatcZBnPLJ1Ptq7ydVp
QVDgD1Xt9Vz63yKAQas2B|ZxuTYg20WEdMd43czXrl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOHzQNcWhj6 GFAQ42ArGIOL
QEEQgPQjjb25z6 RgESVHAHL jR3Zepmm884tCkbB2V8DPZI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOmWHgY6eMMforMTyPAw
gccEnpKUp4E63gLutFME8Xx2PC71JrHESEg4XTVJAX65JaSI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOKFnvROPQv3WIiTdJ9xzY8T

gDPnJywpeEG3ZWhF5eezgFNgsESoxnAnovsiUWFq198I;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0r5zt TARA3ErgnxYepJEYyuj
ZDbhAcuPZbeYDwWRV Xew6dtSnE3EtIN3XFUR8GBbzTI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02ptDHNuF1Np38QbDveA6
22G5ZrnsviUvBaMGxU2amjb8VSCUWwxKUKWbpdjgPQQaAl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0ZQBMV9TGsG7b67SSP8H
DeBBrxhwfyEVvZZJ68yVLijPCgoYogqn2UwuiR5DfLi5t9l;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOXWkVv5D6eFAJWYbM9P
gTWF1Ag6B8V34PTSvstELnzLccsoK1liuVwinzEd7HTY Tvsl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02XY Akyvd9EKMnGGLFDs
ZSi898JG8FqpWaCnSkVfLenyZJ8wtuQsyELTTc5DIJMp5WSI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0iKgNYEQ9JBbAG2bDoFBn
anvPNt6HccL3QWMCtn5SWWNgtGzzwwmY4J9PRYJGSEWTI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOMSNGXbd4wCsn52gjW7X
E5Yz3gWYE9pxTTwydVwHVVVvj21C86PajF2qycfoZj9A45I;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOviCgWmLUWXULC9LaQ4
DJiD16G75Pz32Kw537sqVEYDLYDeJEHS8)2TiifJQm9in5fl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0385C6SciSWJ4L X1 X55hwW
KTUYtZHAwrvLsjUDV5WHzMgd59WgTmexoX3GEn54cnSjul;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid08bmm8FL0oGi7a82Ca7jn9Tk
UHjeNoTVu6vNb9Kr73UNKodijuweiluiu9tMsgskkXIl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Qnm31ZesxfY8G3MiXWq
MOmMV4YisRj3yJCY76x5UkoxebXA0SNUXLmMvSVyxaqNj7zDl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/videos/daddy-playing-peek-a-boo-with-
baby-cyrus-/459198315981998/;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOnaef7pbfTSMHca28esYD8Z
WLHWSsydEspgmPFAfn1C9Mpuaw2NcvmgFivsTZbY Ntnl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/videos/st-lukes-shutdown-entire-hospital-
on-march-15th-over-peaceful-families-protestin/1006608316897658/;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid033sDXFrdvXWGbigUjgmG
X6TLpbeQWmesctM7D7EMZXxjHNG53MDtNHZQP1wXkTjaQBI;
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https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02ZU7JMfE8pDVorfNygazR
7TUEYyHjXFPNb98bnmvdor6vpSvXGChy9n8gzb6qsUZzvrl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02j3syT35DHdGnMYwHKw
14juow2kr3nvgyhCmyexbJGTMuCd6NA1TgztvNaMx59zmhl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0YvDoVGEYyCwKS9T3RAfo
RBJZL83KUPHXEENSNC2Uf312AtLXx7wSs2830XbB26bbNS8I;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0G6krH2x11YJ4QjJDpCAcH
1ztmPtLYRTVZG2jbeox8GKULXEfSTNTUZY5RCqg2Ywc3l;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02EC8Eax1H6YHAW2F8tG6
iguUwrCj84eNcDyjJrbjunnUT9hTEKbdCojSLVUXATUZ2KDI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid026r6bhuHKZzbXL6grLsEo
WzY41XfPsY6CWW5ZaVxoZH7KaEb55kgF5xt6sszutBa7l;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid05ZwkFWiWdz1FnGoBS1D
SVYaGWDrKjFCs2G7EqzxESFVLRalSCHicMb7mUKTd2Tqol;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOPmM2KXVDBcqTWRCFrRN
BgeueQsLkwLWGJUKmMMZCwvS3fRgCuNxZEitzZ8KUBIgZeLpl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02jmNzMcNS7Wtu7RHcox|
mDtPk5ib3YcgwzGDruTVE52hX9zUJ4clvDxoXC5E25U1VI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0Jptj8wJoFEqLymb7D3jBC5
214G5zaY Ax4UUG2Bhf8z8f8cYtZx99nJKYvIs7nDual;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOrX1R83FYdtFEH039ZNTZo

GRVXMyalYghkNi6ZY?220ceRDXfdLtnTg3dcJbKHAXEYI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0291L34F22HAL82]CuFJJJhH
UfdRb1xcAuGw6R145EEC553rjF485n80KfyLoHSwv1JI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02UohsyR12DT6ESYqL8U6
QUwayaSgxF8j3eZ79biGCngU2an5zdTQMZDaQGDIR6UCH!;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid027R5XK7DFwEf5raSrwZgR

ranZoNWEhvY fbXbjpuUTtjJcTDwsudgfA6QQel4560PGl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02BgSTN9gnhCCvFX1m3Er
X9PnShQpdLh44nnQ2RmdxuVeKLR9ZA4qgpr8ZmyYJAWTKI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0axc4SxNfZGz9WVi8FLWrd
xiPc86PS0B04uKyG833vYkiaXfYrBodmPXTyRBPgerAl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Dy8VUPgxfRhQ2hKj1EQ
dSkGZjQZabC1JR2J7SrowdwArVDdKivLSzZNQKgoehLb8jl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOfSEESDyN1F6FHFNsLpGqg
EKU5djCNnke4MMbe7EUBJNnrhRKVT2zHCTaNVnmw5sgdl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02EXZkAar2PRAZu9b31Cef
ykUg5KbuoNKXnjS20Q6jykMsvugezJ3A4BKs5SKhWLMyil;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0277pig5xsFdhBHF6H]VVVEI
BvaAntPsJXrolwb7X5aK4d7yuwjAKMgAEKv3KpSxsjpl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02reKmjxR9SoNb6A8VNp8|
gre6wZ63r8y4L 1vnfbaaofVaZ810QHWIrNcKiMbloDxGTRI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zc4iEqQSGbM85RTF17NvS
pnuyhvyDdLAhRBMmVGNbhBdQ7aVoz7bWz4trwhgh2YBNUI;
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https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02jmNzMcNS7Wtu7RHcoxjmDtPk5ib3YcgwzGDruTVE52hX9zUJ4c1vDxoXC5E25U1Vl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02jmNzMcNS7Wtu7RHcoxjmDtPk5ib3YcgwzGDruTVE52hX9zUJ4c1vDxoXC5E25U1Vl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0Jptj8wJoFEqLymb7D3jBC5214G5zaYAx4UUG2Bhf8z8f8cYtZx99nJkYv9s7nDual
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0Jptj8wJoFEqLymb7D3jBC5214G5zaYAx4UUG2Bhf8z8f8cYtZx99nJkYv9s7nDual
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0rX1R83FYdtFEHo3qZNTZoGRVXMya1YghkNi6ZY22QceRDXfdLtnTq3dcJbKHdXEYl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0rX1R83FYdtFEHo3qZNTZoGRVXMya1YghkNi6ZY22QceRDXfdLtnTq3dcJbKHdXEYl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid029L34F22HAL82jCuFJJJhHUfdRb1xcAuGw6R145EEC553rjF485n8oKfyLoHSwv1Jl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid029L34F22HAL82jCuFJJJhHUfdRb1xcAuGw6R145EEC553rjF485n8oKfyLoHSwv1Jl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02UohsyR12DT6ESYqL8U6QUwayaSgxF8j3eZ79biGCngU2an5zdTQMZDaQGD9R6UCfl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02UohsyR12DT6ESYqL8U6QUwayaSgxF8j3eZ79biGCngU2an5zdTQMZDaQGD9R6UCfl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid027R5XK7DFwEf5raSrwZqRranZoNWEhvYfbXbjpuUTtjJcTDwsudgfA6QQeJ456oPGl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid027R5XK7DFwEf5raSrwZqRranZoNWEhvYfbXbjpuUTtjJcTDwsudgfA6QQeJ456oPGl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02BgSTN9gnhCCvFX1m3ErX9PnShQpdLh44nnQ2RmdxuVeKLR9ZA4qgpr8ZmyYjAW7kl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02BgSTN9gnhCCvFX1m3ErX9PnShQpdLh44nnQ2RmdxuVeKLR9ZA4qgpr8ZmyYjAW7kl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0axc4SxNfZGz9WVi8FLWrdxiPc86PSoBo4uKyG833vYkiaXfYrBodmPXTyRBPgerAl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0axc4SxNfZGz9WVi8FLWrdxiPc86PSoBo4uKyG833vYkiaXfYrBodmPXTyRBPgerAl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Dy8VUPgxfRhQ2hKj1EQdSkGZjQZabC1JR2J7SrowdwArVDdkivLSzNQKqoehLb8jl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Dy8VUPgxfRhQ2hKj1EQdSkGZjQZabC1JR2J7SrowdwArVDdkivLSzNQKqoehLb8jl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0f5EESDyN1F6FHFNsLpGgEkU5djCNnke4MMbe7EUBjNnrhRKVT2zHCTaNVnmw5sgdl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0f5EESDyN1F6FHFNsLpGgEkU5djCNnke4MMbe7EUBjNnrhRKVT2zHCTaNVnmw5sgdl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02EXZkAar2PRAZu9b31CefykUq5KbuoNKXnjS2Q6jykMsvugezJ3A4BKs5SkhWLMyil
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02EXZkAar2PRAZu9b31CefykUq5KbuoNKXnjS2Q6jykMsvugezJ3A4BKs5SkhWLMyil
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0277piq5xsFdhBHF6HjVvEiBvaAntPsJXro1wb7X5aK4d7yuwjAKMqAEkv3KpSxsjpl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0277piq5xsFdhBHF6HjVvEiBvaAntPsJXro1wb7X5aK4d7yuwjAKMqAEkv3KpSxsjpl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02reKmjxR9SoNb6A8VNp8jqre6wZ63r8y4L1vnfbaaofVqZ81QHWrNcKiMb1oDxGTRl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02reKmjxR9SoNb6A8VNp8jqre6wZ63r8y4L1vnfbaaofVqZ81QHWrNcKiMb1oDxGTRl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zc4iEqSGbM85RTf17NvSpnuyhvyDdLAhBMmVGNbhBdQ7aVoz7bWz4trwhqh2YBNUl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zc4iEqSGbM85RTf17NvSpnuyhvyDdLAhBMmVGNbhBdQ7aVoz7bWz4trwhqh2YBNUl

Diego Rodriguez
September 13, 2023
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https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02DU5beUvuicrjdUuNdiQgd
gRTTi9¢V4994Ei7dvj8cN9A2jciBsGdS25vTRxPpeSQl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0dQgp34nbKrYjvQJsAY2Np
PjzSuESa4o0M41uBV36kSHyn81fH1tTzkkMU7sgP4B2Hl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidObEzBsMarpDkh4M7gAY X3
a9zBNnYLVIWEJzeQHOETvhnQYnv9PZ1byw2qdXMfBQUXI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02bwQLK1UTM40dPex34Qs
dmeu75NP1JuT3dypkQjAVXhjYIFTUNHL2SfWFRRN30R2I;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02LecjiwM?2V6cw88DF33WF
Y7TRWQwWTSbhzQFgDN1NgR4gzPmsSWjcLRaZUv1Db8Y7WI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02p1RtNfHogi2taZzbZZCXPH

VURSG3HTTU73ZFZY1zTJRYuVmMRAWKTUAMVeRT6iI3K6GVI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOuGTMTVIN6bQMHLgxGo
otCdw1TtSC7pDUeSetRgNVphxhiB3MOQvwWRRYy8WqG3zuMKil;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidONQcNfyK13fsUmTABNzdu
6bwKGJtsAxaLLU7MmXqCkk5N2aBdGT3s2KoLMkQ6KDGal;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidOSRtCLsRc3eEQasrC1AVPL
PAWF7xbrSi7UpCbNxE88aFnzQfXsmqrbrbs9u688zXol;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0YcXe2sUcmWh12gEC1JJjJ
YR7aFXfNDrKBMF67tqmkch48McGn4b1rtOMi9UVmrRol;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02boe2RArSvPb7n5fEYay94
5WJricC4bsSxHUSgvVAPXX7prmnJUImME62v39UFGJE|I;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zZmhCab16aGDCSKWtib
dhYpdCwX264pPeX6HXKiuDxFcxsewzfEbwCgHgQivrl7ol;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zAcpc45vEuJBecmolL FUSix
FogDUFuexR5SgXGRzcWmVTcjJstXQgeL9mLPwbR9c8ujl;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Ddug6irdGWty8vzbNuBR
EdgAcJHTnDrLLU2KYb6x72piritLcJ14iC8iefbn2xQXI;
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbidORoxFQC7kcSpiQ5rdtKYhC
KRQJ8sYeN6EDbp5LNfaeBoRBY3LNnHVCLUSEpd8xfvVI;

https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02H66 EnDHWYyYJSzhxoU93ta

SFLaFnhL4PfHBMUuovLQhZwT8FWM22fjige7f6XLtkBFI;

https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02ThbiGSyKGFCdGKHrm8

CX7ZTIWRSjnrv7zvW1Grt6Y xzEt88CRVyzhb997zvDmaua3l

all https://telegram.org/ posts and/or comments that violate the Permanent Injunction
Order.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RY ZRu6480I0

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hIXwUjlcLRI

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XKVMvmkRoe4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rzw0B8HVG18

https://player.vimeo.com/video/688343093

https://player.vimeo.com/video/689507913

https://player.vimeo.com/video/690083915
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https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02DU5beUvuicrjdUuNdiQgdgRTTi9cV49q4Ei7dvj8cN9A2jciBsGdS25vTRxPpeSQl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02DU5beUvuicrjdUuNdiQgdgRTTi9cV49q4Ei7dvj8cN9A2jciBsGdS25vTRxPpeSQl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0dQgp34nbKrYjvQJsAY2NpPjzSuESa4oM41uBV36kSHyn81fH1tTzkkMU7sqP4B2Hl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0dQgp34nbKrYjvQJsAY2NpPjzSuESa4oM41uBV36kSHyn81fH1tTzkkMU7sqP4B2Hl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0bEzBsMarpDkh4M7gAYX3a9zBNnYLv1WEJzeQHoETvhnQYnv9PZ1byw2qdXMfBQUxl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0bEzBsMarpDkh4M7gAYX3a9zBNnYLv1WEJzeQHoETvhnQYnv9PZ1byw2qdXMfBQUxl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02bwQLK1UTM4odPex34Qsdmeu75NP1JuT3dypkQjAVxhjYiFTuNHL2SfWFRRN3oR2l
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02bwQLK1UTM4odPex34Qsdmeu75NP1JuT3dypkQjAVxhjYiFTuNHL2SfWFRRN3oR2l
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02LecjwM2V6cw88DF33WFY7TRWQwTSbhzQFgDN1NgR4qzPmsSWjcLRaZUv1Db8Y7Wl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02LecjwM2V6cw88DF33WFY7TRWQwTSbhzQFgDN1NgR4qzPmsSWjcLRaZUv1Db8Y7Wl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02p1RtNfHogi2taZbZZCXPHVUR53HTTU73ZFZY1zTJRYuVmR4wkTUAMveRf6i3K6Gvl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02p1RtNfHogi2taZbZZCXPHVUR53HTTU73ZFZY1zTJRYuVmR4wkTUAMveRf6i3K6Gvl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0uGTMTVfN6bQMHLgxGootCdw1TtSC7pDUeSetRqNVphxhiB3MQvwRRy8WqG3zuMKrl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0uGTMTVfN6bQMHLgxGootCdw1TtSC7pDUeSetRqNVphxhiB3MQvwRRy8WqG3zuMKrl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0NQcNfyK13fsUmTABNzdu6bwKGJtsAxaLLU7MmXqCkk5N2aBdGT3s2KoLMkQ6KDGal
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0NQcNfyK13fsUmTABNzdu6bwKGJtsAxaLLU7MmXqCkk5N2aBdGT3s2KoLMkQ6KDGal
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0SRtCLsRc3eEQasrC1AVPLPAWF7xbrSi7UpCbNxE88aFnzQfXsmqrbrbs9u688zXol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0SRtCLsRc3eEQasrC1AVPLPAWF7xbrSi7UpCbNxE88aFnzQfXsmqrbrbs9u688zXol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0YcXe2sUcmWh12gEC1JJjJYR7aFXfNDrKBMF67tqmkch48McGn4b1rtQMi9UVmrRol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0YcXe2sUcmWh12gEC1JJjJYR7aFXfNDrKBMF67tqmkch48McGn4b1rtQMi9UVmrRol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02boe2RArSvPb7n5fEYay945WJricC4bsSxHUSgvVAPXx7prmnJU1mE62v39UFGJEjl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02boe2RArSvPb7n5fEYay945WJricC4bsSxHUSgvVAPXx7prmnJU1mE62v39UFGJEjl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zZmhCab16aGDCSKWtibdhYpdCwX264pPeX6HXKiuDxFcxs6wzfEbwCgHqQivr17ol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zZmhCab16aGDCSKWtibdhYpdCwX264pPeX6HXKiuDxFcxs6wzfEbwCgHqQivr17ol
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zAcpc45vEuJBcmoLFU5ixFqDUFuexR5SgXGRzcWmVTcjJstXQqeL9mLPwbR9c8ujl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02zAcpc45vEuJBcmoLFU5ixFqDUFuexR5SgXGRzcWmVTcjJstXQqeL9mLPwbR9c8ujl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Ddug6irdGWty8vzbNuBREdgAcJHTnDrLLU2KYb6x72piritLcJ14iC8iefbn2xQXl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02Ddug6irdGWty8vzbNuBREdgAcJHTnDrLLU2KYb6x72piritLcJ14iC8iefbn2xQXl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0RoxFQC7kcSpiQ5rdtKYhCKRQJ8sYeN6EDbp5LNfaeBoRBY3LNnHvCLUSEpd8xfvVl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid0RoxFQC7kcSpiQ5rdtKYhCKRQJ8sYeN6EDbp5LNfaeBoRBY3LNnHvCLUSEpd8xfvVl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02H66EnDHWyJSzhxoU93taSFLaFnhL4PfHBMUuovLQhZwT8FWM22fjige7f6XLtkBFl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02H66EnDHWyJSzhxoU93taSFLaFnhL4PfHBMUuovLQhZwT8FWM22fjige7f6XLtkBFl
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02ThbiGSyKGFCdGKHrm8CX7ZT1WR5jnrv7zvW1Grt6YxzEt88CRVyzhb997zvDmgu3l
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabyCyrus/posts/pfbid02ThbiGSyKGFCdGKHrm8CX7ZT1WR5jnrv7zvW1Grt6YxzEt88CRVyzhb997zvDmgu3l
https://telegram.org/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RYZRu648Ol0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hlXwUj1cLRI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XKVMvmkRoe4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rzw0B8HVG18
https://player.vimeo.com/video/688343093
https://player.vimeo.com/video/689507913
https://player.vimeo.com/video/690083915

Diego Rodriguez
September 13, 2023
Page 8

e https://player.vimeo.com/vide0/692986648

Please comply with the Court’s Permanent Injunction by September 22, 2023.
If you do not, we will pursue all available legal remedies.

This cease-and-desist letter is sent without waiver of any right or remedy available at law
or equity.

Sincerely,
/s/Erik F. Stidham

Erik F. Stidham
Partner
of Holland & Hart .r

EFS:cmc
Enclosures

30419382_v1
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https://player.vimeo.com/video/692986648

Filed: 08/29/2023 09:37:22

Fourth Judicial District, Ada County
Trent Tripple, Clerk of the Court
By: Deputy Clerk - Nelson, Ric

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE

STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST. | Case No. CV01-22-06789
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual; DEFAULT JUDGMENT
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendants.

JUDGMENT IS ENTERED AS FOLLOWS:
L. Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd.; St. Luke’s
Regional Medical Center, Ltd.; Chris Roth, Natasha D. Erickson, M.D.; and Tracy W. Jungman,

N.P. against Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,

Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network.

DEFAULT JUDGMENT - 1
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

THE STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST.
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual;
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiff(s),
..VS...

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendant(s).

Case No. CV01-22-6789

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND
ORDER FOR PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR
PLAINTIFFS

In Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs sought injunctive relief in additional

to any damages awarded by the jury. The Defendants were allowed to participate in the jury trial

on damages including jury selection, opening statements, cross-examination and closing

arguments, but all Defendants failed to appear. After seven days of trial on the issue of damages,

the jury awarded the Plaintiffs certain monetary relief on their claims. The equitable relief in the

form of injunctive relief was not before the jury as injunctive relief is for the Court to decide.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 1
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Having reviewed the docket, the admitted facts in the Fourth Amended Complaint due to
the Defendants’ default in this lawsuit, and being informed by both the evidence presented in the
trial on monetary damages as well as the jury’s verdicts on the Special Verdict Form, the Court

issues its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the request for permanent injunctive relief.

Findings of Fact

These findings of fact are primarily based on the live testimony and exhibits presented at
the jury trial on damages. The exhibits are extensive and set forth the specific “statements” of the
Defendants through videos, internet postings, publications, etc. The statements speak for
themselves as to who made or published the statement. The statements and publications are too
numerous to repeat in this case, but each exhibit was testified to in Court and only the admitted
exhibits were relied on by the Court.

The testimony on the underlying events as well as care of the C.A. (the “Infant”) were
relevant at trial to provide background and context regarding the conduct of the Defendants. These
findings of fact are supported by the substantial and competent evidence provided by credible
witnesses and exhibits admitted during the trial. The Court will generally refer to the nature of
statements and the contents of the statements without citing all the exhibits to support each finding
of fact. All exhibits admitted are part of the Court record in this matter.

1. The Plaintiffs brought this action in response to the Defendants’ statements and

publications made against the named Plaintiffs, the trespass that occurred on

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
- Page 2
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St. Luke’s’ hospitals in Meridian and Boise. The events that started the interactions
between Plaintiffs and Defendants centered on the medical care of the Infant.

Nurse Practitioner Nadia Kravchuk, the Infant’s primary care provider (PCP) saw the
ten month old Infant on or about March 1, 2022. The Infant was severely dehydrated
and the parents said the baby was vomiting. The Infant had lost approximately 4 pounds
since its six-month wellness visit. NP Kravchuk’s office was unable to provide the
necessary care and IV to rehydrate the Infant in her office. The parents were directed
to the St. Luke’s Boise Hospital emergency room where the Infant could be rehydrated.
The Emergency Room (ER) doctor on duty at St. Luke’s determined not only was the
Infant severely dehydrated, but the Infant was suffering from severe malnutrition. The
ER doctor consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalist on duty, Dr. Erickson, who agreed
the Infant should be admitted. Dr. Erickson agreed with the ER doctor’s diagnosis of
severe malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Erickson testified the condition of the Infant
was dire and without proper medical intervention, the Infant was at risk organ failure
and possible death. This was NOT a healthy baby when it arrived at the hospital on
March 1, 2022. The parents reported to Dr. Erickson that the Infant was doing well
until about 7 months of age and then reoccurring vomiting started and such vomiting
would continue for several days. See, Exhibit 1, page 12.

Dr. Erickson is Board-Certified in both General Pediatrics and Pediatrics Hospital
Medicine. She a highly trained pediatric doctor. Dr. Erickson consulted with the parents

regarding the condition of the Infant. The parents agreed to the care plan to rehydrate

! The Court will prefer to Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd. and St. Luke’s Regional
Medical Center Ltd. Collectively as “St. Luke’s.”

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 3
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and increase caloric intake for the Infant recommended by Dr. Erickson. At no time did
Dr. Erickson threaten the parents to call child support enforcement if the parents did
not agree to the treatment plan.

The parents did not want the Infant vaccinated. No medical provider vaccinated the
Infant and that preference of the parents was respected. There was testimony by Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman, the parents’ decision not to vaccinate the Infant did not in
any way impact the care plan for the Infant or the respect shown the parents.

Prior treatment medical records for the Infant’s medical care since birth were not
provided by the parents and could not be obtained by Dr. Erickson beyond NP
Kravchuk’s limited records. This led to some additional tests being run to rule out other
potential causes for the Infant’s condition. Dr. Erickson noted the Infant was failing to
thrive.

With proper medical intervention and treatment, including IVs to rehydrate, bottle
feedings as well as additional feedings through a nasogastric feeding tube (NG tube),
the Infant’s medical condition improved.

Dr. Erickson arranged for St. Luke’s staff and social worker to assist parents apply for
and receive Medicaid so there would be no out-of-pocket cost to the family for the
Infant’s care. The family had no medical bills that were not paid by Medicaid for the
Infant’s care.

Dr. Erickson also arranged for a home health nurse to come to the Infant’s home to
check on the progress of the child and to help with any further needs for the child and
family members caring for the child. Dr. Erickson explained, and the parents seemed

to understand, that continuing the additional caloric intake was critical as the feeding

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 4

880



10.

11.

12.

13.

plan being used prior to the hospitalization was insufficient to allow the Infant to grow
and thrive. Regular weight check-ins were also critical for determining if the Infant was
or was not continuing with gaining weight as he had done in the hospital. The parents
were trained on how do complete additional feedings via the NG tube. The parents were
also advised to continue breast-feeding the Infant in addition to the other necessary
feedings.

On March 4, 2022, the Infant’s medical condition had improved to where the Infant
could be cared for at home and the Infant was released to the parents with discharge
instructions and verbal commitments by the parents they would comply with the
instructions and call if they had questions or needed any further assistance.

The parents did not follow the discharge instructions for care for the Infant. Nor would
the parents allow the home health nurse to come to their home to check on the Infant
on March 5, 2022 or March 6, 2022.

Finally, on March 7, 2022, the parents took the Infant to NP Dkystra (who was not a
St. Luke’s medical provider but who St. Luke’s had connected the family with as he
would be able to assist with the NG tube and NP Kravchuk indicated she was not able
to provide that level of care for the Infant). At this appointment, the Infant’s weight had
dropped since it was released from the hospital. NP Dkystra advised the parents how
to increase caloric intake and set another appointment for March 11, 2022 to check the
Infant’s weight.

On March 11, 2022, the parents missed bringing the Infant to the scheduled

appointment.
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15.

16.

17.

18.

On March 11, 2022, NP Aaron Dkystra (not any doctor, NP or staff member of St.
Luke’s) called Department of Health and Welfare Child Protection Services (CPS)
regarding his concern about the Infant and requesting a check on the child to make sure
the weight of the Infant was not continuing to drop and thus endangering the Infant’s
life. NP Dkystra had a statutory duty to report his concerns regarding medical neglect
by the Infant’s parents.

A Department of Health and Welfare (DHW) Safety Assessor was assigned to the case.
She also made contact with NP Jungman and law enforcement who regularly assist
with investigation and welfare checks on children.

Going into a weekend, the need to have the Infant’s status checked became a greater
concern for the Infant’s well-being. The DHW Safety Assessor came to Ms. Jungman’s
office to discuss the referral regarding the Infant. NP Jungman reviewed limited
medical records. The DHW Safety Assessor could not reach the Infant’s parents. NP
Jungman said she would stay at work to see the Infant if parents would bring the Infant
in.

NP Jungman has been a nurse or nurse practitioner for over 24 years. She is highly
skilled based on her studies and work experience. She specializes her practice in
providing clinical care and evaluation of children. She has also been trained in and has
extensive experience in CPS process.

On March 12, 2022, the parents called and indicated they would take the child to St.
Luke’s Children at Risk Evaluation Services (commonly referred to by its acronym
CARES unit) for a weigh-in and wellness check at 4:00 p.m. The parents never arrived

for the appointment.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Detective Fuller of the Meridian Police Department consulted with Nurse Practitioner
Jungman at CARES about what to look for when they were able to put eyes on the
Infant to determine if the Infant was or was not doing well. Detective Fuller is
experienced at CPS investigations and is trained in the legal standard necessary to
remove a child from his or her parents’ care.

Law enforcement attempted contact with the parents to check on the Infant at the home
address provided. Defendant Rodriguez answered the door and would not let law
enforcement check on the child.

Later that evening, law enforcement was able to track parents down in a vehicle and
initiated a traffic stop to investigate the CPS referral and check on the Infant’s welfare.
Defendants had communicated with their followers and had a large number of persons
arrive at the gas station where the traffic stop occurred.

With the Infant being held by its mother, Detective Fuller did a welfare check on the
child. The NG tube was no longer in place. The Infant presented with symptoms and
observations indicating it was not doing well and was in imminent danger. The Infant
and his mother were taken to the ambulance.

In the ambulance, the Infant was removed from the mother due to Detective Fuller’s
determination the Infant was in imminent danger. Detective Fuller completed the
paperwork to take the Infant into the custody of DHW and to get the Infant transported
to the nearest ER.

The Emergency Medical Technicians at the scene determined the Infant was “medically

stable to transport.” “Medically stable to transport™ status is not the same as a patient
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27.

28.

29.

30.

being medically stable and healthy and in no need of further medical care. It is simply
a determination it is safe to transport the patient in the ambulance to the hospital.

The Infant was transported to the closest hospital, St. Luke’s Meridian hospital, by
ambulance.

At the ER, Dr. Rachel Thomas examined the Infant. She is a Board-Certified
Emergency Room doctor who also has extensive medical experience and training
involving children, including treatment of malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Thomas
also determined the Infant was in imminent danger/harm and needed a higher level of
care that could be provided at the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital at the main St. Luke’s
hospital in Boise.

Even after a bottle feeding in the ER in which the Infant gulped down 6 ounces of
formula, Dr. Thomas noted the Infant’s weight was less than the weight when the Infant
Jeft the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital on March 4, 2022. Dr. Thomas diagnosed the
Infant with severe malnutrition and dehydration that could lead to death if not
immediately addressed.

Dr. Thomas testified that the defamatory statements and postings about her by the
Defendants have led to emotional stress such that she is taking a break from medicine
and leaving the community with her family for an extended period of time. It is her
hope she will able to return and actively continue her medical career.

Defendant Bundy arrived at St. Luke’s Meridian and with others blocked the
ambulance bay from other ambulances being able to come to the hospital. Bundy was
demanding release of the Infant even though he was not a family member or guardian

of the Infant.
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32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

The protesters grew in number. The Meridian Police were called. The access doors to
the ambulance bay were locked. Bundy was eventually trespassed from the private
property of St. Luke’s and was arrested along with another person engaged in the
protests in the ambulance bay.

With active protesting occurring at the ER, Dr. Thomas consulted with hospital security
and the Meridian Police Department and had the Infant safely transported to the
Children’s Hospital after determining the Infant was medically stable to be transported.
Dr. Thomas called Dr. Erickson and asked to have the Infant admitted. Dr. Erickson
agreed to the admission and immediately went to the hospital to assist with the
admission of the Infant to St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital and to begin further treatment.
Even though the Infant was in the custody of the DHW, St. Luke’s medical
professionals informed the parents of the care plan and the parents consented to all
treatment provided by Dr. Erickson as well as by the other Pediatric Hospitalists caring
for the Infant.

Dr. Erickson confirmed the Infant had in fact lost significant weight? since its release
on March 5, 2022. Another NG tube was placed, and feedings and hydration began on
the Infant.

Other Pediatric Hospitalists also provided care for the Infant when Dr. Erickson was

not on duty.

2 It is important to note that while the amounts of weight loss or gain in this case may not
“sound” significant, for the age and size of the Infant in this case and where the Infant was
measured at being on the growth chart (in lower than 0.5% of all infants this age), the weight loss
was significant and could lead to organ failure and death.
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38.

39.

40.

41

NP Jungman also consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalists and participated in the phone
and in-person communications with the parents during the time the Infant was at the
Children’s Hospital. She also stayed involved in the care when the Infant was released
to DHW’s caregiver.

The parents were regularly updated by St. Luke’s employees about the Infant’s status
and were allowed to visit and hold the Infant for approximately two hours at the hospital
on or about March 13, 2022. Other visits and communications also occurred while the
Infant was at the Children’s Hospital.

While the Infant was being treated at the Children’s Hospital, the Defendants Bundy
and Rodriguez, in conjunction with multiple communications sent out by the other
Defendants, organized protestors at St. Luke’s Boise Hospital. The protests involved
hundreds of people including people armed with weapons. Defendant Rodriguez made
statements on March 14, 2022 that the Infant was being abused and mistreated by St.
Luke’s.

On March 12, 2022, the Defendants and followers of the Defendants were instructed
by Bundy, Rodriguez and the websites or communications from People’s Rights
Network (PRN) and Freedom Man Press LLC to disrupt the operations of the St. Luke’s

by jamming the phone lines complaining and demanding the release of the Infant.

. Bundy and Rodriguez would not leave the private property of St. Luke’s when asked.

Boise Police and Idaho State Troopers were brought in to maintain the security of the

hospital.
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43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

Eventually, the threat of risk of harm to patients, patients’ families, employees and a
breach of the hospital became too great and the hospital was forced into lockdown and
to close the hospital to new patients.

Armed protesters and followers of the Defendants attempted to enter the hospital even
after it was locked down.

After it was discovered that the Infant had been removed from the hospital, the
protesters moved their demonstrations to DHW offices.

The Infant was doing better and was discharged from St. Luke’s on March 15, 2022 to
DHW custody. The parents were allowed more and more time with the Infant by DHW
as part of the safety/reunification plan.

Through intensive medical efforts, the Infant began gaining weight and his risk of
imminent harm was eliminated. The Infant required ongoing monitoring to make sure
it was continuing to gain weight and thrive. Additional calories were being given via
the NG tube by the Infant’s caregivers.

DHW stayed in regular communication with CARES and the parents regarding care of
the Infant. NP Jungman along with the Medical Director of CARES evaluated the
Infant 3-4 times and the Infant was gaining weight.

On March 18, 2022, the parents called DHW as the feeding tube had inadvertently
come out while the parents had care of the Infant as part of DHW’s safety/reunification
plan. The parents did not want to go to hospital or have the Infant seen at their home.
The parents requested NP Jungman reinstall the NG tube. DHW arranged a place and

time to meet the parents away from protesters who were at the main DHW office. NP
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50.

51.

Jungman reinstalled the NG tube in the Infant, following applicable standards of care
for such a procedure.

NP Jungman and the CARES Medical Director evaluated the Infant again on March 23,
2022 with the parents present. The follow-up weight check showed the Infant was
continuing to progress. The Infant was more interactive than at previous visits. Home
health and PCP care was discussed again with parents.

Dr. Michael Whelan, a Board-Certified Pediatrician who works at St. Alphonsus,
testified he concurred in the diagnosis and all of the care provided to the Infant. He
confirmed based on the medical records that the Infant was in imminent danger based
on its dehydration and malnutrition and the Infant was failing to thrive. He further
opined that all care provided met the standard of care and there was no medical
malpractice or misdiagnoses by any medical practitioner and specifically not by either
of the named plaintiffs, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman. He opined the NG tube was
necessary and appropriate both times at the hospital. He opined the discharge
instructions from St. Luke’s were appropriate. He opined the re-installation of the NG
tube by NP Jungman was within the standard of care and did not cause any infection
or disease to the Infant as the placement of the tube was into a non-sterilized location
of the body, the stomach. He opined the re-installation of the HG tube did not cause an
infection in the Infant.

Dr. Whelan also opined the parents of the Infant were “medically neglectful” fof not
following through on discharge instructions and with follow up visits for weight checks

to make sure feedings were providing the Infant with sufficient caloric intake. Dr.
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53.

54.

55.

Whelan opined he believed the parents knew the Infant had lost weight after first time
Infant was released from hospital on March 4, 2022.

Dr. Whelan opined that, based on all the outside pressure by Defendants, St. Luke’s,
Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman performed very well and there was no evidence that the
Infant was not improving while in the care of St. Luke’s.

Based on the testimony of Kyle Bringhurst, the Ada County Deputy Prosecutor who
handled the Infant’s case and has 8-9 years of experience involving CPS cases, the CPS
proceedings and requisite findings for placement into DHW custody occurred as
required by statute. A shelter hearing was held on March 15, 2022 and a mandatory
adjudicative hearing was set. A Notice of Dismissal by the State was filed on or about
May 4, 2022, so the adjudicatory hearing set for May was vacated. The Infant was
returned to the custody of the parents with a safety plan.

David Jeppesen, Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, also testified the
CPS process is defined by statute and was followed in this case. The courts, not the
DHW, decide if a child is allowed to return to his or her parents. The goal is to reunite
children with their parents and this goal in Idaho is achieved in about 65% of the CPS
cases (which is much higher than the national average).

Director Jeppesen also testified the DHW does not get “extra money” for placing a
child in the care of DHW per the CPS statute. The legislature sets the budget for the
DHW and there is no increase in monies to the DHW for children taken into temporary
custody under the CPS. Director Jeppesen also testified that allegations of child
trafficking or kidnapping are untrue. While there are some adoptions of children whose

parents are not fit to raise them, this is in accordance with Idaho’s statutes and court
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57.

58.

approval is required for all such adoptions. Finally, such adoptions do not happen
frequently and there is no preference for persons of a particular sexual orientation as
alleged by Defendants.

Immediately after the CPS referral was made and the Infant was removed from the
parents, the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, through their own statements, video
postings, communications with their followers and their internet postings on the
websites of the other Defendants: Peoples Rights Network (PRN), Freedom Man Press,
LLC and Ammon Bundy for Governor -- which Bundy and/or Rodriguez controlled--
began doxxing® and intimidating the Plaintiffs, other medical providers as well as
anyone involved in the CPS matter (including but not limited to law enforcement, the
prosecuting attorney, the judge handling the confidential CPS court proceedings, and
the Safety Assessor for DHW). .

Defendants’ statements were intended to damage the reputations of the Plaintiffs;
invade the privacy of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman; to shut down St. Luke’s
Hospital; and to threaten harm to those involved in the CPS case involving the Infant.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez are actively involved in and are spokepersons for
PRN. Defendant Rodriguez controls and authors many of the statements posted on
Defendant Freedom Man Press, LLC’s website, which published Bundy and
Rodriguez’s defamatory statements on the internet and on other extremist media
outlets. Bundy and Rodriguez hold themselves out to be anti-government activists

motivated by certain religious beliefs. Bundy encourages militia-style training for his

3 Doxxing includes publicly identifying or publishing private information about a person as a
form of punishment or revenge.
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59.

60.

61.

followers. He urges his followers to take action outside the law to protect their rights.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man Press, LLC are willing to
encourage others to join them in using violence to reach their objectives and to harass
public employees such as law enforcement, DHW employees, CPS prosecutors, and
judges.

Bundy and Rodriguez used the tactic of “public shaming” through false and defamatory
narratives to intimidate and defame the Plaintiffs. This included but was not limited to
accusing the Plaintiffs to be involved in kidnapping, child trafficking, child abduction,
abusing children, and stealing children for money and pedophilia. This intimidation
also included releasing private information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman which put these Plaintiffs and their families at risk of harm as testified to at
trial.

PRN was a supporter of Ammon Bundy for Governor, and the events in this case were
the topic of Bundy at political gatherings, and defamatory statements about Plaintiffs
were made by Bundy at his political events and made for the indirect purpose of raising
campaign contributions.

Spencer Forby, an expert on extremist organizations as well as a highly trained law
enforcement officer and instructor on de-escalating situations, crowd control and
SWAT techniques, opined that Defendants Bundy, Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man
Press, LLC, used their defamatory statements and disinformation rhetoric to trigger
their followers to a call for action based on false premises, which then led to Defendants
Bundy and Rodriguez creating conspiracy theories of heinous criminal allegations by

Plaintiffs without any factual basis. In order to maximize the involvement of the
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63.

64.

Defendants’ followers, there was a strategic coordination of the false and defamatory
messages being repeated over websites controlled by Defendants and shared with other
extremist media outlets.

Defendants’ followers then quickly joined the protest at the hospital and the efforts
outside Idaho to disrupt the business of St. Luke’s by flooding the phone lines. The
false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez were then used by followers
and the Defendants to harass and intimidate the Plaintiffs via verbal, in-person and
online threats.

Bundy directed his followers to be ready to “fight it out on the street.” Bundy and
Rodriguez created a false and defamatory conspiracy theory against the Plaintiffs and
repeated it over and over again in an effort to have St. Luke’s put out of business and
the medical providers to lose their jobs. The Plaintiffs testified they believed the
statements presented real threats of violence to them personally as well as their
families. Plaintiffs testified as to the specific steps they took as a result of the
intimidation and defamatory statements to protect themselves and their family
members. Plaintiffs also testified to having to daily track the social media of all the
Defendants to weigh and prepare for threatened harm.

According to Jessica Flynn, an expert on reputational harm, and Beth Toal, St. Luke’s
Vice President for Communications, Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s tactics are deliberate
and intentional. Their marketing techniques and use of social media have the effect of
disseminating knowingly defamatory information and disinformation to radicalize their
followers and at the same time get media coverage of their actions and raise monies for

their organizations based on their defamatory statements. The Defendants wanted their
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65.

66.

67.

68.

messages to go viral as well as deep and wide, and to have lasting effects. The
Defendants wanted their social media attack and protests to prevent St. Luke’s from
providing services to others. The Defendants also created a clear connection in their
social media for contributions to support their conduct. The media recognition gained
by the Defendants through their disinformation and defamatory statements is intended
to raise their individual profiles as well as their organizations’ profiles.

The extremist and marketing experts testified the Defendants also used the Infant being
taken into CPS custody to increase their own visibility on the internet and in the
community as well as to raise money for themselves through the organizations they
controlled. This conduct continues to the present and it is not expected to stop asitisa
source of fundraising for Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s organizations.

Defendants Bundy and Rodriquez organized and promoted the protests at St. Luke’s.
These protests involved armed individuals, which is consistent with Bundy’s
involvement in prior protests and his statements/trainings of his followers about the use
of force. The experts testified that the militia training promoted and offered by PRN
creates a threat and possible risk of physical harm.

On the advice of law enforcement, who indicated they could not restrain the number of
protesters (estimated to be 400 persons), St. Luke’s was forced to lock down the entire
downtown campus and to redirect patients to other facilities.

The lockdown also prevented families from entering the hospital to see their loved
ones, prevented third parties from seeking care or attending a scheduled appointment

at the Boise campus, and prevented employees from coming or leaving their shifts.
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70.

71.

72.

73.

St. Luke’s Chief Financial Officer as well as Dennis Reinstien, CPA, testified that
economically St. Luke’s lost significant revenue from cancelled treatment or
appointments. St. Luke’s also incurred additional security costs during the protests and
had to increase the number of individuals involved in security at all of its facilities to
be prepared for future protests organized by the Defendants.
The Defendants knew or reasonably should have known the statements they were
making were false and defamatory. Defendant Rodriguez is the grandfather of the
Infant and the medical records provided to his daughter (mother of the Infant) easily
could have been reviewed by him. Instead, he made false and defamatory statements
regarding the health of the Infant, the actual medical care diagnoses and the care
provided. |
Rodriguez also claimed without any legal statutory support that the actions of the CPS
were unlawful and was involved with a marketing plan for donations for the Infant and
its family, as well as to monetize his and Bundy’s organizations.
No evidence was presented that any of the Defendants have medical training,
knowledge or education to support their false and defamatory statements regarding the
Infant’s health status and the need for medical care.
The intentional, materially false and malicious defamatory statements by the
Defendants include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by CPS.

b. St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

c. The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or St.

Luke’s.
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St. Luke’s, St. Luke’s management, law enforcement, DHW, the courts, and
the medical practitioners are all involved in a conspiracy to engage in
criminal child trafficking, kidnapping children and stealing children to
make money.

The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

DHW makes more money for every child it takes into CPS custody and that
is why the DHW kidnaps and traffics children and only allows certain
people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt children.

St. Luke’s and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently harmed
or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or misdiagnosed
the Infant.

St. Luke’s reported the parents to CPS.

Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with CPS if the parents did not agree
to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the hospital

because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.

. The family was discriminated against because the Infant was unvaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars of medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke’s or any medical provider.

m. The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the Infant.
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75.

76.

n. The Infant was released from the Children’s Hospital and returned to
directly to the family due to the protesters’ or Defendants’, actions.*

These false statements were repeated again and again by Defendants, including using
links to the statements on other websites and video recordings. “Wanted” posters were
made for Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman (as well as others involved who
were doxxed) and posted on the internet as well as distributed at the protests at the St.
Luke’s Boise campus. The Plaintiffs and others involved in the events were repeatedly
threatened by Defendants’ actions of encouraging their followers to take action into
their own hands and disclosing personal information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and
NP Jungman. Phone messages to St. Luke’s from followers across the county repeated
the false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez.
St. Luke’s senior management officers testified it is now more difficult to recruit
doctors and other medical providers to Idaho due to the events surrounding the Infant
and the Defendants’ harassment and defamatory statements towards St. Luke’s and its
employees.
The defamatory statements by the Defendants were completely unfounded, false, made
intentionally, and maliciously harmed the reputations of the Plaintiffs and others who
were doxxed. These false statements invaded the privacy of Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman by portraying them in a false light as persons who harm
children. The defamatory statements and conduct of the Defendants intentionally

inflicted emotional distress on Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman as

* The Infant was returned to its parents by the Court through the dismissal of the CPS case, not
the actions of Defendants.
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78.

79.

well as other parties who were doxxed and threatened. Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman all presented substantial and credible evidence of the actual harm they (and
their families) suffered due to Defendants’ defamatory statements, invasion of privacy
and intentional infliction of emotional distress upon Plaintiffs by attacking their
professional reputations.

Experts Devin Burghart, Spencer Fomby, and Jeésica Flynn all testified that once on
the internet, it is difficult to remove defamatory statements from the internet. In this
case, the Defendants took steps to regularly re-post prior videos and postings and to
create links to the false statements on the website of other media sources, thereby
knowingly increasing the viewers of the published defamatory statements. The original
posts as well as present statements continue on the Internet such as when Bundy or
Rodriguez are quoted with links to other websites about this litigation. See Idaho
Dispatch quotes and postings in the Declaration of Jennifer Jensen in support of the
requested injunctive relief.

The extremist organization experts testified the defamatory statements are re-posted by
the Defendants in order to keep them in the news and to generate new followers and
more donations.

C.P. “Abby” Abbodandolo, Senior Director of Security for St. Luke’s, who has
extensive hospital security and law enforcement experience, testified he was shocked
how quickly the Defendants could mobilize their followers to protest, make signs, and
come armed and ready to take action. He also testified the Defendants and their

followers create an ongoing threat to St. Luke’s operations throughout the state.
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81.

82.

The DHW Safety Assessor left DHW employment and moved out of state due to the
doxxing. Dr. Thomas testified she is leaving and moving from the state for a period of
time in hopes that she can safely return to practice medicine. Employees left St. Luke’s
employment due to the protesting and intimidation. Dr. Erickson has considered
leaving a job she loves due to the ongoing emotional distress and intimidation of the
Defendants. NP Jungman has suffered and continues to suffer from emotional distress,
and the intimidation affects how she interacts with parents of other patients.

The extremist group experts Burghart, Fomby, and Flynn described both Bundy and
Rodriquez as an anti-government activists, conflict disrupters, and disrupter
entrepreneurs. Their business model is to raise money for themselves or the
organizations they control from followers based on false, fraudulent and defamatory
statements. The Defendants have used disinformation (misinformation that is
intentionally spread) to harm Plaintiffs.

Dr. Camille LaCroix, Forensic Psychiatrist, testified as to the continuing emotional
distress to Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman, and that this is not likely to go away and gets
worse every time there is a new or a re-posting of a defamatory statement, an article or
threat against them personally. Dr. Erickson’s husband testified as to the need to
continually monitor social media postings to make sure his wife and family are safe.
According to Dr. LaCroix, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman can be triggered and suffer
more emotional distress by the re-posting of defamatory statements and invasions of
their privacy that cause them to change how they treat others and how they protect their

families.
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84.

85.

86.

Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman each testified that defamatory statements, harassment
and intimidation as a result of Defendants’ actions affects their life every day
professional and in their personal relationships. Both testified as to the constant fear
they have due to Defendants defamatory attacks in the newspapers, on tv, and on the
internet.
The evidence provided at the jury trial was substantial and competent evidence that
established the claims of defamation, invasion of privacy and intentional infliction of
emotional distress due to the Defendants’ conduct. These claims were satisfied by the
applicable burden of proofs of preponderance and clear and convincing evidence.
As to the defamation claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants communicated information concerning the Plaintiffs to others;
b. The information impugned the honesty, integrity, virtue or reputation of the
Plaintiffs or exposed the Plaintiffs to public hatred, contempt or ridicule;
¢. The information was false;
d. The Defendants knew it was false or reasonably should have known that it was
false; and

e. Plaintiffs suffered injury caused to the defamation.

As to the Invasion of Privacy claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants placed Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman in a false light
in the public eye by publicly disclosing some falsity or fiction conceming Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

b. A disclosure of some falsity or fiction means that a publication or publications by
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87.

88.

89.

90.

Defendants were materially false.
c. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman suffered injury caused by the
false light invasion of their privacy.
As to the Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claims, the Court finds:
a. Defendants engaged in intentional or reckless conduct;
b. That was extreme and outrageous;
c. Causing severe emotional distress to Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman;
and
d. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman were injured and the
emotional distress was proximately caused by Defendants’ conduct.
The Defendants’ defamatory statements including allegations of conspiracy by the
Plaintiffs, law enforcement, the courts and DHW to engage in criminal conduct against
children is not supported by any evidence.
The false and defamatory statements were made as part of a tactical and sustained
marketing campaign to defame and smear the reputations of the Plaintiffs, incite
unlawful conduct by Defendants’ followers, create a fear of future physical harm to
Plaintiffs, and to create an incentive for followers to make donations to Defendants or
organizations they controlled.
The Defendants actions in this case, as well as the fact that they refuse to stop making
defamatory statements, repeat past defamatory statements, presents a continuing threat
of actual irreparable harm to Plaintiffs. The continuing threat has led to St. Luke’s

increasing its security at each of its hospitals. The named Plaintiffs continue to be the

subject of threats by Defendants or their followers. The threats include but are not
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limited to personal, professional or family member harm through Defendants internet
presence and re-posting of prior defamatory statements. A prior Protection Order by
the Court has failed to deter Defendants from making knowingly false and defamatory

statements and repeating such statements.

Conclusions of Law

The Court requested supplemental legal support for Plaintiffs position they are entitled to
equitable relief in the form a permanent injunction. Plaintiffs file a memorandum and supplemental
brief and declaration in support of the request injunctive relief. In the Declaration of Jennifer M.
Jensen, she indicates the Idaho Dispatch (which is not a party to this lawsuit) continues to post
Defendant Rodriguez’s and Bundy’s defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and counsel
involved in this case on the internet even after the jury trial on damages has ended. Defendant
Rodriquez filed an “Answer to Request for Permanent Injunctive Relief.”> The Court has
considered the findings of fact and the entire court record including Rodgriguez’s filings in making

its ruling on injunctive relief.

1. Whether or not to grant permanent injunctive relief is within the discretion of the

trial court.

5 Defendant Rodriguez claims in part there has never been an evidence-based trial as to whether
or not the things he said were true and he believes all his statements were true. The Court notes
the jury trial was evidence-based (with testimony and admitted exhibits), but Defendant
Rodriguez elected not to attend and cross examine witnesses or challenge the admissibility of
evidence. Defendant Rodriguez also claims injunctive relief is a violation of his First
Amendment rights. For the reasons discussed in this Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,
the Court finds injunctive relief is allowed as a matter of law and appropriate in this case.
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In Gem State Roofing, Incorporated v. United Components, Incorporated, 168 Idaho 820,
828, 488 P.3d 488, 496 (2021), the Idaho Supreme Court held “The granting or refusal of an
injunction is a matter resting largely in the trial court’s discretion.” (citing Higginson v.
Westergard, 100 Idaho 687, 689, 604 P.2d 51, 53 (1979). In applying its discretion, this Court
must: (1) correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion; (2) act within the outer boundaries of
its discretion; (3) act consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices
available to it; and (4) reach its decision by the exercise of reason. Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163
Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018). The Supreme Court in Gem State Roofing went on to

discuss the different standards for preliminary versus permanent injunctions:

As an initial observation, UCI's reliance on the standard for a preliminary
injunction is inapposite. Rule 65(e) enumerates five grounds for entry of a
preliminary injunction. A preliminary injunction is a temporary injunction
effective for the pendency of the litigation before the merits of the case are
decided. LR.C.P. 65(e). Preliminary injunctions are designed to protect clearly
established rights from imminent or continuous violation during litigation. See
Gordon v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 166 Idaho 105, 455 P.3d 374, 384 (2019)
(quoting Brady v. City of Homedale, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704, 707
(1997)) (“A district court should grant a preliminary injunction ‘only in extreme
cases where the right is very clear and it appears that irreparable injury will flow
from its refusal.”””). A permanent injunction, on the other hand, is entered at the
resolution of the case, and requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable
injury; in addition, in order to deny a permanent injunction the trial court must be
persuaded that there is “no reasonable expectation that the wrong will be
repeated.” O’'Boskey, 112 Idaho at 1007, 739 P.2d at 306. In other words, a trial
court may appropriately deny a preliminary injunction at the outset of a case when
there are complex issues of fact and law yet to resolve, but correctly grant a
permanent injunction once those issues have been resolved in favor of the
plaintiff.

Gem State Roofing, 168 Idaho 820, 834-35, 488 P.3d 488, 502-03 (2021).

In this case, the Court finds based on the Findings of Fact and the Declaration of Jennifer

Jensen, the Plaintiffs have established by substantial and competent evidence of threatened or
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actual irreparable damage as well as a reasonable expectation that the wrong will be repeated by
the Defendants if permanent injunctive relief is not granted. The jury’s monetary damages, if able
to be collected, are inadequate to protect Plaintiffs from continued and ongoing injuries to their
reputations, privacy, emotional health, ability to practice their chosen professions and reside in the
community without fear, and to allow the community to trust that St. Luke’s hospital system is not
in any way engaged in heinous criminal conduct towards its patients. Balancing the hardships
between Plaintiffs and Defendants’ alleged chilling of their freedom of speech rights, the balance
tips in favor of Plaintiffs. A remedy in equity is warranted as defamatory speech is not protected
free speech. Finally, the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction of the
scope outlined in this decision. The permanent injunctive relief is appropriate to eliminate the
ongoing irreparable threatened and actual harm to all Plaintiffs.

2. Defendants’ defamatory statements are not protected speech under the First

Amendment.

The United States is a republic founded on the doctrine of the rule of law. What that means
is all persons are expected to follow the laws adopted through our representational form of
government. It also means all persons, no matter their status, wealth or beliefs must follow the rule
of law.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting

the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press or the

right of the people to peacefully assemble, and to petition the Government for a

redress of grievances.

However, these rights are not absolute. Every right under the Constitution is subject to limits, and

a person or entity cannot make or publish knowingly false statements that intentionally cause

reputational or other damage to another and then hide behind the First Amendment as a shield. The
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United States Supreme Court has recognized categories of speech that the government can regulate
because of the content of the speech, as long as the government does so evenhandedly. See R.A.V.
v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377 (1992) (categories of speech that are limited: obscenity,
defamation, fraud, incitement, fighting words, true threats, speech integral to criminal conduct,
and child pornography). In R.4.V. the Court stated:

The First Amendment generally prevents government from proscribing speech, see,
e.g., Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 309-311, 60 S.Ct. 900, 905-906, 84
L.Ed. 1213 (1940), or even expressive conduct, see, e.g., Texas v. Johnson, 491
U.S. 397, 406, 109 S.Ct. 2533, 2540, 105 L.Ed.2d 342 (1989), because of
disapproval of the ideas expressed. Content-based regulations are presumptively
invalid. Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd., 502
U.S. 105, 115, 112 S.Ct. 501, 508, 116 L.Ed.2d 476 (1991) id., at 124, 112 S.Ct.,
at 512-513 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment); Consolidated Edison Co. of
N.Y. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N.Y., 447 U.S. 530, 536, 100 S.Ct. 2326, 2332~
2333, 65 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980); Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 95,
92 S.Ct. 2286, 2289-2290, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972). From 1791 to the present,
however, our society, like other free but civilized societies, has permitted
restrictions upon the content of speech in a few limited areas, which are “of such
slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from them
is clearly outweighed by the social interest in order and morality.” Chaplinsky,
supra, 315 U.S., at 572, 62 S.Ct. at 762. We have recognized that “the freedom of
speech” referred to by the First Amendment does not include a freedom to disregard
these traditional limitations. See, e.g., Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 77 S.Ct.
1304, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957) (obscenity); Beauharnais v. lllinois, 343 U.S. 250, 72
S.Ct. 725, 96 L.Ed. 919 (1952) (defamation); Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire, supra
(“ “fighting” words”); see generally Simon & Schuster, supra, 502 U.S., at 124,112
S.Ct.,, at 513-514 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment). Our decisions since
the 1960's have narrowed the scope of the traditional categorical exceptions for
defamation, see New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, 11
L.Ed.2d 686 (1964); Geriz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997, 41
L.Ed.2d 789 (1974); see generally Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1,
13-17, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2702-2705, 111 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990), and for obscenity, see
Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973), but a
limited categorical approach has remained an important part of our First
Amendment jurisprudence.

We have sometimes said that these categories of expression are “not within the area
of constitutionally protected speech,” Roth, supra, 354 U.S., at 483, 77 S.Ct,, at
1308; Beauharnais, supra, 343 U.S., at 266, 72 S.Ct., at 735; Chaplinsky, supra,
315 U.S., at 571-572, 62 S.Ct., at 768-769; or that the “protection of the First
Amendment does not extend” to them, Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of United
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States, Inc., 466 U.S. 485,504, 104 S.Ct. 1949, 1961, 80 L.Ed.2d 502 (1984); Sable
Communications of Cal., Inc. v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 124, 109 S.Ct. 2829, 2835,
106 L.Ed.2d 93 (1989).

RA.V. v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 382-83 (1992).

Stated another way, defamation is a limit on both freedom of speech and freedom of the
press. A person or entity cannot say “I believed what I was saying was true” when the undisputed
facts establish those “truths” were known to be false or should have been known to be false by the
Defendants and they were spoken with the specific intent to threaten or cause harm to the other
person or entity.

The defamatory statements made by Defendants here were not just disagreements with the
manner in which the CPS laws are enforced. Instead, the defamatory statements by Defendants
were made intentionally to get others to believe “as true” that Plaintiffs and anyone else involved
in the CPS investigation and court proceedings or medical treatment of the Infant were committing
heinous acts against the Infant, and that St. Luke’s and the other Plaintiffs were “wicked” and
“evil” persons such that they should be removed from their professions and the hospital shut down
from providing all medical care to anyone in our community. There is no evidence (only baseless
allegations by Defendants) of any such conduct by the Plaintiffs or any other party involved in the
CPS case involving the Infant. In a court of law, the party claiming truth as a defense must present
evidence of truth, and Defendants did not do so.

Here, the Defendants’ statements in every possible form were intentional and with reckless
disregard for the truth, fraudulent, malicious and defamatory. As the jury instructions explained,
defamation is the injury to one's reputation either by written expression, which is libel, or by oral
expression, which is slander. The law is well-established that speech which is defamatory and

causes harm is not protected by the First Amendment. As indicated in the above quote from the
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Supreme Court, defamation in our common law existed prior to the founding of this country and
has been recognized since 1791 by our courts. Further, the mere fact that religious beliefs are cited
as motivation for the Defendants’ actions does prevent the statements from being defamatory or
illegal invasions of another’s right to privacy.® Nor does the cloak of the Defendants’ religious
beliefs that the Plaintiffs were “wicked” allow First Amendment protection to the statements such
that the statements cannot also be defamatory.

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed fraudulent statements
made to encourage or induce illegal immigration for financial gain are not protected speech under
the First Amendment. See United States v. Hansen, 2023 WL 4138994,  U. S. , 143 S.Ct.
1932 (2023). “Speech intended to bring about a particular unlawful act has no social value;
therefore, it is unprotected.” Williams, 553 U.S. at 298, 128 S.Ct. 1830.” Id. at 1947 (2023).
Defendants’ conduct in this case included false, fraudulent and defamatory statements made in
part for their own financial gain and such speech is not protected. People are free to give money
to whatever organizations or persons they want, but they should be informed if the statements to
support such donations of monies are not true.

Finally, simply saying a statement over and over does not make it true. It is well-established
law that a person can tell certain lies and those lies are protected by the First Amendment. See
United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709 (2012) where an individual was being criminally prosecuted
for falsely claiming to have received a military medal of honor pursuant to the Stolen Valor Act
was a content-based restriction on free speech. The difference here is that Defendants’ statements
were not lies about themselves; they were false, intentional and defamatory statements about others

which were intended to hurt Plaintiffs’ reputations or businesses. No reasonable person would

¢ Indeed, the Court cannot to find any religious support for bearing false witness against another.
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think these statements were meant for any other purpose than to harm the reputations and to
threaten the persons being attacked by such statements. Such statements are not protected speech
under the First Amendment.

Listening to and watching the videos of the Defendants and the published written
statements of the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez that claim their belief that “they” had the
individual “right” to take the Infant (who is not even their child) back by violence if necessary is
a profound misstatement and misunderstanding of the rule of law. In reality, it is a cry for “vigilante
justice” which is the act of enforcing the law without legal authority to do so. Vigilante justice
does not involve due process and allows one person to be the lawmaker, the law enforcer, the judge
and jury without any investigation into the truth. Vigilante justice is not a “right” an individual or
group of individuals have in this country.

Laws are passed by duly elected persons through a legislative process involving two
representational governmental bodies and then also approved by the executive officer (the
President of the United States or the Governor of a state). Laws are enforced by law enforcement
officers in the executive branch of government. Challenges to the laws as being facially
unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied are for the judicial branch to decide.

| Vigilante justice is not tolerated under the Constitution because it violates the rights of the
accused. Vigilante justice expounded by the Defendants is meant to control others not by the rule
of law, but by intimidation through threats of violence and the public shaming of others.
Defendants clearly believe they are above the law and can operate outside the boundaries of our
laws if they disagree with how the laws are being applied. That is not how our government works.

A party can appeal a court’s ruling and seek appellate review of a decision. The manner in which
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to challenge any court’s ruling is not through threat and intimidation. It is through the judicial
process.

Moreover, if Defendants want the CPS statutes to be revised or changed, then they can
lobby the legislature. While it is unclear exactly what changes to the law the Defendants seek, they
are free to propose changes by working directly with legislators to sponsors bills. The Idaho
Legislature has a long history of protecting children through the DHW, and nothing in this trial
established the procedure approved by the Legislature was not followed or was misapplied based
on the true health status of the Infant and the failure of the parents to allow the Infant to be seen
for follow-up care. In fact, this case is an example of the CPS system working exactly as intended
by the Legislature to protect the well-being of a child.

In several of the published statements by Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez they
encouraged their followers to “follow the money” to prove how children are being harmed,
trafficked, or kidnapped by CPS. No actual evidence was cited for this proposition by the
Defendants and it was proven to be false at trial. Instead, the evidence in this case shows the only
money being “made” by the events involving the Infant were St. Luke’s and other medical
practitioners receiving Medicaid reimbursement for the medical services provided (which was
testified to be 70% of the actual cost of the care) and money flowing from donations by
Defendants’ followers (based on false defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and others) to
Defendants Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Rodriguez, People’s Rights Network, Freedom
Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC.

If Defendants wanted to present a defense of the “truth” of their statements, they could
have participated in this lawsuit or at least the damages trial. They did not. The Court must take

the undisputed facts presented at trial as true. Moreover, independent expert medical testimony as
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well as common sense esfablishes the facts were not as Defendants maintained. The actual
numerous weights taken of the Infant as well as the results of other medical tests and the pictures
of the Infant did not present a healthy infant. Dr. Wheaton testified there was no misdiagnosis or
malpractice by the medical providers.

The Court finds St. Luke’s did not initiate nor threaten to initiate CPS action. Did St. Luke’s
become involved after the Infant was taken into the custody of DHW? Yes. However, no child was
“kidnapped” by the police or doctors. No child was “trafficked” or abused by DHW, the hospital,
the doctors or the courts. Instead, St. Luke’s through its staff and medical providers provided the
necessary medical care the Infant needed (twice) and took care to receive the parents’ consent for
the care provided even though during the second hospitalization was when the Infant was in the
temporary care and custody of DHW. All of the Infant’s medical care was covered by Medicaid
insurance.

Dr. Whelan testified the need for CPS to get involved was due to the parents’ failure to
attend follow-up appointments. In making this last statement, the Court does not in any way believe
the parents intended to harm the Infant. But the parents did neglect the medically needed follow-
up appointments to make sure the Infant was gaining, not losing, weight. New parents have a plan
for how they want to care for their child and they are allowed great freedom in implementing their
plan, until and unless the child’s welfare is at risk. At that point, the DHW has a duty to step in, to
get the child the care it needs and then to develop a reunification plan so the child can return to its

home and thrive,
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3. Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate in this case.

Permanent injunctive relief requiring the Defendants to stop making defamatory statements
about the Plaintiffs, to remove defamatory and harassing statements or posts from online locations
under the Defendants’ control and prohibiting the Defendants from republishing the statements or
posts is appropriate in this case. The statements, internet posts, online interviews made as part of
a sustained campaign of defamation by Defendants and they continue to threaten or cause actual
jrreparable harm to the Plaintiffs. Based on the testimony of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, NP Jungman,
this conduct not only affects the individual Plaintiffs, but it also affects their families, their co-
workers, their work environments. It also continues to negatively impact the reputation of St.
Luke’s in the community. The Court has no expectation that the defamatory statements will stop
by Defendants without a permanent injunction.

This type of conduct can be enjoined by a court. While the Court could not find any on-
point Idaho authority for the factual circumstances presented in this case, the Court can look to
other jurisdictions for persuasive authority for internet smear campaigns. See, e.g., Balboa Island
Vill. Inn, Inc. v. Lemen, 40 Cal. 4th 1141, 1155-57 (2007) (holding that the court may issue an
injunction prohibiting the defendant from repeating statements judicially determined to be defamatory
and rejecting argument that damages are the only remedy for defamation because otherwise the
plaintiff would be required to bring a succession of lawsuits for damages which could be insufficient
to deter the continuing tortious behavior); Advanced Training Sys. v. Caswell Equip. Co., 352 N.W. 2d
1, 11 (Minn. 1984) (affirming permanent injunctive relief prohibiting republication of material found
libelous at trial); Weitsman v. Levesque, Case No. 19-CV-461 JLS (AHG), 2020 WL 6825687, (S.D.

Cal. Nov. 20, 2020) (applying New York law and collecting New York cases that removal orders are
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necessary when parties refuse to depublish); see also St. James Healthcare v. Cole, 178 P.3d 696,
(Mont. 2008) (affirming in part preliminary injunction against harassing and threatening statements).’

In Weitsman, the court ordered permanent injunctive relief when the defendant engaged in a
“sustained Internet defamation campaign” falsely accusing the plaintift of child trafficking. Weitsman,
2020 WL 6825687. The court entered default against the defendant, and the plaintiff obtained an award
of compensatory and punitive damages. Id. The defendant had continued making the defamatory
statements online, despite the litigation and an arrest warrant. Jd. A permanent injunction was
appropriate due to the intentional, sustained campaign of defamation aimed to injure the plaintiff’s
interests, including business interests. See id. The injunction was tailored to (1) require the removal of
statements held to be defamatory whose postings online were under the defendant’s control; and (2)

prohibit the republication of statements held to be defamatory. See id.

The Defendants’ actions attacking Plaintiffs in this case were relentless for over a year and
with the specific intent to harm the reputations of St. Luke’s and the other named Plaintiffs who
did their job to ensure the Infant received necessary medical care. The Defendants continue to the
present time in making defamatory statements to others about the Plaintiffs. There is every
indication based on the Defendants’ conduct over the prior year that the Defendants will continue
to repeat and re-post the defamatory statements if no injunction is entered. The Court recognizes
the Defendants have the means to influence thousands of followers, as they quickly organized
protestors at the hospitals and across the country to disrupt St. Luke’s business. This ability to
mobilize others and to condone violence makes the threatened irreparable harm even more likely.

As several experts testified at trial, that once on the internet, it is difficult to remove
defamatory statements from the internet, a simple retraction is inadequate relief for the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are entitled by law to have all the Defendants do everything in their power and on all
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sites under their control (directly or indirectly) to remove all the judicially determined defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Moreover, the Defendants are ordered to stop making new or
repeating previously made statements or postings with defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs.
Further defamatory statements or invasion of Plaintiffs’ privacy regarding the events with the
Infant by Defendants could lead to new litigation for defamation. This defamation against the
Plaintiffs is not protected by the First Amendment and it must end.

If the defamatory statements are not taken down, they will be repeated and cause more
irreparable threatened or actual harm to the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs have a right under law to seek
injunctive relief from the Court to force the Defendants to stop making and publishing defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs followed the rule of law and legal process for having such
a remedy ordered by the Court. The Plaintiffs proved the statements were intentional, false and
made by Defendants with the specific intent to cause reputational damage to the Plaintiffs and to
invade the Plaintiffs’ privacy. The Defendants continue to try to raise monies based on the
defamatory statements.

4. Scope of injunctive relief.

The Court, in exercising its discretion, finds a permanent injunction is warranted under the
law against the Defendants in this case. The Court exercises its discretion based on the findings of
fact and conclusions of law to grant the equitable relief requested. “A permanent injunction
requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable injury.” Hood v. Poorman, 171 Idaho 176,
519 P.3d 769, 783 (2022) (citing O'Boskey v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Boise, 112 Idaho
1002, 1007, 739 P.2d 301, 306 (1987)). There is a threatened or actual irreparable injury to
Plaintiffs if defamatory statements about the care of the Infant and the Plaintiffs are not stopped.

The Defendants are aware their statements have been found by a jury and court of law to be
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defamatory, so continuing to say the statements are true may expose Defendants to additional legal

liability.

Defendants will be ordered to take the following actions to remove all defamatory

statements and violations of the privacy of the Plaintiffs. Defendants must:

1.

2.

Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all Plaintiffs.
Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
are participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other
abuse, and/or killing of children.

Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority
to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have
authority to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or
images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents
posted links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the

privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

Failure by the Defendants to follow the Order for Permanent Injunctive Relief may lead to

contempt proceedings, sanctions and other legal ramifications.
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Conclusion

Fortunately for the Infant and our community, the Plaintiffs ignored the actions of the
disrupters led by Bundy and Rodriguez and instead made saving the life of the Infant their priority.
Plaintiffs St. Luke’s and Mr. Roth were not distracted from their mission of providing medical
care when needed to any member of our community regardless of a person’s ability to pay. St.
Luke’s followed established medical treatment procedures and DHW followed Court orders, not
the demands of the Defendants. Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman followed their oaths to help and
not harm their patient. But the disinformation continues by Defendants even after the Infant was
returned to its parents by the court through the CPS proceedings, even after the civil lawsuit was
filed, and even after the jury verdict was returned.

Defendants’ continued disinformation regarding the Plaintiffs does not help our
community. The actions and conduct of the Defendants have made our community less safe.
Medical providers and other employees are leaving their professions because of the damage to
their reputations, the invasion of their privacy, the harassment and threats of intimidation by
Defendants. Defendants’ conduct and the conduct of their followers selfishly prevented third
parties from coming to the St. Luke’s hospitals and clinics for care, prevented the family members
of other patients from seeing their loved ones at the hospital, disrupted the care of other patients,
and threatened the safety of employees due to the sheer noise and intimidation of armed protestors
surrounding the Boise hospital. The First Amendment protects and allows citizens to protest, but
the First Amendment does not allow armed citizens to attempt to enter the private property of St.
Luke’s when it was locked down.

The defamatory statements of Defendants against the Plaintiffs have the indirect effect of

making it more difficult to attract medical professionals to Idaho. The defamatory statements have
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and People’s Rights Network
¢/o Ammon Bundy

4615 Harvest Lane

Emmett ID 83617-3601
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Ammon Bundy for Governor (X) Mail
And People’s Rights Network

¢/o Ammon Bundy
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Emmett ID 83617
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1317 Edgewater DR #5077

Orlando, FL 32804
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EXHIBIT H



From: Erik Stidham

Sent: Wednesday, September 20, 2023 9:54 AM

To: ‘Freedom Man Press'

Subject: Cease and Desist-Violation of Permanent Injunction

Attachments: 2023-09-20 Cease and Desist Letter to FM Press.pdf; 2023-09-20 Cease and Desist

Letter to PRN.pdf

Mr. Rodriguez,

You continue to post false statements in violation of the Court’s permanent injunction. See attached.

Regards,

/’ Erik Stidham

HOLLAND & HART LLP
H OI Idnd 800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750, Boise, ID 83702

& H a I't | T: (208) 383-3934

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This message is confidential and may be privileged. If you believe that this email has been sent to you in error, please reply to
the sender that you received the message in error; then please delete this email.
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Erik F. Stidham

Partner

Phone 208.383.3934
efstidham@hollandhart.com

September 20, 2023

VIA U.S. MAIL AND E-MAIL

Freedom Man Press LLC

c/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater Drive, #5077
Orlando, FL 32804

Re: St Luke’setal. v. Ammon Bundy et al.
Violations of Permanent Injunction

Dear Mr. Rodriguez:

As founder and creator of Freedom Man Press LLC (“Freedom Man”), you are on notice
regarding Freedom Man’s continued violation of the Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of
Law and Order for Injunctive Relief, which was issued on August 25, 2023 (“August 25 Order”),
and the Court’s Default Judgment Order, which was issued on August 29, 2023 (“August 29
Order”). The Court’s clerk served you, on behalf of Freedom Man, with these Orders on August
25 and August 29, respectfully. The Orders are enclosed.

In its orders, the Court directs Freedom Man to cease posting and disseminating specific
statements, to remove unlawful content from the internet, and to deactivate unlawful links. See
August 25 Order at 36-39; August 29 Order at 3-6.

Those orders state:

Defendants must:

1. Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all
Plaintiffs.
2. Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or are

participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

3. Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority to
do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Mailing Address Contact

800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750 P.O. Box 2527 p: 208.342.5000 | f: 208.343.8869
Boise, ID 83702-7714 Boise, ID 83701-2527 www.hollandhart.com

Holland & Hart LLP  Anchorage Aspen Billings Boise Boulder Cheyenne Denver Jackson Hole LasVegas Reno Salt Lake City Santa Fe Washington, D.C.
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Freedom Man Press LLC
September 20, 2023
Page 2

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson,
and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have authority
to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or images of Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents posted
links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the privacy of the
Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

August 25 Order at 37.

Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,
Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network are
PERMANENTLY ENJOINED as follows:

a.

Defendants must cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements
against all Plaintiffs. Defamatory statements include:
i.  The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by Child Protective
Services.

ii.  St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

iii.  The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or
St. Luke's.

Iv. St Luke's, St. Luke's management, law enforcement, Idaho Department
of Health and Welfare, the courts, and medical practitioners are all
involved in a conspiracy to engage in criminal child trafficking,
kidnapping children and stealing children to make money.

v.  The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

vi.  ldaho Department of Health and Welfare makes more money for every
child it takes into Child Protective Services custody and that is why the
Idaho Department of Health and Welfare kidnaps and traffics children
and only allows certain people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt
children.

vii.  St. Luke's and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently
harmed or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or
misdiagnosed the Infant.

viii.  St. Luke's reported the parents to Child Protective Services.

ix.  Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with Child Protective Services if
the parents did not agree to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

X.  St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the
hospital because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.
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Xi.

Xii.

Xiil.

Xiv.

Freedom Man Press LLC
September 20, 2023
Page 3

The family was discriminated against because the Infant was not

vaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars in medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke's or any medical provider.

The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the

Infant.

The Infant was released from the St. Luke's Children's Hospital and

returned directly to the family due to the protesters' or Defendants'

actions.
Defendants must cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or are participating in unlawful child kidnapping, child
trafficking, child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children.
Defendants must remove from all online locations or websites Defendants
have authority to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or participating in the child kidnapping, child trafficking,
child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @Real ABundy), https://x.com (handle @RealABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaigh=GAZAG
Defendants must cease disseminating and encouraging others to
disseminate the contact information, personal information, and images of
Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.
Defendants must remove from all online locations and websites Defendants
have authority to do so the contact information, personal information,
and/or images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @RealABundy), https://x.com (handle @Real ABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaign=GAZAG
Defendants must deactivate links to defamatory statements or statements
that invade the privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.
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Freedom Man Press LLC
September 20, 2023
Page 4

August 29 Order at 3-6.

The Court warned that failure to comply “may lead to contempt proceedings, sanctions
and other legal ramifications.” August 25 Order at 37. Yet as of the date of this letter, Freedom
Man has refused to comply.

Freedom Man’s unlawful conduct continues to cause daily, irreparable harm to my
clients. It also harms our community and makes our communities less safe. See August 25
Order. Accordingly, my clients hereby demand that Freedom Man ceases and desists from its
unlawful conduct, that Freedom Man remove the unlawful content from the internet, and that
Freedom Man deactivate the links as mandated in the Court’s orders.

A non-exhaustive list of examples of Freedom Man’s unlawful content that must be
removed and/or deactivated includes:

All webpages that violate the Permanent Injunction order that begin with the
https://freedomman.org/cyrus/
https://www.freedomman.org/video/government-subsidized-child-trafficking/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/my-response-to-the-idaho-statesman-st-lukes-
lawsuit/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-and-erik-stidham-just-gag-
ordered-me/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/facts-about-ammons-contempt-of-court-charge/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-just-intentionally-broke-the-
law-proving-that-she-is-biased/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/idaho-department-of-health-and-welfare-is-the-
bad-guy/
https://www.freedomman.org/cyrus/archive/baby-cyrus-was-kidnapped-one-year-ago/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/diego-rodriguez-issues-challenge-to-st-lukes-and-
erik-stidham/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/st-lukes-is-suing-us-for-exposing-them/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/open-letter-meridian-police-ada-county-sheriff/
https://stlukesexposed.com/ (all links and webpages from this website that violate the
Permanent Injunction Order including, but not limited to, the following webpages
and/or links embedded in the webpages: https://stlukesexposed.com/truth-about-st-
lukes/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/evidence-that-cps-agents-meridian-police-and-st-
lukes-were-lying/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/dieqgo-answer-4th-amended-
complaint/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-violates-the-
constitution-again/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-judicial-
misconduct/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/erik-stidham-criminal-complaints/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/summary-video/).
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Freedom Man Press LLC
September 20, 2023
Page 5

Please comply with the Court’s Permanent Injunction by September 22, 2023. If you do
not, we will pursue all available legal remedies.

This cease-and-desist letter is sent without waiver of any right or remedy available at law
or equity.

Sincerely,
[sIErik F. Stidham

Erik F. Stidham
Partner
of Holland & Hart v.r

EFS:cmc
Enclosures

30519500_v1
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

THE STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST.
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual;
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiff(s),
..VS...

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendant(s).

Case No. CV01-22-6789

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND
ORDER FOR PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR
PLAINTIFFS

In Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs sought injunctive relief in additional

to any damages awarded by the jury. The Defendants were allowed to participate in the jury trial

on damages including jury selection, opening statements, cross-examination and closing

arguments, but all Defendants failed to appear. After seven days of trial on the issue of damages,

the jury awarded the Plaintiffs certain monetary relief on their claims. The equitable relief in the

form of injunctive relief was not before the jury as injunctive relief is for the Court to decide.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 1
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Having reviewed the docket, the admitted facts in the Fourth Amended Complaint due to
the Defendants’ default in this lawsuit, and being informed by both the evidence presented in the
trial on monetary damages as well as the jury’s verdicts on the Special Verdict Form, the Court

issues its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the request for permanent injunctive relief.

Findings of Fact

These findings of fact are primarily based on the live testimony and exhibits presented at
the jury trial on damages. The exhibits are extensive and set forth the specific “statements” of the
Defendants through videos, internet postings, publications, etc. The statements speak for
themselves as to who made or published the statement. The statements and publications are too
numerous to repeat in this case, but each exhibit was testified to in Court and only the admitted
exhibits were relied on by the Court.

The testimony on the underlying events as well as care of the C.A. (the “Infant”) were
relevant at trial to provide background and context regarding the conduct of the Defendants. These
findings of fact are supported by the substantial and competent evidence provided by credible
witnesses and exhibits admitted during the trial. The Court will generally refer to the nature of
statements and the contents of the statements without citing all the exhibits to support each finding
of fact. All exhibits admitted are part of the Court record in this matter.

1. The Plaintiffs brought this action in response to the Defendants’ statements and

publications made against the named Plaintiffs, the trespass that occurred on

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
- Page 2
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St. Luke’s’ hospitals in Meridian and Boise. The events that started the interactions
between Plaintiffs and Defendants centered on the medical care of the Infant.

Nurse Practitioner Nadia Kravchuk, the Infant’s primary care provider (PCP) saw the
ten month old Infant on or about March 1, 2022. The Infant was severely dehydrated
and the parents said the baby was vomiting. The Infant had lost approximately 4 pounds
since its six-month wellness visit. NP Kravchuk’s office was unable to provide the
necessary care and IV to rehydrate the Infant in her office. The parents were directed
to the St. Luke’s Boise Hospital emergency room where the Infant could be rehydrated.
The Emergency Room (ER) doctor on duty at St. Luke’s determined not only was the
Infant severely dehydrated, but the Infant was suffering from severe malnutrition. The
ER doctor consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalist on duty, Dr. Erickson, who agreed
the Infant should be admitted. Dr. Erickson agreed with the ER doctor’s diagnosis of
severe malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Erickson testified the condition of the Infant
was dire and without proper medical intervention, the Infant was at risk organ failure
and possible death. This was NOT a healthy baby when it arrived at the hospital on
March 1, 2022. The parents reported to Dr. Erickson that the Infant was doing well
until about 7 months of age and then reoccurring vomiting started and such vomiting
would continue for several days. See, Exhibit 1, page 12.

Dr. Erickson is Board-Certified in both General Pediatrics and Pediatrics Hospital
Medicine. She a highly trained pediatric doctor. Dr. Erickson consulted with the parents

regarding the condition of the Infant. The parents agreed to the care plan to rehydrate

! The Court will prefer to Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd. and St. Luke’s Regional
Medical Center Ltd. Collectively as “St. Luke’s.”

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 3
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and increase caloric intake for the Infant recommended by Dr. Erickson. At no time did
Dr. Erickson threaten the parents to call child support enforcement if the parents did
not agree to the treatment plan.

The parents did not want the Infant vaccinated. No medical provider vaccinated the
Infant and that preference of the parents was respected. There was testimony by Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman, the parents’ decision not to vaccinate the Infant did not in
any way impact the care plan for the Infant or the respect shown the parents.

Prior treatment medical records for the Infant’s medical care since birth were not
provided by the parents and could not be obtained by Dr. Erickson beyond NP
Kravchuk’s limited records. This led to some additional tests being run to rule out other
potential causes for the Infant’s condition. Dr. Erickson noted the Infant was failing to
thrive.

With proper medical intervention and treatment, including IVs to rehydrate, bottle
feedings as well as additional feedings through a nasogastric feeding tube (NG tube),
the Infant’s medical condition improved.

Dr. Erickson arranged for St. Luke’s staff and social worker to assist parents apply for
and receive Medicaid so there would be no out-of-pocket cost to the family for the
Infant’s care. The family had no medical bills that were not paid by Medicaid for the
Infant’s care.

Dr. Erickson also arranged for a home health nurse to come to the Infant’s home to
check on the progress of the child and to help with any further needs for the child and
family members caring for the child. Dr. Erickson explained, and the parents seemed

to understand, that continuing the additional caloric intake was critical as the feeding

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 4
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10.

11.

12.

13.

plan being used prior to the hospitalization was insufficient to allow the Infant to grow
and thrive. Regular weight check-ins were also critical for determining if the Infant was
or was not continuing with gaining weight as he had done in the hospital. The parents
were trained on how do complete additional feedings via the NG tube. The parents were
also advised to continue breast-feeding the Infant in addition to the other necessary
feedings.

On March 4, 2022, the Infant’s medical condition had improved to where the Infant
could be cared for at home and the Infant was released to the parents with discharge
instructions and verbal commitments by the parents they would comply with the
instructions and call if they had questions or needed any further assistance.

The parents did not follow the discharge instructions for care for the Infant. Nor would
the parents allow the home health nurse to come to their home to check on the Infant
on March 5, 2022 or March 6, 2022.

Finally, on March 7, 2022, the parents took the Infant to NP Dkystra (who was not a
St. Luke’s medical provider but who St. Luke’s had connected the family with as he
would be able to assist with the NG tube and NP Kravchuk indicated she was not able
to provide that level of care for the Infant). At this appointment, the Infant’s weight had
dropped since it was released from the hospital. NP Dkystra advised the parents how
to increase caloric intake and set another appointment for March 11, 2022 to check the
Infant’s weight.

On March 11, 2022, the parents missed bringing the Infant to the scheduled

appointment.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 5
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

On March 11, 2022, NP Aaron Dkystra (not any doctor, NP or staff member of St.
Luke’s) called Department of Health and Welfare Child Protection Services (CPS)
regarding his concern about the Infant and requesting a check on the child to make sure
the weight of the Infant was not continuing to drop and thus endangering the Infant’s
life. NP Dkystra had a statutory duty to report his concerns regarding medical neglect
by the Infant’s parents.

A Department of Health and Welfare (DHW) Safety Assessor was assigned to the case.
She also made contact with NP Jungman and law enforcement who regularly assist
with investigation and welfare checks on children.

Going into a weekend, the need to have the Infant’s status checked became a greater
concern for the Infant’s well-being. The DHW Safety Assessor came to Ms. Jungman’s
office to discuss the referral regarding the Infant. NP Jungman reviewed limited
medical records. The DHW Safety Assessor could not reach the Infant’s parents. NP
Jungman said she would stay at work to see the Infant if parents would bring the Infant
in.

NP Jungman has been a nurse or nurse practitioner for over 24 years. She is highly
skilled based on her studies and work experience. She specializes her practice in
providing clinical care and evaluation of children. She has also been trained in and has
extensive experience in CPS process.

On March 12, 2022, the parents called and indicated they would take the child to St.
Luke’s Children at Risk Evaluation Services (commonly referred to by its acronym
CARES unit) for a weigh-in and wellness check at 4:00 p.m. The parents never arrived

for the appointment.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 6
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Detective Fuller of the Meridian Police Department consulted with Nurse Practitioner
Jungman at CARES about what to look for when they were able to put eyes on the
Infant to determine if the Infant was or was not doing well. Detective Fuller is
experienced at CPS investigations and is trained in the legal standard necessary to
remove a child from his or her parents’ care.

Law enforcement attempted contact with the parents to check on the Infant at the home
address provided. Defendant Rodriguez answered the door and would not let law
enforcement check on the child.

Later that evening, law enforcement was able to track parents down in a vehicle and
initiated a traffic stop to investigate the CPS referral and check on the Infant’s welfare.
Defendants had communicated with their followers and had a large number of persons
arrive at the gas station where the traffic stop occurred.

With the Infant being held by its mother, Detective Fuller did a welfare check on the
child. The NG tube was no longer in place. The Infant presented with symptoms and
observations indicating it was not doing well and was in imminent danger. The Infant
and his mother were taken to the ambulance.

In the ambulance, the Infant was removed from the mother due to Detective Fuller’s
determination the Infant was in imminent danger. Detective Fuller completed the
paperwork to take the Infant into the custody of DHW and to get the Infant transported
to the nearest ER.

The Emergency Medical Technicians at the scene determined the Infant was “medically

stable to transport.” “Medically stable to transport™ status is not the same as a patient

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

being medically stable and healthy and in no need of further medical care. It is simply
a determination it is safe to transport the patient in the ambulance to the hospital.

The Infant was transported to the closest hospital, St. Luke’s Meridian hospital, by
ambulance.

At the ER, Dr. Rachel Thomas examined the Infant. She is a Board-Certified
Emergency Room doctor who also has extensive medical experience and training
involving children, including treatment of malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Thomas
also determined the Infant was in imminent danger/harm and needed a higher level of
care that could be provided at the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital at the main St. Luke’s
hospital in Boise.

Even after a bottle feeding in the ER in which the Infant gulped down 6 ounces of
formula, Dr. Thomas noted the Infant’s weight was less than the weight when the Infant
Jeft the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital on March 4, 2022. Dr. Thomas diagnosed the
Infant with severe malnutrition and dehydration that could lead to death if not
immediately addressed.

Dr. Thomas testified that the defamatory statements and postings about her by the
Defendants have led to emotional stress such that she is taking a break from medicine
and leaving the community with her family for an extended period of time. It is her
hope she will able to return and actively continue her medical career.

Defendant Bundy arrived at St. Luke’s Meridian and with others blocked the
ambulance bay from other ambulances being able to come to the hospital. Bundy was
demanding release of the Infant even though he was not a family member or guardian

of the Infant.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

The protesters grew in number. The Meridian Police were called. The access doors to
the ambulance bay were locked. Bundy was eventually trespassed from the private
property of St. Luke’s and was arrested along with another person engaged in the
protests in the ambulance bay.

With active protesting occurring at the ER, Dr. Thomas consulted with hospital security
and the Meridian Police Department and had the Infant safely transported to the
Children’s Hospital after determining the Infant was medically stable to be transported.
Dr. Thomas called Dr. Erickson and asked to have the Infant admitted. Dr. Erickson
agreed to the admission and immediately went to the hospital to assist with the
admission of the Infant to St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital and to begin further treatment.
Even though the Infant was in the custody of the DHW, St. Luke’s medical
professionals informed the parents of the care plan and the parents consented to all
treatment provided by Dr. Erickson as well as by the other Pediatric Hospitalists caring
for the Infant.

Dr. Erickson confirmed the Infant had in fact lost significant weight? since its release
on March 5, 2022. Another NG tube was placed, and feedings and hydration began on
the Infant.

Other Pediatric Hospitalists also provided care for the Infant when Dr. Erickson was

not on duty.

2 It is important to note that while the amounts of weight loss or gain in this case may not
“sound” significant, for the age and size of the Infant in this case and where the Infant was
measured at being on the growth chart (in lower than 0.5% of all infants this age), the weight loss
was significant and could lead to organ failure and death.
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37.

38.

39.

40.

41

NP Jungman also consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalists and participated in the phone
and in-person communications with the parents during the time the Infant was at the
Children’s Hospital. She also stayed involved in the care when the Infant was released
to DHW’s caregiver.

The parents were regularly updated by St. Luke’s employees about the Infant’s status
and were allowed to visit and hold the Infant for approximately two hours at the hospital
on or about March 13, 2022. Other visits and communications also occurred while the
Infant was at the Children’s Hospital.

While the Infant was being treated at the Children’s Hospital, the Defendants Bundy
and Rodriguez, in conjunction with multiple communications sent out by the other
Defendants, organized protestors at St. Luke’s Boise Hospital. The protests involved
hundreds of people including people armed with weapons. Defendant Rodriguez made
statements on March 14, 2022 that the Infant was being abused and mistreated by St.
Luke’s.

On March 12, 2022, the Defendants and followers of the Defendants were instructed
by Bundy, Rodriguez and the websites or communications from People’s Rights
Network (PRN) and Freedom Man Press LLC to disrupt the operations of the St. Luke’s

by jamming the phone lines complaining and demanding the release of the Infant.

. Bundy and Rodriguez would not leave the private property of St. Luke’s when asked.

Boise Police and Idaho State Troopers were brought in to maintain the security of the

hospital.
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42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

Eventually, the threat of risk of harm to patients, patients’ families, employees and a
breach of the hospital became too great and the hospital was forced into lockdown and
to close the hospital to new patients.

Armed protesters and followers of the Defendants attempted to enter the hospital even
after it was locked down.

After it was discovered that the Infant had been removed from the hospital, the
protesters moved their demonstrations to DHW offices.

The Infant was doing better and was discharged from St. Luke’s on March 15, 2022 to
DHW custody. The parents were allowed more and more time with the Infant by DHW
as part of the safety/reunification plan.

Through intensive medical efforts, the Infant began gaining weight and his risk of
imminent harm was eliminated. The Infant required ongoing monitoring to make sure
it was continuing to gain weight and thrive. Additional calories were being given via
the NG tube by the Infant’s caregivers.

DHW stayed in regular communication with CARES and the parents regarding care of
the Infant. NP Jungman along with the Medical Director of CARES evaluated the
Infant 3-4 times and the Infant was gaining weight.

On March 18, 2022, the parents called DHW as the feeding tube had inadvertently
come out while the parents had care of the Infant as part of DHW’s safety/reunification
plan. The parents did not want to go to hospital or have the Infant seen at their home.
The parents requested NP Jungman reinstall the NG tube. DHW arranged a place and

time to meet the parents away from protesters who were at the main DHW office. NP
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49.

50.

51.

Jungman reinstalled the NG tube in the Infant, following applicable standards of care
for such a procedure.

NP Jungman and the CARES Medical Director evaluated the Infant again on March 23,
2022 with the parents present. The follow-up weight check showed the Infant was
continuing to progress. The Infant was more interactive than at previous visits. Home
health and PCP care was discussed again with parents.

Dr. Michael Whelan, a Board-Certified Pediatrician who works at St. Alphonsus,
testified he concurred in the diagnosis and all of the care provided to the Infant. He
confirmed based on the medical records that the Infant was in imminent danger based
on its dehydration and malnutrition and the Infant was failing to thrive. He further
opined that all care provided met the standard of care and there was no medical
malpractice or misdiagnoses by any medical practitioner and specifically not by either
of the named plaintiffs, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman. He opined the NG tube was
necessary and appropriate both times at the hospital. He opined the discharge
instructions from St. Luke’s were appropriate. He opined the re-installation of the NG
tube by NP Jungman was within the standard of care and did not cause any infection
or disease to the Infant as the placement of the tube was into a non-sterilized location
of the body, the stomach. He opined the re-installation of the HG tube did not cause an
infection in the Infant.

Dr. Whelan also opined the parents of the Infant were “medically neglectful” fof not
following through on discharge instructions and with follow up visits for weight checks

to make sure feedings were providing the Infant with sufficient caloric intake. Dr.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 12

935



52.

53.

54.

55.

Whelan opined he believed the parents knew the Infant had lost weight after first time
Infant was released from hospital on March 4, 2022.

Dr. Whelan opined that, based on all the outside pressure by Defendants, St. Luke’s,
Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman performed very well and there was no evidence that the
Infant was not improving while in the care of St. Luke’s.

Based on the testimony of Kyle Bringhurst, the Ada County Deputy Prosecutor who
handled the Infant’s case and has 8-9 years of experience involving CPS cases, the CPS
proceedings and requisite findings for placement into DHW custody occurred as
required by statute. A shelter hearing was held on March 15, 2022 and a mandatory
adjudicative hearing was set. A Notice of Dismissal by the State was filed on or about
May 4, 2022, so the adjudicatory hearing set for May was vacated. The Infant was
returned to the custody of the parents with a safety plan.

David Jeppesen, Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, also testified the
CPS process is defined by statute and was followed in this case. The courts, not the
DHW, decide if a child is allowed to return to his or her parents. The goal is to reunite
children with their parents and this goal in Idaho is achieved in about 65% of the CPS
cases (which is much higher than the national average).

Director Jeppesen also testified the DHW does not get “extra money” for placing a
child in the care of DHW per the CPS statute. The legislature sets the budget for the
DHW and there is no increase in monies to the DHW for children taken into temporary
custody under the CPS. Director Jeppesen also testified that allegations of child
trafficking or kidnapping are untrue. While there are some adoptions of children whose

parents are not fit to raise them, this is in accordance with Idaho’s statutes and court
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56.

57.

58.

approval is required for all such adoptions. Finally, such adoptions do not happen
frequently and there is no preference for persons of a particular sexual orientation as
alleged by Defendants.

Immediately after the CPS referral was made and the Infant was removed from the
parents, the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, through their own statements, video
postings, communications with their followers and their internet postings on the
websites of the other Defendants: Peoples Rights Network (PRN), Freedom Man Press,
LLC and Ammon Bundy for Governor -- which Bundy and/or Rodriguez controlled--
began doxxing® and intimidating the Plaintiffs, other medical providers as well as
anyone involved in the CPS matter (including but not limited to law enforcement, the
prosecuting attorney, the judge handling the confidential CPS court proceedings, and
the Safety Assessor for DHW). .

Defendants’ statements were intended to damage the reputations of the Plaintiffs;
invade the privacy of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman; to shut down St. Luke’s
Hospital; and to threaten harm to those involved in the CPS case involving the Infant.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez are actively involved in and are spokepersons for
PRN. Defendant Rodriguez controls and authors many of the statements posted on
Defendant Freedom Man Press, LLC’s website, which published Bundy and
Rodriguez’s defamatory statements on the internet and on other extremist media
outlets. Bundy and Rodriguez hold themselves out to be anti-government activists

motivated by certain religious beliefs. Bundy encourages militia-style training for his

3 Doxxing includes publicly identifying or publishing private information about a person as a
form of punishment or revenge.
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59.

60.

61.

followers. He urges his followers to take action outside the law to protect their rights.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man Press, LLC are willing to
encourage others to join them in using violence to reach their objectives and to harass
public employees such as law enforcement, DHW employees, CPS prosecutors, and
judges.

Bundy and Rodriguez used the tactic of “public shaming” through false and defamatory
narratives to intimidate and defame the Plaintiffs. This included but was not limited to
accusing the Plaintiffs to be involved in kidnapping, child trafficking, child abduction,
abusing children, and stealing children for money and pedophilia. This intimidation
also included releasing private information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman which put these Plaintiffs and their families at risk of harm as testified to at
trial.

PRN was a supporter of Ammon Bundy for Governor, and the events in this case were
the topic of Bundy at political gatherings, and defamatory statements about Plaintiffs
were made by Bundy at his political events and made for the indirect purpose of raising
campaign contributions.

Spencer Forby, an expert on extremist organizations as well as a highly trained law
enforcement officer and instructor on de-escalating situations, crowd control and
SWAT techniques, opined that Defendants Bundy, Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man
Press, LLC, used their defamatory statements and disinformation rhetoric to trigger
their followers to a call for action based on false premises, which then led to Defendants
Bundy and Rodriguez creating conspiracy theories of heinous criminal allegations by

Plaintiffs without any factual basis. In order to maximize the involvement of the
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62.

63.

64.

Defendants’ followers, there was a strategic coordination of the false and defamatory
messages being repeated over websites controlled by Defendants and shared with other
extremist media outlets.

Defendants’ followers then quickly joined the protest at the hospital and the efforts
outside Idaho to disrupt the business of St. Luke’s by flooding the phone lines. The
false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez were then used by followers
and the Defendants to harass and intimidate the Plaintiffs via verbal, in-person and
online threats.

Bundy directed his followers to be ready to “fight it out on the street.” Bundy and
Rodriguez created a false and defamatory conspiracy theory against the Plaintiffs and
repeated it over and over again in an effort to have St. Luke’s put out of business and
the medical providers to lose their jobs. The Plaintiffs testified they believed the
statements presented real threats of violence to them personally as well as their
families. Plaintiffs testified as to the specific steps they took as a result of the
intimidation and defamatory statements to protect themselves and their family
members. Plaintiffs also testified to having to daily track the social media of all the
Defendants to weigh and prepare for threatened harm.

According to Jessica Flynn, an expert on reputational harm, and Beth Toal, St. Luke’s
Vice President for Communications, Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s tactics are deliberate
and intentional. Their marketing techniques and use of social media have the effect of
disseminating knowingly defamatory information and disinformation to radicalize their
followers and at the same time get media coverage of their actions and raise monies for

their organizations based on their defamatory statements. The Defendants wanted their
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65.

66.

67.

68.

messages to go viral as well as deep and wide, and to have lasting effects. The
Defendants wanted their social media attack and protests to prevent St. Luke’s from
providing services to others. The Defendants also created a clear connection in their
social media for contributions to support their conduct. The media recognition gained
by the Defendants through their disinformation and defamatory statements is intended
to raise their individual profiles as well as their organizations’ profiles.

The extremist and marketing experts testified the Defendants also used the Infant being
taken into CPS custody to increase their own visibility on the internet and in the
community as well as to raise money for themselves through the organizations they
controlled. This conduct continues to the present and it is not expected to stop asitisa
source of fundraising for Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s organizations.

Defendants Bundy and Rodriquez organized and promoted the protests at St. Luke’s.
These protests involved armed individuals, which is consistent with Bundy’s
involvement in prior protests and his statements/trainings of his followers about the use
of force. The experts testified that the militia training promoted and offered by PRN
creates a threat and possible risk of physical harm.

On the advice of law enforcement, who indicated they could not restrain the number of
protesters (estimated to be 400 persons), St. Luke’s was forced to lock down the entire
downtown campus and to redirect patients to other facilities.

The lockdown also prevented families from entering the hospital to see their loved
ones, prevented third parties from seeking care or attending a scheduled appointment

at the Boise campus, and prevented employees from coming or leaving their shifts.
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69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

St. Luke’s Chief Financial Officer as well as Dennis Reinstien, CPA, testified that
economically St. Luke’s lost significant revenue from cancelled treatment or
appointments. St. Luke’s also incurred additional security costs during the protests and
had to increase the number of individuals involved in security at all of its facilities to
be prepared for future protests organized by the Defendants.
The Defendants knew or reasonably should have known the statements they were
making were false and defamatory. Defendant Rodriguez is the grandfather of the
Infant and the medical records provided to his daughter (mother of the Infant) easily
could have been reviewed by him. Instead, he made false and defamatory statements
regarding the health of the Infant, the actual medical care diagnoses and the care
provided. |
Rodriguez also claimed without any legal statutory support that the actions of the CPS
were unlawful and was involved with a marketing plan for donations for the Infant and
its family, as well as to monetize his and Bundy’s organizations.
No evidence was presented that any of the Defendants have medical training,
knowledge or education to support their false and defamatory statements regarding the
Infant’s health status and the need for medical care.
The intentional, materially false and malicious defamatory statements by the
Defendants include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by CPS.

b. St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

c. The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or St.

Luke’s.
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St. Luke’s, St. Luke’s management, law enforcement, DHW, the courts, and
the medical practitioners are all involved in a conspiracy to engage in
criminal child trafficking, kidnapping children and stealing children to
make money.

The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

DHW makes more money for every child it takes into CPS custody and that
is why the DHW kidnaps and traffics children and only allows certain
people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt children.

St. Luke’s and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently harmed
or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or misdiagnosed
the Infant.

St. Luke’s reported the parents to CPS.

Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with CPS if the parents did not agree
to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the hospital

because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.

. The family was discriminated against because the Infant was unvaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars of medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke’s or any medical provider.

m. The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the Infant.
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74.

75.

76.

n. The Infant was released from the Children’s Hospital and returned to
directly to the family due to the protesters’ or Defendants’, actions.*

These false statements were repeated again and again by Defendants, including using
links to the statements on other websites and video recordings. “Wanted” posters were
made for Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman (as well as others involved who
were doxxed) and posted on the internet as well as distributed at the protests at the St.
Luke’s Boise campus. The Plaintiffs and others involved in the events were repeatedly
threatened by Defendants’ actions of encouraging their followers to take action into
their own hands and disclosing personal information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and
NP Jungman. Phone messages to St. Luke’s from followers across the county repeated
the false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez.
St. Luke’s senior management officers testified it is now more difficult to recruit
doctors and other medical providers to Idaho due to the events surrounding the Infant
and the Defendants’ harassment and defamatory statements towards St. Luke’s and its
employees.
The defamatory statements by the Defendants were completely unfounded, false, made
intentionally, and maliciously harmed the reputations of the Plaintiffs and others who
were doxxed. These false statements invaded the privacy of Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman by portraying them in a false light as persons who harm
children. The defamatory statements and conduct of the Defendants intentionally

inflicted emotional distress on Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman as

* The Infant was returned to its parents by the Court through the dismissal of the CPS case, not
the actions of Defendants.
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71.

78.

79.

well as other parties who were doxxed and threatened. Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman all presented substantial and credible evidence of the actual harm they (and
their families) suffered due to Defendants’ defamatory statements, invasion of privacy
and intentional infliction of emotional distress upon Plaintiffs by attacking their
professional reputations.

Experts Devin Burghart, Spencer Fomby, and Jeésica Flynn all testified that once on
the internet, it is difficult to remove defamatory statements from the internet. In this
case, the Defendants took steps to regularly re-post prior videos and postings and to
create links to the false statements on the website of other media sources, thereby
knowingly increasing the viewers of the published defamatory statements. The original
posts as well as present statements continue on the Internet such as when Bundy or
Rodriguez are quoted with links to other websites about this litigation. See Idaho
Dispatch quotes and postings in the Declaration of Jennifer Jensen in support of the
requested injunctive relief.

The extremist organization experts testified the defamatory statements are re-posted by
the Defendants in order to keep them in the news and to generate new followers and
more donations.

C.P. “Abby” Abbodandolo, Senior Director of Security for St. Luke’s, who has
extensive hospital security and law enforcement experience, testified he was shocked
how quickly the Defendants could mobilize their followers to protest, make signs, and
come armed and ready to take action. He also testified the Defendants and their

followers create an ongoing threat to St. Luke’s operations throughout the state.
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80.

81.

82.

The DHW Safety Assessor left DHW employment and moved out of state due to the
doxxing. Dr. Thomas testified she is leaving and moving from the state for a period of
time in hopes that she can safely return to practice medicine. Employees left St. Luke’s
employment due to the protesting and intimidation. Dr. Erickson has considered
leaving a job she loves due to the ongoing emotional distress and intimidation of the
Defendants. NP Jungman has suffered and continues to suffer from emotional distress,
and the intimidation affects how she interacts with parents of other patients.

The extremist group experts Burghart, Fomby, and Flynn described both Bundy and
Rodriquez as an anti-government activists, conflict disrupters, and disrupter
entrepreneurs. Their business model is to raise money for themselves or the
organizations they control from followers based on false, fraudulent and defamatory
statements. The Defendants have used disinformation (misinformation that is
intentionally spread) to harm Plaintiffs.

Dr. Camille LaCroix, Forensic Psychiatrist, testified as to the continuing emotional
distress to Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman, and that this is not likely to go away and gets
worse every time there is a new or a re-posting of a defamatory statement, an article or
threat against them personally. Dr. Erickson’s husband testified as to the need to
continually monitor social media postings to make sure his wife and family are safe.
According to Dr. LaCroix, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman can be triggered and suffer
more emotional distress by the re-posting of defamatory statements and invasions of
their privacy that cause them to change how they treat others and how they protect their

families.
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83.

84.

85.

86.

Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman each testified that defamatory statements, harassment
and intimidation as a result of Defendants’ actions affects their life every day
professional and in their personal relationships. Both testified as to the constant fear
they have due to Defendants defamatory attacks in the newspapers, on tv, and on the
internet.
The evidence provided at the jury trial was substantial and competent evidence that
established the claims of defamation, invasion of privacy and intentional infliction of
emotional distress due to the Defendants’ conduct. These claims were satisfied by the
applicable burden of proofs of preponderance and clear and convincing evidence.
As to the defamation claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants communicated information concerning the Plaintiffs to others;
b. The information impugned the honesty, integrity, virtue or reputation of the
Plaintiffs or exposed the Plaintiffs to public hatred, contempt or ridicule;
¢. The information was false;
d. The Defendants knew it was false or reasonably should have known that it was
false; and

e. Plaintiffs suffered injury caused to the defamation.

As to the Invasion of Privacy claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants placed Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman in a false light
in the public eye by publicly disclosing some falsity or fiction conceming Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

b. A disclosure of some falsity or fiction means that a publication or publications by
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87.

88.

89.

90.

Defendants were materially false.
c. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman suffered injury caused by the
false light invasion of their privacy.
As to the Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claims, the Court finds:
a. Defendants engaged in intentional or reckless conduct;
b. That was extreme and outrageous;
c. Causing severe emotional distress to Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman;
and
d. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman were injured and the
emotional distress was proximately caused by Defendants’ conduct.
The Defendants’ defamatory statements including allegations of conspiracy by the
Plaintiffs, law enforcement, the courts and DHW to engage in criminal conduct against
children is not supported by any evidence.
The false and defamatory statements were made as part of a tactical and sustained
marketing campaign to defame and smear the reputations of the Plaintiffs, incite
unlawful conduct by Defendants’ followers, create a fear of future physical harm to
Plaintiffs, and to create an incentive for followers to make donations to Defendants or
organizations they controlled.
The Defendants actions in this case, as well as the fact that they refuse to stop making
defamatory statements, repeat past defamatory statements, presents a continuing threat
of actual irreparable harm to Plaintiffs. The continuing threat has led to St. Luke’s

increasing its security at each of its hospitals. The named Plaintiffs continue to be the

subject of threats by Defendants or their followers. The threats include but are not
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limited to personal, professional or family member harm through Defendants internet
presence and re-posting of prior defamatory statements. A prior Protection Order by
the Court has failed to deter Defendants from making knowingly false and defamatory

statements and repeating such statements.

Conclusions of Law

The Court requested supplemental legal support for Plaintiffs position they are entitled to
equitable relief in the form a permanent injunction. Plaintiffs file a memorandum and supplemental
brief and declaration in support of the request injunctive relief. In the Declaration of Jennifer M.
Jensen, she indicates the Idaho Dispatch (which is not a party to this lawsuit) continues to post
Defendant Rodriguez’s and Bundy’s defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and counsel
involved in this case on the internet even after the jury trial on damages has ended. Defendant
Rodriquez filed an “Answer to Request for Permanent Injunctive Relief.”> The Court has
considered the findings of fact and the entire court record including Rodgriguez’s filings in making

its ruling on injunctive relief.

1. Whether or not to grant permanent injunctive relief is within the discretion of the

trial court.

5 Defendant Rodriguez claims in part there has never been an evidence-based trial as to whether
or not the things he said were true and he believes all his statements were true. The Court notes
the jury trial was evidence-based (with testimony and admitted exhibits), but Defendant
Rodriguez elected not to attend and cross examine witnesses or challenge the admissibility of
evidence. Defendant Rodriguez also claims injunctive relief is a violation of his First
Amendment rights. For the reasons discussed in this Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,
the Court finds injunctive relief is allowed as a matter of law and appropriate in this case.
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In Gem State Roofing, Incorporated v. United Components, Incorporated, 168 Idaho 820,
828, 488 P.3d 488, 496 (2021), the Idaho Supreme Court held “The granting or refusal of an
injunction is a matter resting largely in the trial court’s discretion.” (citing Higginson v.
Westergard, 100 Idaho 687, 689, 604 P.2d 51, 53 (1979). In applying its discretion, this Court
must: (1) correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion; (2) act within the outer boundaries of
its discretion; (3) act consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices
available to it; and (4) reach its decision by the exercise of reason. Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163
Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018). The Supreme Court in Gem State Roofing went on to

discuss the different standards for preliminary versus permanent injunctions:

As an initial observation, UCI's reliance on the standard for a preliminary
injunction is inapposite. Rule 65(e) enumerates five grounds for entry of a
preliminary injunction. A preliminary injunction is a temporary injunction
effective for the pendency of the litigation before the merits of the case are
decided. LR.C.P. 65(e). Preliminary injunctions are designed to protect clearly
established rights from imminent or continuous violation during litigation. See
Gordon v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 166 Idaho 105, 455 P.3d 374, 384 (2019)
(quoting Brady v. City of Homedale, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704, 707
(1997)) (“A district court should grant a preliminary injunction ‘only in extreme
cases where the right is very clear and it appears that irreparable injury will flow
from its refusal.”””). A permanent injunction, on the other hand, is entered at the
resolution of the case, and requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable
injury; in addition, in order to deny a permanent injunction the trial court must be
persuaded that there is “no reasonable expectation that the wrong will be
repeated.” O’'Boskey, 112 Idaho at 1007, 739 P.2d at 306. In other words, a trial
court may appropriately deny a preliminary injunction at the outset of a case when
there are complex issues of fact and law yet to resolve, but correctly grant a
permanent injunction once those issues have been resolved in favor of the
plaintiff.

Gem State Roofing, 168 Idaho 820, 834-35, 488 P.3d 488, 502-03 (2021).

In this case, the Court finds based on the Findings of Fact and the Declaration of Jennifer

Jensen, the Plaintiffs have established by substantial and competent evidence of threatened or
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actual irreparable damage as well as a reasonable expectation that the wrong will be repeated by
the Defendants if permanent injunctive relief is not granted. The jury’s monetary damages, if able
to be collected, are inadequate to protect Plaintiffs from continued and ongoing injuries to their
reputations, privacy, emotional health, ability to practice their chosen professions and reside in the
community without fear, and to allow the community to trust that St. Luke’s hospital system is not
in any way engaged in heinous criminal conduct towards its patients. Balancing the hardships
between Plaintiffs and Defendants’ alleged chilling of their freedom of speech rights, the balance
tips in favor of Plaintiffs. A remedy in equity is warranted as defamatory speech is not protected
free speech. Finally, the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction of the
scope outlined in this decision. The permanent injunctive relief is appropriate to eliminate the
ongoing irreparable threatened and actual harm to all Plaintiffs.

2. Defendants’ defamatory statements are not protected speech under the First

Amendment.

The United States is a republic founded on the doctrine of the rule of law. What that means
is all persons are expected to follow the laws adopted through our representational form of
government. It also means all persons, no matter their status, wealth or beliefs must follow the rule
of law.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting

the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press or the

right of the people to peacefully assemble, and to petition the Government for a

redress of grievances.

However, these rights are not absolute. Every right under the Constitution is subject to limits, and

a person or entity cannot make or publish knowingly false statements that intentionally cause

reputational or other damage to another and then hide behind the First Amendment as a shield. The
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United States Supreme Court has recognized categories of speech that the government can regulate
because of the content of the speech, as long as the government does so evenhandedly. See R.A.V.
v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377 (1992) (categories of speech that are limited: obscenity,
defamation, fraud, incitement, fighting words, true threats, speech integral to criminal conduct,
and child pornography). In R.4.V. the Court stated:

The First Amendment generally prevents government from proscribing speech, see,
e.g., Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 309-311, 60 S.Ct. 900, 905-906, 84
L.Ed. 1213 (1940), or even expressive conduct, see, e.g., Texas v. Johnson, 491
U.S. 397, 406, 109 S.Ct. 2533, 2540, 105 L.Ed.2d 342 (1989), because of
disapproval of the ideas expressed. Content-based regulations are presumptively
invalid. Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd., 502
U.S. 105, 115, 112 S.Ct. 501, 508, 116 L.Ed.2d 476 (1991) id., at 124, 112 S.Ct.,
at 512-513 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment); Consolidated Edison Co. of
N.Y. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N.Y., 447 U.S. 530, 536, 100 S.Ct. 2326, 2332~
2333, 65 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980); Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 95,
92 S.Ct. 2286, 2289-2290, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972). From 1791 to the present,
however, our society, like other free but civilized societies, has permitted
restrictions upon the content of speech in a few limited areas, which are “of such
slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from them
is clearly outweighed by the social interest in order and morality.” Chaplinsky,
supra, 315 U.S., at 572, 62 S.Ct. at 762. We have recognized that “the freedom of
speech” referred to by the First Amendment does not include a freedom to disregard
these traditional limitations. See, e.g., Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 77 S.Ct.
1304, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957) (obscenity); Beauharnais v. lllinois, 343 U.S. 250, 72
S.Ct. 725, 96 L.Ed. 919 (1952) (defamation); Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire, supra
(“ “fighting” words”); see generally Simon & Schuster, supra, 502 U.S., at 124,112
S.Ct.,, at 513-514 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment). Our decisions since
the 1960's have narrowed the scope of the traditional categorical exceptions for
defamation, see New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, 11
L.Ed.2d 686 (1964); Geriz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997, 41
L.Ed.2d 789 (1974); see generally Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1,
13-17, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2702-2705, 111 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990), and for obscenity, see
Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973), but a
limited categorical approach has remained an important part of our First
Amendment jurisprudence.

We have sometimes said that these categories of expression are “not within the area
of constitutionally protected speech,” Roth, supra, 354 U.S., at 483, 77 S.Ct,, at
1308; Beauharnais, supra, 343 U.S., at 266, 72 S.Ct., at 735; Chaplinsky, supra,
315 U.S., at 571-572, 62 S.Ct., at 768-769; or that the “protection of the First
Amendment does not extend” to them, Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of United
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States, Inc., 466 U.S. 485,504, 104 S.Ct. 1949, 1961, 80 L.Ed.2d 502 (1984); Sable
Communications of Cal., Inc. v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 124, 109 S.Ct. 2829, 2835,
106 L.Ed.2d 93 (1989).

RA.V. v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 382-83 (1992).

Stated another way, defamation is a limit on both freedom of speech and freedom of the
press. A person or entity cannot say “I believed what I was saying was true” when the undisputed
facts establish those “truths” were known to be false or should have been known to be false by the
Defendants and they were spoken with the specific intent to threaten or cause harm to the other
person or entity.

The defamatory statements made by Defendants here were not just disagreements with the
manner in which the CPS laws are enforced. Instead, the defamatory statements by Defendants
were made intentionally to get others to believe “as true” that Plaintiffs and anyone else involved
in the CPS investigation and court proceedings or medical treatment of the Infant were committing
heinous acts against the Infant, and that St. Luke’s and the other Plaintiffs were “wicked” and
“evil” persons such that they should be removed from their professions and the hospital shut down
from providing all medical care to anyone in our community. There is no evidence (only baseless
allegations by Defendants) of any such conduct by the Plaintiffs or any other party involved in the
CPS case involving the Infant. In a court of law, the party claiming truth as a defense must present
evidence of truth, and Defendants did not do so.

Here, the Defendants’ statements in every possible form were intentional and with reckless
disregard for the truth, fraudulent, malicious and defamatory. As the jury instructions explained,
defamation is the injury to one's reputation either by written expression, which is libel, or by oral
expression, which is slander. The law is well-established that speech which is defamatory and

causes harm is not protected by the First Amendment. As indicated in the above quote from the
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Supreme Court, defamation in our common law existed prior to the founding of this country and
has been recognized since 1791 by our courts. Further, the mere fact that religious beliefs are cited
as motivation for the Defendants’ actions does prevent the statements from being defamatory or
illegal invasions of another’s right to privacy.® Nor does the cloak of the Defendants’ religious
beliefs that the Plaintiffs were “wicked” allow First Amendment protection to the statements such
that the statements cannot also be defamatory.

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed fraudulent statements
made to encourage or induce illegal immigration for financial gain are not protected speech under
the First Amendment. See United States v. Hansen, 2023 WL 4138994,  U. S. , 143 S.Ct.
1932 (2023). “Speech intended to bring about a particular unlawful act has no social value;
therefore, it is unprotected.” Williams, 553 U.S. at 298, 128 S.Ct. 1830.” Id. at 1947 (2023).
Defendants’ conduct in this case included false, fraudulent and defamatory statements made in
part for their own financial gain and such speech is not protected. People are free to give money
to whatever organizations or persons they want, but they should be informed if the statements to
support such donations of monies are not true.

Finally, simply saying a statement over and over does not make it true. It is well-established
law that a person can tell certain lies and those lies are protected by the First Amendment. See
United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709 (2012) where an individual was being criminally prosecuted
for falsely claiming to have received a military medal of honor pursuant to the Stolen Valor Act
was a content-based restriction on free speech. The difference here is that Defendants’ statements
were not lies about themselves; they were false, intentional and defamatory statements about others

which were intended to hurt Plaintiffs’ reputations or businesses. No reasonable person would

¢ Indeed, the Court cannot to find any religious support for bearing false witness against another.
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think these statements were meant for any other purpose than to harm the reputations and to
threaten the persons being attacked by such statements. Such statements are not protected speech
under the First Amendment.

Listening to and watching the videos of the Defendants and the published written
statements of the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez that claim their belief that “they” had the
individual “right” to take the Infant (who is not even their child) back by violence if necessary is
a profound misstatement and misunderstanding of the rule of law. In reality, it is a cry for “vigilante
justice” which is the act of enforcing the law without legal authority to do so. Vigilante justice
does not involve due process and allows one person to be the lawmaker, the law enforcer, the judge
and jury without any investigation into the truth. Vigilante justice is not a “right” an individual or
group of individuals have in this country.

Laws are passed by duly elected persons through a legislative process involving two
representational governmental bodies and then also approved by the executive officer (the
President of the United States or the Governor of a state). Laws are enforced by law enforcement
officers in the executive branch of government. Challenges to the laws as being facially
unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied are for the judicial branch to decide.

| Vigilante justice is not tolerated under the Constitution because it violates the rights of the
accused. Vigilante justice expounded by the Defendants is meant to control others not by the rule
of law, but by intimidation through threats of violence and the public shaming of others.
Defendants clearly believe they are above the law and can operate outside the boundaries of our
laws if they disagree with how the laws are being applied. That is not how our government works.

A party can appeal a court’s ruling and seek appellate review of a decision. The manner in which
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to challenge any court’s ruling is not through threat and intimidation. It is through the judicial
process.

Moreover, if Defendants want the CPS statutes to be revised or changed, then they can
lobby the legislature. While it is unclear exactly what changes to the law the Defendants seek, they
are free to propose changes by working directly with legislators to sponsors bills. The Idaho
Legislature has a long history of protecting children through the DHW, and nothing in this trial
established the procedure approved by the Legislature was not followed or was misapplied based
on the true health status of the Infant and the failure of the parents to allow the Infant to be seen
for follow-up care. In fact, this case is an example of the CPS system working exactly as intended
by the Legislature to protect the well-being of a child.

In several of the published statements by Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez they
encouraged their followers to “follow the money” to prove how children are being harmed,
trafficked, or kidnapped by CPS. No actual evidence was cited for this proposition by the
Defendants and it was proven to be false at trial. Instead, the evidence in this case shows the only
money being “made” by the events involving the Infant were St. Luke’s and other medical
practitioners receiving Medicaid reimbursement for the medical services provided (which was
testified to be 70% of the actual cost of the care) and money flowing from donations by
Defendants’ followers (based on false defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and others) to
Defendants Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Rodriguez, People’s Rights Network, Freedom
Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC.

If Defendants wanted to present a defense of the “truth” of their statements, they could
have participated in this lawsuit or at least the damages trial. They did not. The Court must take

the undisputed facts presented at trial as true. Moreover, independent expert medical testimony as
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well as common sense esfablishes the facts were not as Defendants maintained. The actual
numerous weights taken of the Infant as well as the results of other medical tests and the pictures
of the Infant did not present a healthy infant. Dr. Wheaton testified there was no misdiagnosis or
malpractice by the medical providers.

The Court finds St. Luke’s did not initiate nor threaten to initiate CPS action. Did St. Luke’s
become involved after the Infant was taken into the custody of DHW? Yes. However, no child was
“kidnapped” by the police or doctors. No child was “trafficked” or abused by DHW, the hospital,
the doctors or the courts. Instead, St. Luke’s through its staff and medical providers provided the
necessary medical care the Infant needed (twice) and took care to receive the parents’ consent for
the care provided even though during the second hospitalization was when the Infant was in the
temporary care and custody of DHW. All of the Infant’s medical care was covered by Medicaid
insurance.

Dr. Whelan testified the need for CPS to get involved was due to the parents’ failure to
attend follow-up appointments. In making this last statement, the Court does not in any way believe
the parents intended to harm the Infant. But the parents did neglect the medically needed follow-
up appointments to make sure the Infant was gaining, not losing, weight. New parents have a plan
for how they want to care for their child and they are allowed great freedom in implementing their
plan, until and unless the child’s welfare is at risk. At that point, the DHW has a duty to step in, to
get the child the care it needs and then to develop a reunification plan so the child can return to its

home and thrive,
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3. Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate in this case.

Permanent injunctive relief requiring the Defendants to stop making defamatory statements
about the Plaintiffs, to remove defamatory and harassing statements or posts from online locations
under the Defendants’ control and prohibiting the Defendants from republishing the statements or
posts is appropriate in this case. The statements, internet posts, online interviews made as part of
a sustained campaign of defamation by Defendants and they continue to threaten or cause actual
jrreparable harm to the Plaintiffs. Based on the testimony of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, NP Jungman,
this conduct not only affects the individual Plaintiffs, but it also affects their families, their co-
workers, their work environments. It also continues to negatively impact the reputation of St.
Luke’s in the community. The Court has no expectation that the defamatory statements will stop
by Defendants without a permanent injunction.

This type of conduct can be enjoined by a court. While the Court could not find any on-
point Idaho authority for the factual circumstances presented in this case, the Court can look to
other jurisdictions for persuasive authority for internet smear campaigns. See, e.g., Balboa Island
Vill. Inn, Inc. v. Lemen, 40 Cal. 4th 1141, 1155-57 (2007) (holding that the court may issue an
injunction prohibiting the defendant from repeating statements judicially determined to be defamatory
and rejecting argument that damages are the only remedy for defamation because otherwise the
plaintiff would be required to bring a succession of lawsuits for damages which could be insufficient
to deter the continuing tortious behavior); Advanced Training Sys. v. Caswell Equip. Co., 352 N.W. 2d
1, 11 (Minn. 1984) (affirming permanent injunctive relief prohibiting republication of material found
libelous at trial); Weitsman v. Levesque, Case No. 19-CV-461 JLS (AHG), 2020 WL 6825687, (S.D.

Cal. Nov. 20, 2020) (applying New York law and collecting New York cases that removal orders are
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necessary when parties refuse to depublish); see also St. James Healthcare v. Cole, 178 P.3d 696,
(Mont. 2008) (affirming in part preliminary injunction against harassing and threatening statements).’

In Weitsman, the court ordered permanent injunctive relief when the defendant engaged in a
“sustained Internet defamation campaign” falsely accusing the plaintift of child trafficking. Weitsman,
2020 WL 6825687. The court entered default against the defendant, and the plaintiff obtained an award
of compensatory and punitive damages. Id. The defendant had continued making the defamatory
statements online, despite the litigation and an arrest warrant. Jd. A permanent injunction was
appropriate due to the intentional, sustained campaign of defamation aimed to injure the plaintiff’s
interests, including business interests. See id. The injunction was tailored to (1) require the removal of
statements held to be defamatory whose postings online were under the defendant’s control; and (2)

prohibit the republication of statements held to be defamatory. See id.

The Defendants’ actions attacking Plaintiffs in this case were relentless for over a year and
with the specific intent to harm the reputations of St. Luke’s and the other named Plaintiffs who
did their job to ensure the Infant received necessary medical care. The Defendants continue to the
present time in making defamatory statements to others about the Plaintiffs. There is every
indication based on the Defendants’ conduct over the prior year that the Defendants will continue
to repeat and re-post the defamatory statements if no injunction is entered. The Court recognizes
the Defendants have the means to influence thousands of followers, as they quickly organized
protestors at the hospitals and across the country to disrupt St. Luke’s business. This ability to
mobilize others and to condone violence makes the threatened irreparable harm even more likely.

As several experts testified at trial, that once on the internet, it is difficult to remove
defamatory statements from the internet, a simple retraction is inadequate relief for the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are entitled by law to have all the Defendants do everything in their power and on all
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sites under their control (directly or indirectly) to remove all the judicially determined defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Moreover, the Defendants are ordered to stop making new or
repeating previously made statements or postings with defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs.
Further defamatory statements or invasion of Plaintiffs’ privacy regarding the events with the
Infant by Defendants could lead to new litigation for defamation. This defamation against the
Plaintiffs is not protected by the First Amendment and it must end.

If the defamatory statements are not taken down, they will be repeated and cause more
irreparable threatened or actual harm to the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs have a right under law to seek
injunctive relief from the Court to force the Defendants to stop making and publishing defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs followed the rule of law and legal process for having such
a remedy ordered by the Court. The Plaintiffs proved the statements were intentional, false and
made by Defendants with the specific intent to cause reputational damage to the Plaintiffs and to
invade the Plaintiffs’ privacy. The Defendants continue to try to raise monies based on the
defamatory statements.

4. Scope of injunctive relief.

The Court, in exercising its discretion, finds a permanent injunction is warranted under the
law against the Defendants in this case. The Court exercises its discretion based on the findings of
fact and conclusions of law to grant the equitable relief requested. “A permanent injunction
requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable injury.” Hood v. Poorman, 171 Idaho 176,
519 P.3d 769, 783 (2022) (citing O'Boskey v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Boise, 112 Idaho
1002, 1007, 739 P.2d 301, 306 (1987)). There is a threatened or actual irreparable injury to
Plaintiffs if defamatory statements about the care of the Infant and the Plaintiffs are not stopped.

The Defendants are aware their statements have been found by a jury and court of law to be
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defamatory, so continuing to say the statements are true may expose Defendants to additional legal

liability.

Defendants will be ordered to take the following actions to remove all defamatory

statements and violations of the privacy of the Plaintiffs. Defendants must:

1.

2.

Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all Plaintiffs.
Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
are participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other
abuse, and/or killing of children.

Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority
to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have
authority to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or
images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents
posted links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the

privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

Failure by the Defendants to follow the Order for Permanent Injunctive Relief may lead to

contempt proceedings, sanctions and other legal ramifications.
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Conclusion

Fortunately for the Infant and our community, the Plaintiffs ignored the actions of the
disrupters led by Bundy and Rodriguez and instead made saving the life of the Infant their priority.
Plaintiffs St. Luke’s and Mr. Roth were not distracted from their mission of providing medical
care when needed to any member of our community regardless of a person’s ability to pay. St.
Luke’s followed established medical treatment procedures and DHW followed Court orders, not
the demands of the Defendants. Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman followed their oaths to help and
not harm their patient. But the disinformation continues by Defendants even after the Infant was
returned to its parents by the court through the CPS proceedings, even after the civil lawsuit was
filed, and even after the jury verdict was returned.

Defendants’ continued disinformation regarding the Plaintiffs does not help our
community. The actions and conduct of the Defendants have made our community less safe.
Medical providers and other employees are leaving their professions because of the damage to
their reputations, the invasion of their privacy, the harassment and threats of intimidation by
Defendants. Defendants’ conduct and the conduct of their followers selfishly prevented third
parties from coming to the St. Luke’s hospitals and clinics for care, prevented the family members
of other patients from seeing their loved ones at the hospital, disrupted the care of other patients,
and threatened the safety of employees due to the sheer noise and intimidation of armed protestors
surrounding the Boise hospital. The First Amendment protects and allows citizens to protest, but
the First Amendment does not allow armed citizens to attempt to enter the private property of St.
Luke’s when it was locked down.

The defamatory statements of Defendants against the Plaintiffs have the indirect effect of

making it more difficult to attract medical professionals to Idaho. The defamatory statements have
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, certify that on 8 / L‘S’/ 2.3 , I caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF to be forwarded with all required charges prepaid, by the method(s)
indicated below, in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure, to the following person(s):

Erik F. Stidham (X) Email
Jennifer M. Jensen

Zachery J. McCraney

Alexandra S. Grande

efstidham@hollandhart.com

jmjensen@hollandhart.com

zjmccraney(@hollandhart.com

aehenderson@hollandhart.com

Attorney for Plaintiff(s)

Diego Rodriguez (X) Email
freedommanpress@protonmail.com

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, (X) Mail

and People’s Rights Network
¢/o Ammon Bundy

4615 Harvest Lane

Emmett ID 83617-3601

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy for Governor (X) Mail
And People’s Rights Network

¢/o Ammon Bundy

P.0O. Box 370

Emmett ID 83617

Pro Se Defendant

Freedom Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC (X) Mail
c¢/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater DR #5077

Orlando, FL 32804

Pro Se Defendant
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Filed: 08/29/2023 09:37:22

Fourth Judicial District, Ada County
Trent Tripple, Clerk of the Court
By: Deputy Clerk - Nelson, Ric

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE

STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST. | Case No. CV01-22-06789
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual; DEFAULT JUDGMENT
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendants.

JUDGMENT IS ENTERED AS FOLLOWS:
L. Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd.; St. Luke’s
Regional Medical Center, Ltd.; Chris Roth, Natasha D. Erickson, M.D.; and Tracy W. Jungman,

N.P. against Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,

Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network.

DEFAULT JUDGMENT - 1
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EXHIBIT |



From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:
Attachments:

Mr. Rodriguez,
See attached.

Get Outlook for i0OS

Erik Stidham

Wednesday, September 20, 2023 2:50 PM

Freedom Man Press

Cease and Desist FM PAC

2023-09-20 Cease and Desist Letter to FM PAC.pdf
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Erik F. Stidham

Partner

Phone 208.383.3934
efstidham@hollandhart.com

September 20, 2023

VIA U.S. MAIL AND E-MAIL

Freedom Man PAC

c/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater Drive, #5077
Orlando, FL 32804

Re: St Luke’setal. v. Ammon Bundy et al.
Violations of Permanent Injunction

Dear Mr. Rodriguez:

As founder and creator of Freedom Man PAC (“Freedom Man PAC”), you are on notice
regarding Freedom Man PAC’s continued violation of the Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions
of Law and Order for Injunctive Relief, which was issued on August 25, 2023 (“August 25
Order™), and the Court’s Default Judgment Order, which was issued on August 29, 2023
(“August 29 Order”). The Court’s clerk served you, on behalf of Freedom Man PAC, with these
Orders on August 25 and August 29, respectively. The Orders are enclosed.

In its orders, the Court directs Freedom Man PAC to cease posting and disseminating
specific statements, to remove unlawful content from the internet, and to deactivate unlawful
links. See August 25 Order at 36-39; August 29 Order at 3-6.

Those orders state:

Defendants must:

1. Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all
Plaintiffs.
2. Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or are

participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

3. Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority to
do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Location Mailing Address Contact
800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750 P.O. Box 2527 p: 208.342.5000 | f: 208.343.8869
Boise, ID 83702-7714 Boise, ID 83701-2527 www.hollandhart.com

Holland & Hart LLP  Anchorage Aspen Billings Boise Boulder Cheyenne Denver Jackson Hole LasVegas Reno Salt Lake City Santa Fe Washington, D.C.
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Freedom Man PAC
September 20, 2023
Page 2

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson,
and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have authority
to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or images of Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents posted
links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the privacy of the
Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

August 25 Order at 37.

Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,
Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network are
PERMANENTLY ENJOINED as follows:

a.

Defendants must cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements
against all Plaintiffs. Defamatory statements include:
i.  The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by Child Protective
Services.

ii.  St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

iii.  The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or
St. Luke's.

Iv. St Luke's, St. Luke's management, law enforcement, Idaho Department
of Health and Welfare, the courts, and medical practitioners are all
involved in a conspiracy to engage in criminal child trafficking,
kidnapping children and stealing children to make money.

v.  The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

vi.  ldaho Department of Health and Welfare makes more money for every
child it takes into Child Protective Services custody and that is why the
Idaho Department of Health and Welfare kidnaps and traffics children
and only allows certain people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt
children.

vii.  St. Luke's and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently
harmed or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or
misdiagnosed the Infant.

viii.  St. Luke's reported the parents to Child Protective Services.

ix.  Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with Child Protective Services if
the parents did not agree to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

X.  St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the
hospital because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.
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Xi.

Xii.

Xiil.

Xiv.

Freedom Man PAC
September 20, 2023
Page 3

The family was discriminated against because the Infant was not

vaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars in medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke's or any medical provider.

The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the

Infant.

The Infant was released from the St. Luke's Children's Hospital and

returned directly to the family due to the protesters' or Defendants'

actions.
Defendants must cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or are participating in unlawful child kidnapping, child
trafficking, child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children.
Defendants must remove from all online locations or websites Defendants
have authority to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are
criminals and/or participating in the child kidnapping, child trafficking,
child sexual or any other child abuse, and/or killing of children. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @Real ABundy), https://x.com (handle @RealABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaigh=GAZAG
Defendants must cease disseminating and encouraging others to
disseminate the contact information, personal information, and images of
Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.
Defendants must remove from all online locations and websites Defendants
have authority to do so the contact information, personal information,
and/or images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman. The online
locations include, but are not limited to, the following websites including
their sub-pages:
https://www.peoplesrights.org, https://www.votebundy.com,
https://www.freedomman.org, https://stlukesexposed.com,
https://www.facebook.com/SaveBabvCyrus/,
https://www.youtube.com/@Real AmmonBundy, https://twitter.com
(handle @RealABundy), https://x.com (handle @Real ABundy),
https://www.givesendgo.com/GAZAG?utm_source=sharelink&utm_medi
um=copy_link&utm_campaign=GAZAG
Defendants must deactivate links to defamatory statements or statements
that invade the privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.
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Freedom Man PAC
September 20, 2023
Page 4

August 29 Order at 3-6.

The Court warned that failure to comply “may lead to contempt proceedings, sanctions
and other legal ramifications.” August 25 Order at 37. Yet as of the date of this letter, Freedom
Man PAC has refused to comply.

Freedom Man PAC’s unlawful conduct continues to cause daily, irreparable harm to my
clients. It also harms our community and makes our communities less safe. See August 25
Order. Accordingly, my clients hereby demand that Freedom Man PAC ceases and desists from
its unlawful conduct, that Freedom Man PAC remove the unlawful content from the internet, and
that Freedom Man PAC deactivate the links as mandated in the Court’s orders.

A non-exhaustive list of examples of Freedom Man PAC’s unlawful content that must be
removed and/or deactivated includes:

All webpages that violate the Permanent Injunction order that begin with the
https://freedomman.org/cyrus/
https://www.freedomman.org/video/government-subsidized-child-trafficking/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/my-response-to-the-idaho-statesman-st-lukes-
lawsuit/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-and-erik-stidham-just-gag-
ordered-me/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/facts-about-ammons-contempt-of-court-charge/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/judge-lynn-norton-just-intentionally-broke-the-
law-proving-that-she-is-biased/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/idaho-department-of-health-and-welfare-is-the-
bad-guy/
https://www.freedomman.org/cyrus/archive/baby-cyrus-was-kidnapped-one-year-ago/
https://www.freedomman.org/2023/diego-rodriguez-issues-challenge-to-st-lukes-and-
erik-stidham/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/st-lukes-is-suing-us-for-exposing-them/
https://www.freedomman.org/2022/open-letter-meridian-police-ada-county-sheriff/
https://stlukesexposed.com/ (all links and webpages from this website that violate the
Permanent Injunction Order including, but not limited to, the following webpages
and/or links embedded in the webpages: https://stlukesexposed.com/truth-about-st-
lukes/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/evidence-that-cps-agents-meridian-police-and-st-
lukes-were-lying/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/dieqgo-answer-4th-amended-
complaint/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-violates-the-
constitution-again/; https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/judge-lynn-norton-judicial-
misconduct/, https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/erik-stidham-criminal-complaints/;
https://stlukesexposed.com/lawsuit/summary-video/).
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Freedom Man PAC
September 20, 2023
Page 5

Please comply with the Court’s Permanent Injunction by September 22, 2023. If you do
not, we will pursue all available legal remedies.

This cease-and-desist letter is sent without waiver of any right or remedy available at law
or equity.

Sincerely,
[sIErik F. Stidham

Erik F. Stidham
Partner
of Holland & Hart v.r

EFS:cmc
Enclosures

30555402_v1
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

THE STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST.
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual;
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiff(s),
..VS...

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendant(s).

Case No. CV01-22-6789

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND
ORDER FOR PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR
PLAINTIFFS

In Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs sought injunctive relief in additional

to any damages awarded by the jury. The Defendants were allowed to participate in the jury trial

on damages including jury selection, opening statements, cross-examination and closing

arguments, but all Defendants failed to appear. After seven days of trial on the issue of damages,

the jury awarded the Plaintiffs certain monetary relief on their claims. The equitable relief in the

form of injunctive relief was not before the jury as injunctive relief is for the Court to decide.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 1
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Having reviewed the docket, the admitted facts in the Fourth Amended Complaint due to
the Defendants’ default in this lawsuit, and being informed by both the evidence presented in the
trial on monetary damages as well as the jury’s verdicts on the Special Verdict Form, the Court

issues its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the request for permanent injunctive relief.

Findings of Fact

These findings of fact are primarily based on the live testimony and exhibits presented at
the jury trial on damages. The exhibits are extensive and set forth the specific “statements” of the
Defendants through videos, internet postings, publications, etc. The statements speak for
themselves as to who made or published the statement. The statements and publications are too
numerous to repeat in this case, but each exhibit was testified to in Court and only the admitted
exhibits were relied on by the Court.

The testimony on the underlying events as well as care of the C.A. (the “Infant”) were
relevant at trial to provide background and context regarding the conduct of the Defendants. These
findings of fact are supported by the substantial and competent evidence provided by credible
witnesses and exhibits admitted during the trial. The Court will generally refer to the nature of
statements and the contents of the statements without citing all the exhibits to support each finding
of fact. All exhibits admitted are part of the Court record in this matter.

1. The Plaintiffs brought this action in response to the Defendants’ statements and

publications made against the named Plaintiffs, the trespass that occurred on

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
- Page 2
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St. Luke’s’ hospitals in Meridian and Boise. The events that started the interactions
between Plaintiffs and Defendants centered on the medical care of the Infant.

Nurse Practitioner Nadia Kravchuk, the Infant’s primary care provider (PCP) saw the
ten month old Infant on or about March 1, 2022. The Infant was severely dehydrated
and the parents said the baby was vomiting. The Infant had lost approximately 4 pounds
since its six-month wellness visit. NP Kravchuk’s office was unable to provide the
necessary care and IV to rehydrate the Infant in her office. The parents were directed
to the St. Luke’s Boise Hospital emergency room where the Infant could be rehydrated.
The Emergency Room (ER) doctor on duty at St. Luke’s determined not only was the
Infant severely dehydrated, but the Infant was suffering from severe malnutrition. The
ER doctor consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalist on duty, Dr. Erickson, who agreed
the Infant should be admitted. Dr. Erickson agreed with the ER doctor’s diagnosis of
severe malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Erickson testified the condition of the Infant
was dire and without proper medical intervention, the Infant was at risk organ failure
and possible death. This was NOT a healthy baby when it arrived at the hospital on
March 1, 2022. The parents reported to Dr. Erickson that the Infant was doing well
until about 7 months of age and then reoccurring vomiting started and such vomiting
would continue for several days. See, Exhibit 1, page 12.

Dr. Erickson is Board-Certified in both General Pediatrics and Pediatrics Hospital
Medicine. She a highly trained pediatric doctor. Dr. Erickson consulted with the parents

regarding the condition of the Infant. The parents agreed to the care plan to rehydrate

! The Court will prefer to Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd. and St. Luke’s Regional
Medical Center Ltd. Collectively as “St. Luke’s.”

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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and increase caloric intake for the Infant recommended by Dr. Erickson. At no time did
Dr. Erickson threaten the parents to call child support enforcement if the parents did
not agree to the treatment plan.

The parents did not want the Infant vaccinated. No medical provider vaccinated the
Infant and that preference of the parents was respected. There was testimony by Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman, the parents’ decision not to vaccinate the Infant did not in
any way impact the care plan for the Infant or the respect shown the parents.

Prior treatment medical records for the Infant’s medical care since birth were not
provided by the parents and could not be obtained by Dr. Erickson beyond NP
Kravchuk’s limited records. This led to some additional tests being run to rule out other
potential causes for the Infant’s condition. Dr. Erickson noted the Infant was failing to
thrive.

With proper medical intervention and treatment, including IVs to rehydrate, bottle
feedings as well as additional feedings through a nasogastric feeding tube (NG tube),
the Infant’s medical condition improved.

Dr. Erickson arranged for St. Luke’s staff and social worker to assist parents apply for
and receive Medicaid so there would be no out-of-pocket cost to the family for the
Infant’s care. The family had no medical bills that were not paid by Medicaid for the
Infant’s care.

Dr. Erickson also arranged for a home health nurse to come to the Infant’s home to
check on the progress of the child and to help with any further needs for the child and
family members caring for the child. Dr. Erickson explained, and the parents seemed

to understand, that continuing the additional caloric intake was critical as the feeding

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

- Page 4

981



10.

11.

12.

13.

plan being used prior to the hospitalization was insufficient to allow the Infant to grow
and thrive. Regular weight check-ins were also critical for determining if the Infant was
or was not continuing with gaining weight as he had done in the hospital. The parents
were trained on how do complete additional feedings via the NG tube. The parents were
also advised to continue breast-feeding the Infant in addition to the other necessary
feedings.

On March 4, 2022, the Infant’s medical condition had improved to where the Infant
could be cared for at home and the Infant was released to the parents with discharge
instructions and verbal commitments by the parents they would comply with the
instructions and call if they had questions or needed any further assistance.

The parents did not follow the discharge instructions for care for the Infant. Nor would
the parents allow the home health nurse to come to their home to check on the Infant
on March 5, 2022 or March 6, 2022.

Finally, on March 7, 2022, the parents took the Infant to NP Dkystra (who was not a
St. Luke’s medical provider but who St. Luke’s had connected the family with as he
would be able to assist with the NG tube and NP Kravchuk indicated she was not able
to provide that level of care for the Infant). At this appointment, the Infant’s weight had
dropped since it was released from the hospital. NP Dkystra advised the parents how
to increase caloric intake and set another appointment for March 11, 2022 to check the
Infant’s weight.

On March 11, 2022, the parents missed bringing the Infant to the scheduled

appointment.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

On March 11, 2022, NP Aaron Dkystra (not any doctor, NP or staff member of St.
Luke’s) called Department of Health and Welfare Child Protection Services (CPS)
regarding his concern about the Infant and requesting a check on the child to make sure
the weight of the Infant was not continuing to drop and thus endangering the Infant’s
life. NP Dkystra had a statutory duty to report his concerns regarding medical neglect
by the Infant’s parents.

A Department of Health and Welfare (DHW) Safety Assessor was assigned to the case.
She also made contact with NP Jungman and law enforcement who regularly assist
with investigation and welfare checks on children.

Going into a weekend, the need to have the Infant’s status checked became a greater
concern for the Infant’s well-being. The DHW Safety Assessor came to Ms. Jungman’s
office to discuss the referral regarding the Infant. NP Jungman reviewed limited
medical records. The DHW Safety Assessor could not reach the Infant’s parents. NP
Jungman said she would stay at work to see the Infant if parents would bring the Infant
in.

NP Jungman has been a nurse or nurse practitioner for over 24 years. She is highly
skilled based on her studies and work experience. She specializes her practice in
providing clinical care and evaluation of children. She has also been trained in and has
extensive experience in CPS process.

On March 12, 2022, the parents called and indicated they would take the child to St.
Luke’s Children at Risk Evaluation Services (commonly referred to by its acronym
CARES unit) for a weigh-in and wellness check at 4:00 p.m. The parents never arrived

for the appointment.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Detective Fuller of the Meridian Police Department consulted with Nurse Practitioner
Jungman at CARES about what to look for when they were able to put eyes on the
Infant to determine if the Infant was or was not doing well. Detective Fuller is
experienced at CPS investigations and is trained in the legal standard necessary to
remove a child from his or her parents’ care.

Law enforcement attempted contact with the parents to check on the Infant at the home
address provided. Defendant Rodriguez answered the door and would not let law
enforcement check on the child.

Later that evening, law enforcement was able to track parents down in a vehicle and
initiated a traffic stop to investigate the CPS referral and check on the Infant’s welfare.
Defendants had communicated with their followers and had a large number of persons
arrive at the gas station where the traffic stop occurred.

With the Infant being held by its mother, Detective Fuller did a welfare check on the
child. The NG tube was no longer in place. The Infant presented with symptoms and
observations indicating it was not doing well and was in imminent danger. The Infant
and his mother were taken to the ambulance.

In the ambulance, the Infant was removed from the mother due to Detective Fuller’s
determination the Infant was in imminent danger. Detective Fuller completed the
paperwork to take the Infant into the custody of DHW and to get the Infant transported
to the nearest ER.

The Emergency Medical Technicians at the scene determined the Infant was “medically

stable to transport.” “Medically stable to transport™ status is not the same as a patient
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26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

being medically stable and healthy and in no need of further medical care. It is simply
a determination it is safe to transport the patient in the ambulance to the hospital.

The Infant was transported to the closest hospital, St. Luke’s Meridian hospital, by
ambulance.

At the ER, Dr. Rachel Thomas examined the Infant. She is a Board-Certified
Emergency Room doctor who also has extensive medical experience and training
involving children, including treatment of malnutrition and dehydration. Dr. Thomas
also determined the Infant was in imminent danger/harm and needed a higher level of
care that could be provided at the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital at the main St. Luke’s
hospital in Boise.

Even after a bottle feeding in the ER in which the Infant gulped down 6 ounces of
formula, Dr. Thomas noted the Infant’s weight was less than the weight when the Infant
Jeft the St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital on March 4, 2022. Dr. Thomas diagnosed the
Infant with severe malnutrition and dehydration that could lead to death if not
immediately addressed.

Dr. Thomas testified that the defamatory statements and postings about her by the
Defendants have led to emotional stress such that she is taking a break from medicine
and leaving the community with her family for an extended period of time. It is her
hope she will able to return and actively continue her medical career.

Defendant Bundy arrived at St. Luke’s Meridian and with others blocked the
ambulance bay from other ambulances being able to come to the hospital. Bundy was
demanding release of the Infant even though he was not a family member or guardian

of the Infant.
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31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

The protesters grew in number. The Meridian Police were called. The access doors to
the ambulance bay were locked. Bundy was eventually trespassed from the private
property of St. Luke’s and was arrested along with another person engaged in the
protests in the ambulance bay.

With active protesting occurring at the ER, Dr. Thomas consulted with hospital security
and the Meridian Police Department and had the Infant safely transported to the
Children’s Hospital after determining the Infant was medically stable to be transported.
Dr. Thomas called Dr. Erickson and asked to have the Infant admitted. Dr. Erickson
agreed to the admission and immediately went to the hospital to assist with the
admission of the Infant to St. Luke’s Children’s Hospital and to begin further treatment.
Even though the Infant was in the custody of the DHW, St. Luke’s medical
professionals informed the parents of the care plan and the parents consented to all
treatment provided by Dr. Erickson as well as by the other Pediatric Hospitalists caring
for the Infant.

Dr. Erickson confirmed the Infant had in fact lost significant weight? since its release
on March 5, 2022. Another NG tube was placed, and feedings and hydration began on
the Infant.

Other Pediatric Hospitalists also provided care for the Infant when Dr. Erickson was

not on duty.

2 It is important to note that while the amounts of weight loss or gain in this case may not
“sound” significant, for the age and size of the Infant in this case and where the Infant was
measured at being on the growth chart (in lower than 0.5% of all infants this age), the weight loss
was significant and could lead to organ failure and death.
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37.

38.

39.

40.

41

NP Jungman also consulted with the Pediatric Hospitalists and participated in the phone
and in-person communications with the parents during the time the Infant was at the
Children’s Hospital. She also stayed involved in the care when the Infant was released
to DHW’s caregiver.

The parents were regularly updated by St. Luke’s employees about the Infant’s status
and were allowed to visit and hold the Infant for approximately two hours at the hospital
on or about March 13, 2022. Other visits and communications also occurred while the
Infant was at the Children’s Hospital.

While the Infant was being treated at the Children’s Hospital, the Defendants Bundy
and Rodriguez, in conjunction with multiple communications sent out by the other
Defendants, organized protestors at St. Luke’s Boise Hospital. The protests involved
hundreds of people including people armed with weapons. Defendant Rodriguez made
statements on March 14, 2022 that the Infant was being abused and mistreated by St.
Luke’s.

On March 12, 2022, the Defendants and followers of the Defendants were instructed
by Bundy, Rodriguez and the websites or communications from People’s Rights
Network (PRN) and Freedom Man Press LLC to disrupt the operations of the St. Luke’s

by jamming the phone lines complaining and demanding the release of the Infant.

. Bundy and Rodriguez would not leave the private property of St. Luke’s when asked.

Boise Police and Idaho State Troopers were brought in to maintain the security of the

hospital.
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42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

Eventually, the threat of risk of harm to patients, patients’ families, employees and a
breach of the hospital became too great and the hospital was forced into lockdown and
to close the hospital to new patients.

Armed protesters and followers of the Defendants attempted to enter the hospital even
after it was locked down.

After it was discovered that the Infant had been removed from the hospital, the
protesters moved their demonstrations to DHW offices.

The Infant was doing better and was discharged from St. Luke’s on March 15, 2022 to
DHW custody. The parents were allowed more and more time with the Infant by DHW
as part of the safety/reunification plan.

Through intensive medical efforts, the Infant began gaining weight and his risk of
imminent harm was eliminated. The Infant required ongoing monitoring to make sure
it was continuing to gain weight and thrive. Additional calories were being given via
the NG tube by the Infant’s caregivers.

DHW stayed in regular communication with CARES and the parents regarding care of
the Infant. NP Jungman along with the Medical Director of CARES evaluated the
Infant 3-4 times and the Infant was gaining weight.

On March 18, 2022, the parents called DHW as the feeding tube had inadvertently
come out while the parents had care of the Infant as part of DHW’s safety/reunification
plan. The parents did not want to go to hospital or have the Infant seen at their home.
The parents requested NP Jungman reinstall the NG tube. DHW arranged a place and

time to meet the parents away from protesters who were at the main DHW office. NP
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49.

50.

51.

Jungman reinstalled the NG tube in the Infant, following applicable standards of care
for such a procedure.

NP Jungman and the CARES Medical Director evaluated the Infant again on March 23,
2022 with the parents present. The follow-up weight check showed the Infant was
continuing to progress. The Infant was more interactive than at previous visits. Home
health and PCP care was discussed again with parents.

Dr. Michael Whelan, a Board-Certified Pediatrician who works at St. Alphonsus,
testified he concurred in the diagnosis and all of the care provided to the Infant. He
confirmed based on the medical records that the Infant was in imminent danger based
on its dehydration and malnutrition and the Infant was failing to thrive. He further
opined that all care provided met the standard of care and there was no medical
malpractice or misdiagnoses by any medical practitioner and specifically not by either
of the named plaintiffs, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman. He opined the NG tube was
necessary and appropriate both times at the hospital. He opined the discharge
instructions from St. Luke’s were appropriate. He opined the re-installation of the NG
tube by NP Jungman was within the standard of care and did not cause any infection
or disease to the Infant as the placement of the tube was into a non-sterilized location
of the body, the stomach. He opined the re-installation of the HG tube did not cause an
infection in the Infant.

Dr. Whelan also opined the parents of the Infant were “medically neglectful” fof not
following through on discharge instructions and with follow up visits for weight checks

to make sure feedings were providing the Infant with sufficient caloric intake. Dr.
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53.

54.

55.

Whelan opined he believed the parents knew the Infant had lost weight after first time
Infant was released from hospital on March 4, 2022.

Dr. Whelan opined that, based on all the outside pressure by Defendants, St. Luke’s,
Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman performed very well and there was no evidence that the
Infant was not improving while in the care of St. Luke’s.

Based on the testimony of Kyle Bringhurst, the Ada County Deputy Prosecutor who
handled the Infant’s case and has 8-9 years of experience involving CPS cases, the CPS
proceedings and requisite findings for placement into DHW custody occurred as
required by statute. A shelter hearing was held on March 15, 2022 and a mandatory
adjudicative hearing was set. A Notice of Dismissal by the State was filed on or about
May 4, 2022, so the adjudicatory hearing set for May was vacated. The Infant was
returned to the custody of the parents with a safety plan.

David Jeppesen, Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, also testified the
CPS process is defined by statute and was followed in this case. The courts, not the
DHW, decide if a child is allowed to return to his or her parents. The goal is to reunite
children with their parents and this goal in Idaho is achieved in about 65% of the CPS
cases (which is much higher than the national average).

Director Jeppesen also testified the DHW does not get “extra money” for placing a
child in the care of DHW per the CPS statute. The legislature sets the budget for the
DHW and there is no increase in monies to the DHW for children taken into temporary
custody under the CPS. Director Jeppesen also testified that allegations of child
trafficking or kidnapping are untrue. While there are some adoptions of children whose

parents are not fit to raise them, this is in accordance with Idaho’s statutes and court
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57.

58.

approval is required for all such adoptions. Finally, such adoptions do not happen
frequently and there is no preference for persons of a particular sexual orientation as
alleged by Defendants.

Immediately after the CPS referral was made and the Infant was removed from the
parents, the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, through their own statements, video
postings, communications with their followers and their internet postings on the
websites of the other Defendants: Peoples Rights Network (PRN), Freedom Man Press,
LLC and Ammon Bundy for Governor -- which Bundy and/or Rodriguez controlled--
began doxxing® and intimidating the Plaintiffs, other medical providers as well as
anyone involved in the CPS matter (including but not limited to law enforcement, the
prosecuting attorney, the judge handling the confidential CPS court proceedings, and
the Safety Assessor for DHW). .

Defendants’ statements were intended to damage the reputations of the Plaintiffs;
invade the privacy of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman; to shut down St. Luke’s
Hospital; and to threaten harm to those involved in the CPS case involving the Infant.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez are actively involved in and are spokepersons for
PRN. Defendant Rodriguez controls and authors many of the statements posted on
Defendant Freedom Man Press, LLC’s website, which published Bundy and
Rodriguez’s defamatory statements on the internet and on other extremist media
outlets. Bundy and Rodriguez hold themselves out to be anti-government activists

motivated by certain religious beliefs. Bundy encourages militia-style training for his

3 Doxxing includes publicly identifying or publishing private information about a person as a
form of punishment or revenge.
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59.

60.

61.

followers. He urges his followers to take action outside the law to protect their rights.
Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man Press, LLC are willing to
encourage others to join them in using violence to reach their objectives and to harass
public employees such as law enforcement, DHW employees, CPS prosecutors, and
judges.

Bundy and Rodriguez used the tactic of “public shaming” through false and defamatory
narratives to intimidate and defame the Plaintiffs. This included but was not limited to
accusing the Plaintiffs to be involved in kidnapping, child trafficking, child abduction,
abusing children, and stealing children for money and pedophilia. This intimidation
also included releasing private information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman which put these Plaintiffs and their families at risk of harm as testified to at
trial.

PRN was a supporter of Ammon Bundy for Governor, and the events in this case were
the topic of Bundy at political gatherings, and defamatory statements about Plaintiffs
were made by Bundy at his political events and made for the indirect purpose of raising
campaign contributions.

Spencer Forby, an expert on extremist organizations as well as a highly trained law
enforcement officer and instructor on de-escalating situations, crowd control and
SWAT techniques, opined that Defendants Bundy, Rodriguez, PRN and Freedom Man
Press, LLC, used their defamatory statements and disinformation rhetoric to trigger
their followers to a call for action based on false premises, which then led to Defendants
Bundy and Rodriguez creating conspiracy theories of heinous criminal allegations by

Plaintiffs without any factual basis. In order to maximize the involvement of the
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63.

64.

Defendants’ followers, there was a strategic coordination of the false and defamatory
messages being repeated over websites controlled by Defendants and shared with other
extremist media outlets.

Defendants’ followers then quickly joined the protest at the hospital and the efforts
outside Idaho to disrupt the business of St. Luke’s by flooding the phone lines. The
false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez were then used by followers
and the Defendants to harass and intimidate the Plaintiffs via verbal, in-person and
online threats.

Bundy directed his followers to be ready to “fight it out on the street.” Bundy and
Rodriguez created a false and defamatory conspiracy theory against the Plaintiffs and
repeated it over and over again in an effort to have St. Luke’s put out of business and
the medical providers to lose their jobs. The Plaintiffs testified they believed the
statements presented real threats of violence to them personally as well as their
families. Plaintiffs testified as to the specific steps they took as a result of the
intimidation and defamatory statements to protect themselves and their family
members. Plaintiffs also testified to having to daily track the social media of all the
Defendants to weigh and prepare for threatened harm.

According to Jessica Flynn, an expert on reputational harm, and Beth Toal, St. Luke’s
Vice President for Communications, Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s tactics are deliberate
and intentional. Their marketing techniques and use of social media have the effect of
disseminating knowingly defamatory information and disinformation to radicalize their
followers and at the same time get media coverage of their actions and raise monies for

their organizations based on their defamatory statements. The Defendants wanted their
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65.

66.

67.

68.

messages to go viral as well as deep and wide, and to have lasting effects. The
Defendants wanted their social media attack and protests to prevent St. Luke’s from
providing services to others. The Defendants also created a clear connection in their
social media for contributions to support their conduct. The media recognition gained
by the Defendants through their disinformation and defamatory statements is intended
to raise their individual profiles as well as their organizations’ profiles.

The extremist and marketing experts testified the Defendants also used the Infant being
taken into CPS custody to increase their own visibility on the internet and in the
community as well as to raise money for themselves through the organizations they
controlled. This conduct continues to the present and it is not expected to stop asitisa
source of fundraising for Bundy’s and Rodriguez’s organizations.

Defendants Bundy and Rodriquez organized and promoted the protests at St. Luke’s.
These protests involved armed individuals, which is consistent with Bundy’s
involvement in prior protests and his statements/trainings of his followers about the use
of force. The experts testified that the militia training promoted and offered by PRN
creates a threat and possible risk of physical harm.

On the advice of law enforcement, who indicated they could not restrain the number of
protesters (estimated to be 400 persons), St. Luke’s was forced to lock down the entire
downtown campus and to redirect patients to other facilities.

The lockdown also prevented families from entering the hospital to see their loved
ones, prevented third parties from seeking care or attending a scheduled appointment

at the Boise campus, and prevented employees from coming or leaving their shifts.
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70.

71.

72.

73.

St. Luke’s Chief Financial Officer as well as Dennis Reinstien, CPA, testified that
economically St. Luke’s lost significant revenue from cancelled treatment or
appointments. St. Luke’s also incurred additional security costs during the protests and
had to increase the number of individuals involved in security at all of its facilities to
be prepared for future protests organized by the Defendants.
The Defendants knew or reasonably should have known the statements they were
making were false and defamatory. Defendant Rodriguez is the grandfather of the
Infant and the medical records provided to his daughter (mother of the Infant) easily
could have been reviewed by him. Instead, he made false and defamatory statements
regarding the health of the Infant, the actual medical care diagnoses and the care
provided. |
Rodriguez also claimed without any legal statutory support that the actions of the CPS
were unlawful and was involved with a marketing plan for donations for the Infant and
its family, as well as to monetize his and Bundy’s organizations.
No evidence was presented that any of the Defendants have medical training,
knowledge or education to support their false and defamatory statements regarding the
Infant’s health status and the need for medical care.
The intentional, materially false and malicious defamatory statements by the
Defendants include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. The Infant was perfectly healthy when taken by CPS.

b. St. Luke’s made the Infant sick and infected the Infant with disease.

c. The Infant was kidnapped or unlawfully taken by law enforcement or St.

Luke’s.
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St. Luke’s, St. Luke’s management, law enforcement, DHW, the courts, and
the medical practitioners are all involved in a conspiracy to engage in
criminal child trafficking, kidnapping children and stealing children to
make money.

The medical providers are pedophiles who want to abuse children and
engage in child trafficking.

DHW makes more money for every child it takes into CPS custody and that
is why the DHW kidnaps and traffics children and only allows certain
people with a specific sexual orientation to adopt children.

St. Luke’s and the medical practitioners intentionally or negligently harmed
or injured the Infant, committed medical malpractice and/or misdiagnosed
the Infant.

St. Luke’s reported the parents to CPS.

Dr. Erickson threatened to file a report with CPS if the parents did not agree
to the treatment plan between March 1-4, 2022.

St. Luke’s intentionally kept the Infant longer than necessary in the hospital

because the parents did not want the Infant vaccinated.

. The family was discriminated against because the Infant was unvaccinated.

The parents have thousands of dollars of medical bills they have to pay

based on the care provided by St. Luke’s or any medical provider.

m. The parents did not consent to the medical treatment provided to the Infant.
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75.

76.

n. The Infant was released from the Children’s Hospital and returned to
directly to the family due to the protesters’ or Defendants’, actions.*

These false statements were repeated again and again by Defendants, including using
links to the statements on other websites and video recordings. “Wanted” posters were
made for Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman (as well as others involved who
were doxxed) and posted on the internet as well as distributed at the protests at the St.
Luke’s Boise campus. The Plaintiffs and others involved in the events were repeatedly
threatened by Defendants’ actions of encouraging their followers to take action into
their own hands and disclosing personal information about Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and
NP Jungman. Phone messages to St. Luke’s from followers across the county repeated
the false and defamatory statements of Bundy and Rodriguez.
St. Luke’s senior management officers testified it is now more difficult to recruit
doctors and other medical providers to Idaho due to the events surrounding the Infant
and the Defendants’ harassment and defamatory statements towards St. Luke’s and its
employees.
The defamatory statements by the Defendants were completely unfounded, false, made
intentionally, and maliciously harmed the reputations of the Plaintiffs and others who
were doxxed. These false statements invaded the privacy of Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson and NP Jungman by portraying them in a false light as persons who harm
children. The defamatory statements and conduct of the Defendants intentionally

inflicted emotional distress on Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman as

* The Infant was returned to its parents by the Court through the dismissal of the CPS case, not
the actions of Defendants.
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78.

79.

well as other parties who were doxxed and threatened. Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP
Jungman all presented substantial and credible evidence of the actual harm they (and
their families) suffered due to Defendants’ defamatory statements, invasion of privacy
and intentional infliction of emotional distress upon Plaintiffs by attacking their
professional reputations.

Experts Devin Burghart, Spencer Fomby, and Jeésica Flynn all testified that once on
the internet, it is difficult to remove defamatory statements from the internet. In this
case, the Defendants took steps to regularly re-post prior videos and postings and to
create links to the false statements on the website of other media sources, thereby
knowingly increasing the viewers of the published defamatory statements. The original
posts as well as present statements continue on the Internet such as when Bundy or
Rodriguez are quoted with links to other websites about this litigation. See Idaho
Dispatch quotes and postings in the Declaration of Jennifer Jensen in support of the
requested injunctive relief.

The extremist organization experts testified the defamatory statements are re-posted by
the Defendants in order to keep them in the news and to generate new followers and
more donations.

C.P. “Abby” Abbodandolo, Senior Director of Security for St. Luke’s, who has
extensive hospital security and law enforcement experience, testified he was shocked
how quickly the Defendants could mobilize their followers to protest, make signs, and
come armed and ready to take action. He also testified the Defendants and their

followers create an ongoing threat to St. Luke’s operations throughout the state.
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81.

82.

The DHW Safety Assessor left DHW employment and moved out of state due to the
doxxing. Dr. Thomas testified she is leaving and moving from the state for a period of
time in hopes that she can safely return to practice medicine. Employees left St. Luke’s
employment due to the protesting and intimidation. Dr. Erickson has considered
leaving a job she loves due to the ongoing emotional distress and intimidation of the
Defendants. NP Jungman has suffered and continues to suffer from emotional distress,
and the intimidation affects how she interacts with parents of other patients.

The extremist group experts Burghart, Fomby, and Flynn described both Bundy and
Rodriquez as an anti-government activists, conflict disrupters, and disrupter
entrepreneurs. Their business model is to raise money for themselves or the
organizations they control from followers based on false, fraudulent and defamatory
statements. The Defendants have used disinformation (misinformation that is
intentionally spread) to harm Plaintiffs.

Dr. Camille LaCroix, Forensic Psychiatrist, testified as to the continuing emotional
distress to Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman, and that this is not likely to go away and gets
worse every time there is a new or a re-posting of a defamatory statement, an article or
threat against them personally. Dr. Erickson’s husband testified as to the need to
continually monitor social media postings to make sure his wife and family are safe.
According to Dr. LaCroix, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman can be triggered and suffer
more emotional distress by the re-posting of defamatory statements and invasions of
their privacy that cause them to change how they treat others and how they protect their

families.
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84.

85.

86.

Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman each testified that defamatory statements, harassment
and intimidation as a result of Defendants’ actions affects their life every day
professional and in their personal relationships. Both testified as to the constant fear
they have due to Defendants defamatory attacks in the newspapers, on tv, and on the
internet.
The evidence provided at the jury trial was substantial and competent evidence that
established the claims of defamation, invasion of privacy and intentional infliction of
emotional distress due to the Defendants’ conduct. These claims were satisfied by the
applicable burden of proofs of preponderance and clear and convincing evidence.
As to the defamation claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants communicated information concerning the Plaintiffs to others;
b. The information impugned the honesty, integrity, virtue or reputation of the
Plaintiffs or exposed the Plaintiffs to public hatred, contempt or ridicule;
¢. The information was false;
d. The Defendants knew it was false or reasonably should have known that it was
false; and

e. Plaintiffs suffered injury caused to the defamation.

As to the Invasion of Privacy claims, the Court finds:
a. The Defendants placed Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman in a false light
in the public eye by publicly disclosing some falsity or fiction conceming Mr.
Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

b. A disclosure of some falsity or fiction means that a publication or publications by
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88.

89.

90.

Defendants were materially false.
c. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman suffered injury caused by the
false light invasion of their privacy.
As to the Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claims, the Court finds:
a. Defendants engaged in intentional or reckless conduct;
b. That was extreme and outrageous;
c. Causing severe emotional distress to Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman;
and
d. Plaintiffs Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman were injured and the
emotional distress was proximately caused by Defendants’ conduct.
The Defendants’ defamatory statements including allegations of conspiracy by the
Plaintiffs, law enforcement, the courts and DHW to engage in criminal conduct against
children is not supported by any evidence.
The false and defamatory statements were made as part of a tactical and sustained
marketing campaign to defame and smear the reputations of the Plaintiffs, incite
unlawful conduct by Defendants’ followers, create a fear of future physical harm to
Plaintiffs, and to create an incentive for followers to make donations to Defendants or
organizations they controlled.
The Defendants actions in this case, as well as the fact that they refuse to stop making
defamatory statements, repeat past defamatory statements, presents a continuing threat
of actual irreparable harm to Plaintiffs. The continuing threat has led to St. Luke’s

increasing its security at each of its hospitals. The named Plaintiffs continue to be the

subject of threats by Defendants or their followers. The threats include but are not
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limited to personal, professional or family member harm through Defendants internet
presence and re-posting of prior defamatory statements. A prior Protection Order by
the Court has failed to deter Defendants from making knowingly false and defamatory

statements and repeating such statements.

Conclusions of Law

The Court requested supplemental legal support for Plaintiffs position they are entitled to
equitable relief in the form a permanent injunction. Plaintiffs file a memorandum and supplemental
brief and declaration in support of the request injunctive relief. In the Declaration of Jennifer M.
Jensen, she indicates the Idaho Dispatch (which is not a party to this lawsuit) continues to post
Defendant Rodriguez’s and Bundy’s defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and counsel
involved in this case on the internet even after the jury trial on damages has ended. Defendant
Rodriquez filed an “Answer to Request for Permanent Injunctive Relief.”> The Court has
considered the findings of fact and the entire court record including Rodgriguez’s filings in making

its ruling on injunctive relief.

1. Whether or not to grant permanent injunctive relief is within the discretion of the

trial court.

5 Defendant Rodriguez claims in part there has never been an evidence-based trial as to whether
or not the things he said were true and he believes all his statements were true. The Court notes
the jury trial was evidence-based (with testimony and admitted exhibits), but Defendant
Rodriguez elected not to attend and cross examine witnesses or challenge the admissibility of
evidence. Defendant Rodriguez also claims injunctive relief is a violation of his First
Amendment rights. For the reasons discussed in this Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,
the Court finds injunctive relief is allowed as a matter of law and appropriate in this case.
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In Gem State Roofing, Incorporated v. United Components, Incorporated, 168 Idaho 820,
828, 488 P.3d 488, 496 (2021), the Idaho Supreme Court held “The granting or refusal of an
injunction is a matter resting largely in the trial court’s discretion.” (citing Higginson v.
Westergard, 100 Idaho 687, 689, 604 P.2d 51, 53 (1979). In applying its discretion, this Court
must: (1) correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion; (2) act within the outer boundaries of
its discretion; (3) act consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices
available to it; and (4) reach its decision by the exercise of reason. Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163
Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018). The Supreme Court in Gem State Roofing went on to

discuss the different standards for preliminary versus permanent injunctions:

As an initial observation, UCI's reliance on the standard for a preliminary
injunction is inapposite. Rule 65(e) enumerates five grounds for entry of a
preliminary injunction. A preliminary injunction is a temporary injunction
effective for the pendency of the litigation before the merits of the case are
decided. LR.C.P. 65(e). Preliminary injunctions are designed to protect clearly
established rights from imminent or continuous violation during litigation. See
Gordon v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 166 Idaho 105, 455 P.3d 374, 384 (2019)
(quoting Brady v. City of Homedale, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704, 707
(1997)) (“A district court should grant a preliminary injunction ‘only in extreme
cases where the right is very clear and it appears that irreparable injury will flow
from its refusal.”””). A permanent injunction, on the other hand, is entered at the
resolution of the case, and requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable
injury; in addition, in order to deny a permanent injunction the trial court must be
persuaded that there is “no reasonable expectation that the wrong will be
repeated.” O’'Boskey, 112 Idaho at 1007, 739 P.2d at 306. In other words, a trial
court may appropriately deny a preliminary injunction at the outset of a case when
there are complex issues of fact and law yet to resolve, but correctly grant a
permanent injunction once those issues have been resolved in favor of the
plaintiff.

Gem State Roofing, 168 Idaho 820, 834-35, 488 P.3d 488, 502-03 (2021).

In this case, the Court finds based on the Findings of Fact and the Declaration of Jennifer

Jensen, the Plaintiffs have established by substantial and competent evidence of threatened or
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actual irreparable damage as well as a reasonable expectation that the wrong will be repeated by
the Defendants if permanent injunctive relief is not granted. The jury’s monetary damages, if able
to be collected, are inadequate to protect Plaintiffs from continued and ongoing injuries to their
reputations, privacy, emotional health, ability to practice their chosen professions and reside in the
community without fear, and to allow the community to trust that St. Luke’s hospital system is not
in any way engaged in heinous criminal conduct towards its patients. Balancing the hardships
between Plaintiffs and Defendants’ alleged chilling of their freedom of speech rights, the balance
tips in favor of Plaintiffs. A remedy in equity is warranted as defamatory speech is not protected
free speech. Finally, the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction of the
scope outlined in this decision. The permanent injunctive relief is appropriate to eliminate the
ongoing irreparable threatened and actual harm to all Plaintiffs.

2. Defendants’ defamatory statements are not protected speech under the First

Amendment.

The United States is a republic founded on the doctrine of the rule of law. What that means
is all persons are expected to follow the laws adopted through our representational form of
government. It also means all persons, no matter their status, wealth or beliefs must follow the rule
of law.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting

the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press or the

right of the people to peacefully assemble, and to petition the Government for a

redress of grievances.

However, these rights are not absolute. Every right under the Constitution is subject to limits, and

a person or entity cannot make or publish knowingly false statements that intentionally cause

reputational or other damage to another and then hide behind the First Amendment as a shield. The
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United States Supreme Court has recognized categories of speech that the government can regulate
because of the content of the speech, as long as the government does so evenhandedly. See R.A.V.
v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377 (1992) (categories of speech that are limited: obscenity,
defamation, fraud, incitement, fighting words, true threats, speech integral to criminal conduct,
and child pornography). In R.4.V. the Court stated:

The First Amendment generally prevents government from proscribing speech, see,
e.g., Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 309-311, 60 S.Ct. 900, 905-906, 84
L.Ed. 1213 (1940), or even expressive conduct, see, e.g., Texas v. Johnson, 491
U.S. 397, 406, 109 S.Ct. 2533, 2540, 105 L.Ed.2d 342 (1989), because of
disapproval of the ideas expressed. Content-based regulations are presumptively
invalid. Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd., 502
U.S. 105, 115, 112 S.Ct. 501, 508, 116 L.Ed.2d 476 (1991) id., at 124, 112 S.Ct.,
at 512-513 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment); Consolidated Edison Co. of
N.Y. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N.Y., 447 U.S. 530, 536, 100 S.Ct. 2326, 2332~
2333, 65 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980); Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 95,
92 S.Ct. 2286, 2289-2290, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972). From 1791 to the present,
however, our society, like other free but civilized societies, has permitted
restrictions upon the content of speech in a few limited areas, which are “of such
slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from them
is clearly outweighed by the social interest in order and morality.” Chaplinsky,
supra, 315 U.S., at 572, 62 S.Ct. at 762. We have recognized that “the freedom of
speech” referred to by the First Amendment does not include a freedom to disregard
these traditional limitations. See, e.g., Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 77 S.Ct.
1304, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957) (obscenity); Beauharnais v. lllinois, 343 U.S. 250, 72
S.Ct. 725, 96 L.Ed. 919 (1952) (defamation); Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire, supra
(“ “fighting” words”); see generally Simon & Schuster, supra, 502 U.S., at 124,112
S.Ct.,, at 513-514 (KENNEDY, J., concurring in judgment). Our decisions since
the 1960's have narrowed the scope of the traditional categorical exceptions for
defamation, see New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, 11
L.Ed.2d 686 (1964); Geriz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997, 41
L.Ed.2d 789 (1974); see generally Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1,
13-17, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2702-2705, 111 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990), and for obscenity, see
Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973), but a
limited categorical approach has remained an important part of our First
Amendment jurisprudence.

We have sometimes said that these categories of expression are “not within the area
of constitutionally protected speech,” Roth, supra, 354 U.S., at 483, 77 S.Ct,, at
1308; Beauharnais, supra, 343 U.S., at 266, 72 S.Ct., at 735; Chaplinsky, supra,
315 U.S., at 571-572, 62 S.Ct., at 768-769; or that the “protection of the First
Amendment does not extend” to them, Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of United
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States, Inc., 466 U.S. 485,504, 104 S.Ct. 1949, 1961, 80 L.Ed.2d 502 (1984); Sable
Communications of Cal., Inc. v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 124, 109 S.Ct. 2829, 2835,
106 L.Ed.2d 93 (1989).

RA.V. v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377, 382-83 (1992).

Stated another way, defamation is a limit on both freedom of speech and freedom of the
press. A person or entity cannot say “I believed what I was saying was true” when the undisputed
facts establish those “truths” were known to be false or should have been known to be false by the
Defendants and they were spoken with the specific intent to threaten or cause harm to the other
person or entity.

The defamatory statements made by Defendants here were not just disagreements with the
manner in which the CPS laws are enforced. Instead, the defamatory statements by Defendants
were made intentionally to get others to believe “as true” that Plaintiffs and anyone else involved
in the CPS investigation and court proceedings or medical treatment of the Infant were committing
heinous acts against the Infant, and that St. Luke’s and the other Plaintiffs were “wicked” and
“evil” persons such that they should be removed from their professions and the hospital shut down
from providing all medical care to anyone in our community. There is no evidence (only baseless
allegations by Defendants) of any such conduct by the Plaintiffs or any other party involved in the
CPS case involving the Infant. In a court of law, the party claiming truth as a defense must present
evidence of truth, and Defendants did not do so.

Here, the Defendants’ statements in every possible form were intentional and with reckless
disregard for the truth, fraudulent, malicious and defamatory. As the jury instructions explained,
defamation is the injury to one's reputation either by written expression, which is libel, or by oral
expression, which is slander. The law is well-established that speech which is defamatory and

causes harm is not protected by the First Amendment. As indicated in the above quote from the
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Supreme Court, defamation in our common law existed prior to the founding of this country and
has been recognized since 1791 by our courts. Further, the mere fact that religious beliefs are cited
as motivation for the Defendants’ actions does prevent the statements from being defamatory or
illegal invasions of another’s right to privacy.® Nor does the cloak of the Defendants’ religious
beliefs that the Plaintiffs were “wicked” allow First Amendment protection to the statements such
that the statements cannot also be defamatory.

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed fraudulent statements
made to encourage or induce illegal immigration for financial gain are not protected speech under
the First Amendment. See United States v. Hansen, 2023 WL 4138994,  U. S. , 143 S.Ct.
1932 (2023). “Speech intended to bring about a particular unlawful act has no social value;
therefore, it is unprotected.” Williams, 553 U.S. at 298, 128 S.Ct. 1830.” Id. at 1947 (2023).
Defendants’ conduct in this case included false, fraudulent and defamatory statements made in
part for their own financial gain and such speech is not protected. People are free to give money
to whatever organizations or persons they want, but they should be informed if the statements to
support such donations of monies are not true.

Finally, simply saying a statement over and over does not make it true. It is well-established
law that a person can tell certain lies and those lies are protected by the First Amendment. See
United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709 (2012) where an individual was being criminally prosecuted
for falsely claiming to have received a military medal of honor pursuant to the Stolen Valor Act
was a content-based restriction on free speech. The difference here is that Defendants’ statements
were not lies about themselves; they were false, intentional and defamatory statements about others

which were intended to hurt Plaintiffs’ reputations or businesses. No reasonable person would

¢ Indeed, the Court cannot to find any religious support for bearing false witness against another.
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think these statements were meant for any other purpose than to harm the reputations and to
threaten the persons being attacked by such statements. Such statements are not protected speech
under the First Amendment.

Listening to and watching the videos of the Defendants and the published written
statements of the Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez that claim their belief that “they” had the
individual “right” to take the Infant (who is not even their child) back by violence if necessary is
a profound misstatement and misunderstanding of the rule of law. In reality, it is a cry for “vigilante
justice” which is the act of enforcing the law without legal authority to do so. Vigilante justice
does not involve due process and allows one person to be the lawmaker, the law enforcer, the judge
and jury without any investigation into the truth. Vigilante justice is not a “right” an individual or
group of individuals have in this country.

Laws are passed by duly elected persons through a legislative process involving two
representational governmental bodies and then also approved by the executive officer (the
President of the United States or the Governor of a state). Laws are enforced by law enforcement
officers in the executive branch of government. Challenges to the laws as being facially
unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied are for the judicial branch to decide.

| Vigilante justice is not tolerated under the Constitution because it violates the rights of the
accused. Vigilante justice expounded by the Defendants is meant to control others not by the rule
of law, but by intimidation through threats of violence and the public shaming of others.
Defendants clearly believe they are above the law and can operate outside the boundaries of our
laws if they disagree with how the laws are being applied. That is not how our government works.

A party can appeal a court’s ruling and seek appellate review of a decision. The manner in which
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to challenge any court’s ruling is not through threat and intimidation. It is through the judicial
process.

Moreover, if Defendants want the CPS statutes to be revised or changed, then they can
lobby the legislature. While it is unclear exactly what changes to the law the Defendants seek, they
are free to propose changes by working directly with legislators to sponsors bills. The Idaho
Legislature has a long history of protecting children through the DHW, and nothing in this trial
established the procedure approved by the Legislature was not followed or was misapplied based
on the true health status of the Infant and the failure of the parents to allow the Infant to be seen
for follow-up care. In fact, this case is an example of the CPS system working exactly as intended
by the Legislature to protect the well-being of a child.

In several of the published statements by Defendants Bundy and Rodriguez they
encouraged their followers to “follow the money” to prove how children are being harmed,
trafficked, or kidnapped by CPS. No actual evidence was cited for this proposition by the
Defendants and it was proven to be false at trial. Instead, the evidence in this case shows the only
money being “made” by the events involving the Infant were St. Luke’s and other medical
practitioners receiving Medicaid reimbursement for the medical services provided (which was
testified to be 70% of the actual cost of the care) and money flowing from donations by
Defendants’ followers (based on false defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs and others) to
Defendants Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Rodriguez, People’s Rights Network, Freedom
Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC.

If Defendants wanted to present a defense of the “truth” of their statements, they could
have participated in this lawsuit or at least the damages trial. They did not. The Court must take

the undisputed facts presented at trial as true. Moreover, independent expert medical testimony as
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well as common sense esfablishes the facts were not as Defendants maintained. The actual
numerous weights taken of the Infant as well as the results of other medical tests and the pictures
of the Infant did not present a healthy infant. Dr. Wheaton testified there was no misdiagnosis or
malpractice by the medical providers.

The Court finds St. Luke’s did not initiate nor threaten to initiate CPS action. Did St. Luke’s
become involved after the Infant was taken into the custody of DHW? Yes. However, no child was
“kidnapped” by the police or doctors. No child was “trafficked” or abused by DHW, the hospital,
the doctors or the courts. Instead, St. Luke’s through its staff and medical providers provided the
necessary medical care the Infant needed (twice) and took care to receive the parents’ consent for
the care provided even though during the second hospitalization was when the Infant was in the
temporary care and custody of DHW. All of the Infant’s medical care was covered by Medicaid
insurance.

Dr. Whelan testified the need for CPS to get involved was due to the parents’ failure to
attend follow-up appointments. In making this last statement, the Court does not in any way believe
the parents intended to harm the Infant. But the parents did neglect the medically needed follow-
up appointments to make sure the Infant was gaining, not losing, weight. New parents have a plan
for how they want to care for their child and they are allowed great freedom in implementing their
plan, until and unless the child’s welfare is at risk. At that point, the DHW has a duty to step in, to
get the child the care it needs and then to develop a reunification plan so the child can return to its

home and thrive,
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3. Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate in this case.

Permanent injunctive relief requiring the Defendants to stop making defamatory statements
about the Plaintiffs, to remove defamatory and harassing statements or posts from online locations
under the Defendants’ control and prohibiting the Defendants from republishing the statements or
posts is appropriate in this case. The statements, internet posts, online interviews made as part of
a sustained campaign of defamation by Defendants and they continue to threaten or cause actual
jrreparable harm to the Plaintiffs. Based on the testimony of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, NP Jungman,
this conduct not only affects the individual Plaintiffs, but it also affects their families, their co-
workers, their work environments. It also continues to negatively impact the reputation of St.
Luke’s in the community. The Court has no expectation that the defamatory statements will stop
by Defendants without a permanent injunction.

This type of conduct can be enjoined by a court. While the Court could not find any on-
point Idaho authority for the factual circumstances presented in this case, the Court can look to
other jurisdictions for persuasive authority for internet smear campaigns. See, e.g., Balboa Island
Vill. Inn, Inc. v. Lemen, 40 Cal. 4th 1141, 1155-57 (2007) (holding that the court may issue an
injunction prohibiting the defendant from repeating statements judicially determined to be defamatory
and rejecting argument that damages are the only remedy for defamation because otherwise the
plaintiff would be required to bring a succession of lawsuits for damages which could be insufficient
to deter the continuing tortious behavior); Advanced Training Sys. v. Caswell Equip. Co., 352 N.W. 2d
1, 11 (Minn. 1984) (affirming permanent injunctive relief prohibiting republication of material found
libelous at trial); Weitsman v. Levesque, Case No. 19-CV-461 JLS (AHG), 2020 WL 6825687, (S.D.

Cal. Nov. 20, 2020) (applying New York law and collecting New York cases that removal orders are
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necessary when parties refuse to depublish); see also St. James Healthcare v. Cole, 178 P.3d 696,
(Mont. 2008) (affirming in part preliminary injunction against harassing and threatening statements).’

In Weitsman, the court ordered permanent injunctive relief when the defendant engaged in a
“sustained Internet defamation campaign” falsely accusing the plaintift of child trafficking. Weitsman,
2020 WL 6825687. The court entered default against the defendant, and the plaintiff obtained an award
of compensatory and punitive damages. Id. The defendant had continued making the defamatory
statements online, despite the litigation and an arrest warrant. Jd. A permanent injunction was
appropriate due to the intentional, sustained campaign of defamation aimed to injure the plaintiff’s
interests, including business interests. See id. The injunction was tailored to (1) require the removal of
statements held to be defamatory whose postings online were under the defendant’s control; and (2)

prohibit the republication of statements held to be defamatory. See id.

The Defendants’ actions attacking Plaintiffs in this case were relentless for over a year and
with the specific intent to harm the reputations of St. Luke’s and the other named Plaintiffs who
did their job to ensure the Infant received necessary medical care. The Defendants continue to the
present time in making defamatory statements to others about the Plaintiffs. There is every
indication based on the Defendants’ conduct over the prior year that the Defendants will continue
to repeat and re-post the defamatory statements if no injunction is entered. The Court recognizes
the Defendants have the means to influence thousands of followers, as they quickly organized
protestors at the hospitals and across the country to disrupt St. Luke’s business. This ability to
mobilize others and to condone violence makes the threatened irreparable harm even more likely.

As several experts testified at trial, that once on the internet, it is difficult to remove
defamatory statements from the internet, a simple retraction is inadequate relief for the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are entitled by law to have all the Defendants do everything in their power and on all
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sites under their control (directly or indirectly) to remove all the judicially determined defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Moreover, the Defendants are ordered to stop making new or
repeating previously made statements or postings with defamatory statements about the Plaintiffs.
Further defamatory statements or invasion of Plaintiffs’ privacy regarding the events with the
Infant by Defendants could lead to new litigation for defamation. This defamation against the
Plaintiffs is not protected by the First Amendment and it must end.

If the defamatory statements are not taken down, they will be repeated and cause more
irreparable threatened or actual harm to the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs have a right under law to seek
injunctive relief from the Court to force the Defendants to stop making and publishing defamatory
statements about the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs followed the rule of law and legal process for having such
a remedy ordered by the Court. The Plaintiffs proved the statements were intentional, false and
made by Defendants with the specific intent to cause reputational damage to the Plaintiffs and to
invade the Plaintiffs’ privacy. The Defendants continue to try to raise monies based on the
defamatory statements.

4. Scope of injunctive relief.

The Court, in exercising its discretion, finds a permanent injunction is warranted under the
law against the Defendants in this case. The Court exercises its discretion based on the findings of
fact and conclusions of law to grant the equitable relief requested. “A permanent injunction
requires a showing of threatened or actual irreparable injury.” Hood v. Poorman, 171 Idaho 176,
519 P.3d 769, 783 (2022) (citing O'Boskey v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Boise, 112 Idaho
1002, 1007, 739 P.2d 301, 306 (1987)). There is a threatened or actual irreparable injury to
Plaintiffs if defamatory statements about the care of the Infant and the Plaintiffs are not stopped.

The Defendants are aware their statements have been found by a jury and court of law to be
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defamatory, so continuing to say the statements are true may expose Defendants to additional legal

liability.

Defendants will be ordered to take the following actions to remove all defamatory

statements and violations of the privacy of the Plaintiffs. Defendants must:

1.

2.

Cease posting and disseminating defamatory statements against all Plaintiffs.
Cease making statements that any of the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
are participating in unlawful kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other
abuse, and/or killing of children.

Remove from all online locations or websites Defendants have authority
to do so any and all statements that the Plaintiffs are criminals and/or
participating in the kidnapping, trafficking, sexual or any other abuse,
and/or killing of children.

Cease disseminating and encouraging others to disseminate the contact
information, personal information, and images of Mr. Roth, Dr.
Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Remove from all online locations and websites Defendants have
authority to do so the contact information, personal information, and/or
images of Mr. Roth, Dr. Erickson, and NP Jungman.

Deactivate links on other websites where Defendants or their agents
posted links to defamatory statements or statements that invade the

privacy of the Plaintiffs by portraying them in a false light.

Failure by the Defendants to follow the Order for Permanent Injunctive Relief may lead to

contempt proceedings, sanctions and other legal ramifications.
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Conclusion

Fortunately for the Infant and our community, the Plaintiffs ignored the actions of the
disrupters led by Bundy and Rodriguez and instead made saving the life of the Infant their priority.
Plaintiffs St. Luke’s and Mr. Roth were not distracted from their mission of providing medical
care when needed to any member of our community regardless of a person’s ability to pay. St.
Luke’s followed established medical treatment procedures and DHW followed Court orders, not
the demands of the Defendants. Dr. Erickson and NP Jungman followed their oaths to help and
not harm their patient. But the disinformation continues by Defendants even after the Infant was
returned to its parents by the court through the CPS proceedings, even after the civil lawsuit was
filed, and even after the jury verdict was returned.

Defendants’ continued disinformation regarding the Plaintiffs does not help our
community. The actions and conduct of the Defendants have made our community less safe.
Medical providers and other employees are leaving their professions because of the damage to
their reputations, the invasion of their privacy, the harassment and threats of intimidation by
Defendants. Defendants’ conduct and the conduct of their followers selfishly prevented third
parties from coming to the St. Luke’s hospitals and clinics for care, prevented the family members
of other patients from seeing their loved ones at the hospital, disrupted the care of other patients,
and threatened the safety of employees due to the sheer noise and intimidation of armed protestors
surrounding the Boise hospital. The First Amendment protects and allows citizens to protest, but
the First Amendment does not allow armed citizens to attempt to enter the private property of St.
Luke’s when it was locked down.

The defamatory statements of Defendants against the Plaintiffs have the indirect effect of

making it more difficult to attract medical professionals to Idaho. The defamatory statements have
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, certify that on 8 / L‘S’/ 2.3 , I caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER FOR
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF to be forwarded with all required charges prepaid, by the method(s)
indicated below, in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure, to the following person(s):

Erik F. Stidham (X) Email
Jennifer M. Jensen

Zachery J. McCraney

Alexandra S. Grande

efstidham@hollandhart.com

jmjensen@hollandhart.com

zjmccraney(@hollandhart.com

aehenderson@hollandhart.com

Attorney for Plaintiff(s)

Diego Rodriguez (X) Email
freedommanpress@protonmail.com

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, (X) Mail

and People’s Rights Network
¢/o Ammon Bundy

4615 Harvest Lane

Emmett ID 83617-3601

Pro Se Defendant

Ammon Bundy for Governor (X) Mail
And People’s Rights Network

¢/o Ammon Bundy

P.0O. Box 370

Emmett ID 83617

Pro Se Defendant

Freedom Man Press LLC and Freedom Man PAC (X) Mail
c¢/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater DR #5077

Orlando, FL 32804

Pro Se Defendant
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Filed: 08/29/2023 09:37:22

Fourth Judicial District, Ada County
Trent Tripple, Clerk of the Court
By: Deputy Clerk - Nelson, Ric

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE

STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST. | Case No. CV01-22-06789
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual; DEFAULT JUDGMENT
NATASHA D. ERICKSON, MD, an
individual; and TRACY W. JUNGMAN, NP,
an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an
individual; FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a
limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action committee;
and PEOPLE’S RIGHTS NETWORK, a
political organization and an unincorporated
association,

Defendants.

JUDGMENT IS ENTERED AS FOLLOWS:
L. Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs St. Luke’s Health System, Ltd.; St. Luke’s
Regional Medical Center, Ltd.; Chris Roth, Natasha D. Erickson, M.D.; and Tracy W. Jungman,

N.P. against Defendants Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, Diego Rodriguez,

Freedom Man Press LLC, Freedom Man PAC, and People’s Rights Network.

DEFAULT JUDGMENT - 1
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DECISION

St. Luke’s Regional Medical Center, Ltd. v. Luis Suarez / White Stone Enterprises
/ Jimmy Rodgers / Domain Administrator / See PrivacyGuardian.org
Claim Number: FA2402002083881

PARTIES
Complainant is St. Luke’s Regional Medical Center, Ltd. (“Complainant”),
represented by Amanda Martson of Holland & Hart LLP, Colorado, USA.
Respondent is Luis Suarez / White Stone Enterprises / Jimmy Rodgers /
Domain Administrator / See PrivacyGuardian.org (“Respondent”), Multiple
Locations.

REGISTRAR AND DISPUTED DOMAIN NAMES
The domain names at issue are <stlukesexposed.com>,
<stlukesexposed.net> and <stlukesexposed.ws>, registered with
NameCheap, Inc. and NameSilo, LLC.

PANEL
The undersigned certifies that he has acted independently and impartially
and to the best of his knowledge has no known conflict in serving as
Panelist in this proceeding.

Alan L. Limbury, as Panelist.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Complainant submitted a Complaint to FORuM electronically on February
14, 2024. FORUM received payment on February 14, 2024.

On February 16, 2024 and February 19, 2024, NameCheap, Inc. and
NameSilo, LLC confirmed by e-mail to Forum that the
<stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net> and
<stlukesexposed.ws> domain names are registered with NameCheap,
Inc. and NameSilo, LLC and that Respondent is the current registrant of
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the names. NameCheap, Inc. and NameSilo, LLC have verified that
Respondent is bound by the NameCheap, Inc. and NameSilo, LLC
registration agreements and has thereby agreed to resolve domain
disputes brought by third parties in accordance with ICANN’s Uniform
Domain Name Dispute Resolution Policy (the “Policy”).

On February 26, 2024, Forum served the Complaint and all Annexes,
including a Written Notice of the Complaint, setting a deadline of March
18, 2024 by which Respondent could file a Response to the Complaint,
via e-mail to all entities and persons listed on Respondent’s registration
as technical, administrative, and billing contacts, and to
postmaster@stlukesexposed.com, postmaster@stlukesexposed.net,
postmaster@stlukesexposed.ws. Also on February 26, 2024, the Written
Notice of the Complaint, notifying Respondent of the e-mail addresses
served and the deadline for a Response, was transmitted to Respondent
via post and fax, to all entities and persons listed on Respondent’s
registration as technical, administrative and billing contacts.

Having received no response from Respondent, FORUM transmitted to the
parties a Notification of Respondent Default.

On March 19, 2024, pursuant to Complainant's request to have the
dispute decided by a single-member Panel, FORUM appointed Alan L.
Limbury as Panelist.

Having reviewed the communications records, the Administrative Panel
(the "Panel") finds that ForRum has discharged its responsibility under
Paragraph 2(a) of the Rules for Uniform Domain Name Dispute Resolution
Policy (the "Rules") "to employ reasonably available means calculated to
achieve actual notice to Respondent" through submission of Electronic
and Written Notices, as defined in Rule 1 and Rule 2. Therefore, the Panel
may issue its decision based on the documents submitted and in
accordance with the ICANN Policy, ICANN Rules, FORuM's Supplemental

1029



Rules and any rules and principles of law that the Panel deems applicable,
without the benefit of any response from Respondent.

RELIEF SOUGHT
Complainant requests that the domain names be transferred from
Respondent to Complainant.

PRELIMINARY ISSUE: MULTIPLE RESPONDENTS

Paragraph 3(c) of the Rules provides that a “complaint may relate to more
than one domain name, provided that the domain names are registered
by the same domain name holder”. Paragraph 1(d) of
the FOrRUM's Supplemental Rules defines “The Holder of a Domain Name
Registration” as “the single person or entity listed in the registration
information, as verified by the Registrar, at the time of commencement”
and sub-paragraph 1(d)(i) provides that a Complainant wishing to make
an argument for a single Respondent having multiple aliases must
comply with Supplemental Rules 4(c) and 17(a)(i).

Complainant has shown that  the <stlukesexposed.com>,
<stlukesexposed.net> and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names are
effectively controlled by the same person and/or entity, which is
operating under several aliases.

Hence this decision refers to Luis Suarez / White Stone Enterprises /
Jimmy Rodgers / Domain Administrator / See PrivacyGuardian.org
as “Respondent”.

PARTIES' CONTENTIONS
A. Complainant
For over 120 years, Complainant, St. Luke’s Regional Medical Center, Ltd.,
its affiliates, licensees, and predecessors—in-interest have provided
patient-centered care in an effort to improve the health of people in the
communities in which Complainant serves.
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Complainant has rights in the ST. LUKE’S mark through trademark
registrations with the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(“USPTQ”). Respondent’s <stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net>
and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names are confusingly similar to
Complainant’s ST. LUKE’S mark.

Respondent  lacks rights or legitimate interests in the
<stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net> and
<stlukesexposed.ws> domain names since Respondent is not affiliated
with Complainant in any way and is not licensed or authorized to use
Complainant’s ST. LUKE’S mark. There is no evidence to suggest that
Respondent is commonly known by that name. Additionally, Respondent
does not use the domain names for any bona fide offering of goods or
services or legitimate noncommercial or fair use. Rather, as determined
by the Idaho District Court, Respondent has used the domain names to
defame Complainant and other parties and continues to do so in
contravention of the court order in an attempt to tarnish Complainant
and its mark.

Respondent registered the <stlukesexposed.com>,
<stlukesexposed.net> and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names in bad
faith with actual knowledge of Complainant’s rights in the ST. LUKE’S
mark and uses them in bad faith to attack Complainant and its affiliates
and doctors in violation of the law and a court order.

B. Respondent
Respondent failed to submit a Response in this proceeding.

FINDINGS
Complainant has established all the elements entitling it to relief.

DISCUSSION

Paragraph 15(a) of the Rules instructs this Panel to "decide a complaint
on the basis of the statements and documents submitted and in
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accordance with the Policy, these Rules and any rules and principles of
law that it deems applicable."

Paragraph 4(a) of the Policy requires that Complainant must prove each of
the following three elements to obtain an order that a domain name
should be cancelled or transferred:

(1) the domain name registered by Respondent is identical or confusingly
similar to a trademark or service mark in which Complainant has
rights; and

(2) Respondent has no rights or legitimate interests in respect of the
domain name; and

(3) the domain name has been registered and is being used in bad faith.

In view of Respondent's failure to submit a response, the Panel shall
decide this administrative proceeding on the basis of Complainant's
undisputed representations pursuant to paragraphs 5(f), 14(a) and 15(a)
of the Rules and draw such inferences it considers appropriate pursuant
to paragraph 14(b) of the Rules. The Panel is entitled to accept all
reasonable allegations set forth in a complaint; however, the Panel may
deny relief where a complaint contains mere conclusory or
unsubstantiated arguments. See WIPO Jurisprudential Overview 3.0 at
4.3; see also eGalaxy Multimedia Inc. v. ON HOLD By Owner Ready To
Expire, FA 157287 (FORUM June 26, 2003) (“Because Complainant did not
produce clear evidence to support its subjective allegations [. . .] the
Panel finds it appropriate to dismiss the Complaint”).

Identical and/or Confusingly Similar

Complainant has shown that it has rights in the ST. LUKE’S mark through
registrations with the USPTO (e.g., Reqg. No. 4047459, registered on
November 1, 2011). The Panel finds Respondent’s
<stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net> and
<stlukesexposed.ws> domain names to be confusingly similar to
Complainant’s mark, only differing in each case by the addition of the
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word “exposed”, which does nothing to distinguish the domain names
from the mark. The inconsequential “.com”, “.net” and “.ws” generic top-
level domains (“gTLDs”) may be ignored. See, for example, Rollerblade,

Inc. v. Chris McCrady, WIPO Case No. D2000-04209.

Complainant has established this element.

Rights or Legitimate Interests

Paragraph 4(c) of the Policy sets out three illustrative circumstances as
examples which, if established by Respondent, shall demonstrate rights
to or legitimate interests in the domain names for purposes of paragraph
4(a)(ii) of the Policy, /.e.

(i) before any notice to Respondent of the dispute, the use by
Respondent of, or demonstrable preparations to use, the domain
names or names corresponding to the domain names in connection
with a bona fide offering of goods or services; or

(i) Respondent (as an individual, business or other organization) has
been commonly known by the domain names, even if Respondent
has acquired no trademark or service mark rights; or

(iii) Respondent is making a legitimate noncommercial or fair use of
the domain names, without intent for commercial gain to
misleadingly divert customers or to tarnish the trademark or
service mark at issue.

The <stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net> and
<stlukesexposed.ws> domain names were registered on May 18, 2022,
September 1, 2023 and December 2, 2023 respectively, many years after
Complainant registered its ST. LUKE’S mark. The <stlukesexposed.net>
and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names were registered after the entry
of a default judgement on August 29, 2023 in the Idaho District Court,
which ordered Respondent to cease posting and disseminating and to
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remove from all its online locations numerous defamatory statements
against Complainant and others. Those statements have been displayed
on the websites to which the domain names resolve and continue to be
displayed on two of those websites.

These circumstances, together with Complainant’s assertions, are
sufficient to constitute a prima facie showing of absence of rights or
legitimate interests in respect of the domain names on the part of
Respondent. The evidentiary burden therefore shifts to Respondent to
show that it does have rights or legitimate interests in the
<stlukesexposed.com>, <stlukesexposed.net> and
<stlukesexposed.ws> domain names. See Nea/ & Massey Holdings
Limited v. Gregory Ricks, FA 1549327 (FORUM Apr. 12, 2014). Respondent
has made no attempt to do so.

The Panel finds that Respondent has no rights or legitimate interests in
respect of the domain names.

Complainant has established this element.

Registration and Use in Bad Faith

Paragraph 4(b) of the Policy sets out four illustrative circumstances,
which, though not exclusive, shall be evidence of the registration and use
of the domain names in bad faith for purposes of paragraph 4(a)(iii) of
the Policy.

The circumstances set out above in relation to the second element satisfy
the Panel that Respondent was fully aware of Complainant’s ST. LUKE’S
mark when Respondent registered the <stlukesexposed.com>,
<stlukesexposed.net> and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names and
there is no evidence that the domain names have been registered and
used for the purpose of legitimate criticism or review. To the contrary, in
the Panel’s view, this is a clear-cut case of tarnishment, where the
domain names (containing the derogatory term “exposed”) have been
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registered and used in bad faith to harm the reputation and disrupt the
business of Complainant and its mark.

Complainant has established this element.

DECISION

Complainant having established all three elements required under the
ICANN Policy, the Panel concludes that relief shall be GRANTED.

Accordingly, it is Ordered that the <stlukesexposed.com>,
<stlukesexposed.net> and <stlukesexposed.ws> domain names be
TRANSFERRED from Respondent to Complainant.

Alan L. Limbury, Panelist
Dated: March 20, 2024
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

OF THE STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE'S HEALTH SYSTEM. LTD,; ST.
LUKE’'S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,
LTD; CHRIS ROTH, an individual; and
NATASHA D.

individual;

an individual,

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR. a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an

Plaintiffs,

individual;

limited liability company; FREEDOM MAN
PAC, a registered political action

committee;
a political organization,
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from him other than an opposition to motion for contempt
and a notice requesting a video appearance.

So obviously he knew about today's hearing
because he filed an opposition to the motion to
contempt, but I don't see any witness list, exhibit
list, requested jury instructions, or any pretrial
memorandum filed by Mr. Rodriguez.

Mr. Rodriguez has failed to attend the
pretrial conference as was required in the notice of
trial setting. Pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil
Procedure 16 (b), the Court may sanction any party if a
party fails to appear at a scheduling or pretrial
conference or is substantially unprepared to participate
in the scheduling or pretrial conference or fails to
participate in good faith.

That rule also permits sanctions, any orders
as are just, and may along with any other sanction make
orders allowed under Rule 37 (b) (2) (A). So the Court
will make that determination and any orders in writing.

To the extent the motion for contempt was on
for hearing today, Mr. Rodriguez has failed to appear.
He also failed to appear on May 23rd of 2023.

Under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(e), a
warrant of attachment may issue if the Court finds

probable cause to believe that the respondent committed
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11

the contempt and determines there's reasonable grounds
to believe that respondent will disregard a written
notice to appear.

Mr. Rodriguez has not appeared in any of
these proceedings or hearings since January of 2023. I
do find that there is probable cause in the affidavits
that are actually filed, which is all of that stack, for
this Court to believe that Diego Rodriguez is in
contempt of court for failure to obey the preliminary
injunction order, protective order, and discovery
orders.

So with that, I'll sign the warrant of
attachment, set the bond at $25,000. Once he's picked
up, he'll set a court appearance to appear on the motion
for contempt.

I had re-noticed the matters for hearing from
the 23rd, so that included the motion for hearing on
damages before a jury relating to default in Defendant
Ammon Bundy, Ammon Bundy for Governor, and Peoples Right
Network motion for contempt and for sanctions to Peoples
Rights Network and Ammon Bundy for Governor motion for
award of attorneys fees pursuant to Court's April 24,
2023 order. All of those relate to default of
defendants. An order for default has been entered

against all defendants except for Diego Rodriguez.
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
STATE OF IDAHO )

COUNTY OF ADA )

I, SUSAN SIMS, Certified Court Reporter of
the County of Ada, State of Idaho, hereby certify:

That I am the reporter who transcribed the
proceedings had in the above-entitled action in machine
shorthand and thereafter the same was reduced into
typewriting under my direct supervision; and that the
foregoing transcript contains a full, true, and accurate
record of the proceedings had in the above and foregoing
cause, which was heard at Boise, Idaho.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

hand.

SUSAN SIMS, CSR-RPR
Ada County Courthouse
200 West Front Street
Boise, Idaho
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Erik F. Stidham (ISB #5483)

Robert A. Faucher (ISB #4745)

Jennifer M. Jensen (ISB #9275)

Zachery J. McCraney (ISB #11552)

Anne Henderson Haws (ISB #10412)

HOLLAND & HART LLP

800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750

Boise, ID 83702-5974

Telephone: 208.342.5000

Facsimile: 208.343.8869

E-mail: efstidham@hollandhart.com
rafaucher@hollandhart.com
jmjensen@hollandhart.com
zjmccraney@hollandhart.com
aehenderson@hollandhart.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs

Electronically Filed
5/9/2024 2:06 PM

Fourth Judicial District, Ada County

Trent Tripple, Clerk of the Court
By: Eric Rowell, Deputy Clerk

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE

STATE OF IDAHO, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

ST. LUKE’S HEALTH SYSTEM, LTD; ST.
LUKE’S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, LTD;
CHRIS ROTH, an individual; NATASHA D.
ERICKSON, MD, an individual; and TRACY W.
JUNGMAN, NP, an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

AMMON BUNDY, an individual; AMMON
BUNDY FOR GOVERNOR, a political
organization; DIEGO RODRIGUEZ, an individual;
FREEDOM MAN PRESS LLC, a limited liability
company; FREEDOM MAN PAC, a registered
political action committee; and PEOPLE’S
RIGHTS NETWORK, a political organization and
an unincorporated association,

Defendants.

Case No. CV01-22-06789

NOTICE OF HEARING ON
MOTION FOR CONTEMPT
AGAINST DIEGO RODRIGUEZ

NOTICE OF HEARING ON MOTION FOR CONTEMPT AGAINST DIEGO RODRIGUEZ - 1
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Plaintiffs” Motion for Contempt Against Diego Rodriguez
will be addressed in front of the Honorable Nancy Baskin on Tuesday, July 16, 2024, at 3:30

p.m. MDT at the Ada County Courthouse, 200 W. Front Street, Boise, ID 83702-7300.

DATED this 9th day of May, 2024.
HOLLAND & HART LLp

By: /s/ Erik F. Stidham
Erik F. Stidham
Robert A. Faucher
Jennifer M. Jensen
Zachery J. McCraney
Anne Henderson Haws

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

NOTICE OF HEARING ON MOTION FOR CONTEMPT AGAINST DIEGO RODRIGUEZ - 2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 9th day of May, 2024, | caused the foregoing to be served by

the method indicated below, and addressed to the following:

Ammon Bundy for Governor
People’s Rights Network

c/o Ammon Bundy

P.O. Box 370

Emmett, ID 83617

Ammon Bundy

Ammon Bundy for Governor
People’s Rights Network

c/o Ammon Bundy

4615 Harvest Ln.

Emmett, ID 83617-3601

Freedom Man PAC
Freedom Man Press LLC
c/o Diego Rodriguez

1317 Edgewater Dr., #5077
Orlando, FL 32804

Diego Rodriguez
1317 Edgewater Dr., #5077
Orlando, FL 32804

Freedom Tabernacle, Incorporated
Attn: Diego Rodriguez, Registered
Agent

1876 E. Adelaide Drive

Meridian, 1D 83642-9219

NOTICE OF HEARING ON MOTION FOR CONTEMPT AGAINST DIEGO RODRIGUEZ - 3

U.S. Mail
Hand Delivered
Overnight Mail

ROOX

Email/iCourt/eServe: aebundy@bundyfarms.com

U.S. Mail

Hand Delivered
Overnight Mail
Email/iCourt/eServe:

OO0~

U.S. Mail

Hand Delivered
Overnight Mail
Email/iCourt/eServe:

OO0~

U.S. Mail

Hand Delivered

Overnight Mail
Email/iCourt/eServe:
freedommanpress@protonmail.com

NOOO

M U.S. Mail

[J Hand Delivered

L] Overnight Mail

M Email/iCourt/eServe:
freedommanpress@protonmail.com

/s/ Erik F. Stidham

Erik F. Stidham
of Holland & Hart LLP
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify I served a copy to: (name all parties or their attorneys in the case, other than yourself)

Erik F. Stidham (ISB #5483) [ ] By Mail
HOLLAND & HART LLP
800 W. Main Street, Suite 1750 [ ] By fax

Boise, ID 83702-5974
[ X ] By Email/iCourt/eServe

DATED: July 9th, 2023 By: /s/ Diego Rodriguez
Diego Rodriguez
OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR CONTEMPT AGAINST DIEGO RODRIGUEZ PAGE 2

CAOCv 3-2
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